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2019-20 was a challenging year for the  
Victorian Inspectorate (VI).

Like every other entity in Victoria, our operations were 
greatly impacted by COVID-19. Further, the VI had  
to function within a highly restrained budget with  
a greatly increased workload. To address the 
budgetary issue, we had to devote some of our 
scarce resources to developing business cases at 
various stages of the year supporting our critical 
need for budget enhancement. In addition, with the 
retirement in March 2020 of the Hon. Gavin Jennings 
MLC as Special Minister of State, the Attorney-
General assumed Ministerial responsibility for the VI 
and, consequentially, on 1 May 2020 a machinery 
of government change saw us move as a portfolio 
agency from the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet to the Department of Justice and 
Community Safety.

Despite the challenges, we marked up  
a number of significant achievements.

In the course of 2019-20 the VI published eight 
reports, including the report of a monitoring 
project on IBAC’s process for assessing and 
determining complaints about police misconduct 
and two integrity reports to agencies containing 
private recommendations. 

The investigative workload of the VI greatly 
increased in 2019-20. The VI has a mandatary 
requirement to investigate public interest 
complaints referred to the VI for investigation,  
or assessed by the VI as public interest complaints, 
in accordance with the Public Interest Disclosures 
Act 2012. Amendments to that Act that took 
effect on 31 December 2019 have increased the 
scope for such investigations.

In line with the COVID-19 restrictions, from  
27 March 2020 onwards the VI has operated 
under working from home arrangements. While  
we have had usually one, but sometimes up  
to three, staff rostered to attend the office to 
undertake work that could not be done remotely 
or that was necessary to enable other staff to 
continue working from home, inevitably our 
operational capacity has been greatly impacted.

The impact has been felt particularly in the areas 
of complaints, reviews of notifications received of 
the exercise by other integrity bodies of coercive 
powers, inspections of records of other bodies and 
investigations. The chief impact on our complaints 
area has been on our ability to receive calls from, 
and make calls to, complainants caused by 
functional limitations of the VI’s telephony system. 
Planning for a new system is at an advanced 
stage and hopefully can be implemented by  
the second quarter of 2020-21. Despite that, 
the VI finalised a greatly increased number  
of complaints compared to last year.

Having a skeleton staff rostered to attend as 
required also facilitated access to the office for 
technicians and contractors. This enabled us to 
make great progress during the year on various 
ICT projects including an upgrade to Windows  
10 and Office 365 for the VI’s computer system,  
a desktop and server refresh to the VI’s air-gapped 
secure system and an upgrade to the AV system 
that supports the VI’s private examinations. 

On 1 July 2020 the VI will gain greater budget 
independence under amendments made to the 
Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011 by Part 5 of the 
Integrity and Accountability Legislation 

Message from 
the Inspector
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Amendment (Public Interest Disclosures, 
Oversight and Independence) Act 2019.  
The outcome is that the VI’s budget will be 
determined in consultation with the Integrity  
and Oversight Committee of the Parliament  
and form part of the parliamentary appropriation 
suite of legislation. As part of that process the VI 
was required to prepare, in consultation with the 
Integrity and Oversight Committee, an annual 
plan for 2020-21 and arrange for it to be laid 
before Parliament before the commencement  
of that year. This was achieved on 16 June 2020.

Our annual plan for 2020-21 sets out our priorities 
for that year and how the resourcing available  
to the VI impacts what the VI can achieve by  
way of improvements to the integrity system  
and, consequently, the level of assurance we  
can provide to the Parliament and the community 
that the integrity system is working appropriately.

I am grateful to all the VI staff who have worked 
hard throughout this challenging year in pursuit  
of the VI’s vision of a robust and trusted integrity 
system. With oversight responsibilities of various 
kinds across 11 integrity, accountability or 
investigatory bodies or officers, our current micro-
sized team has completed an impressive body  
of work, and achieved much in 2019-20, as set 
out in this report. I am excited at the prospect  
of how much more we could achieve in support 
of the integrity system that Victorians deserve  
if our critical budgetary needs are satisfied.

Finally, my sincere thanks go to the members  
of the VI’s management team, especially Cathy 
Cato, Executive Director, Legal and Integrity,  
who have given me their full support at all times 
and have worked hard in steering the VI so well 
through the choppy seas of 2019-20.

Eamonn Moran PSM QC 
Inspector
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In 2019-20, despite the challenges of  
COVID-19, budget constraints and a machinery  
of government change, the VI prepared 
successfully for budgetary independence through 
the publication of its annual plan for 2020-21  
and commenced its new expanded role under  
the amended Public Interest Disclosures regime, 
publishing Guidelines for making and handling 
public interest disclosures, and assessing and 
commencing four times as many disclosures  
and investigations than in 2018-19. As anticipated, 
the VI’s legislative requirement to focus on public 
interest disclosures resulted in a significant 
decrease in its reviews of coercive power 
notifications. The VI is committed to ensuring it 
properly oversights these notifications and awaits 
the outcome of a submission for funding that will 
enable it to undertake its full legislative remit.

The VI demonstrated operational achievements 
across complaints, investigations and inspections, 
despite the impact of COVID-19 on these functions. 
The VI managed 99 enquiries and 93 complaints; 
closed 90 complaints compared with 69 the 
previous year with important feedback provided  
to agencies; completed a longstanding 
investigation and a longstanding preliminary 
inquiry leading to practice changes; continued  
a protected disclosure investigation; commenced 
a new preliminary inquiry and three public interest 
disclosure investigations; conducted 10 inspections 
and published five inspection reports; published 
one integrity report relating to a monitoring project 
on police misconduct complaints completed in 
2018-19; produced two private integrity reports 
relating to the handling of complaints; and made 
six recommendations, all of which were accepted. 

To afford greater transparency in how we respond 
to non-compliance and other issues identified 
through our oversight activities, we published 
Integrity Response Guidelines following a 
consultation process with our key oversighted 
agencies. Our integrity responses aim to prevent 
issues of a similar kind arising in the future and 
take account of a range of criteria including 
readiness to comply, the need for accountability 
and prevention of harm to individuals and the 
integrity system. Where appropriate, we take  
a cooperative approach. In this annual report,  
we have acknowledged good compliance 
processes, procedures and activity by agencies.

Providing feedback or recommendations in line 
with these guidelines contributed to improvements 
in policies, procedures and practice across IBAC, 
the VO, OVIC, VAGO, the Office of Chief Examiner 
and Victoria Police. 

The VI’s focus on improving the integrity system  
is reflected in the performance measures 
published in the VI’s 2020-21 annual plan.  
The VI has set targets for improvements to  
the integrity system and for the acceptance  
of recommendations by agencies, and a  
100% target for providing reasons for decisions  
in complaint outcomes.

The VI’s significant corporate achievements 
throughout 2019-20 have led to increased 
efficiencies for the VI’s operational activities and 
supported the VI’s ability to work from home across 
many functions. The VI is as prepared as it can be 
to move into 2020-21 as a budget independent 
agency, having negotiated corporate services 

Message from the 
Executive Director, 
Legal and Integrity



A N N UA L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9 – 2 06 V I C TO R I A N  I N S P E C TO R AT E

support from the Department of Premier  
and Cabinet. Unfortunately, fiscal sustainability 
remains our key challenge for 2020-21 and 
beyond, and I remain concerned at the VI’s  
ability to meet our legislative remit in the context 
of budget independence, complex security 
requirements, our continually expanding remit  
and the governance requirements that place  
a disproportionately large burden on micro 
agencies.

I thank the Inspector, Eamonn Moran PSM QC,  
for his supportive leadership throughout the year 
and particularly during COVID-19, and thank all  
VI staff for their positivity, resilience, collaboration 
and support for each other throughout 2019-20.  
I am grateful for the leadership of Director Budget 
Independence and Strategy, Kathryn Phillips, and 
General Managers Alison Finn and Lana Kolyunski, 
who met all of this year’s challenges with 
unrelenting drive, hard work, commitment  
and capability.

Cathy Cato 
Executive Director, Legal and Integrity
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About the Victorian 
Inspectorate

Overview
The VI was established to provide oversight  
of other integrity, accountability or investigatory 
bodies and their officers. The VI is the key oversight 
body in Victoria’s ‘integrity system’, which is 
comprised of these bodies. The VI is committed  
to providing the Parliament and the people of 
Victoria with independent assurance that these 
bodies act lawfully and properly in the 
performance of their functions. 

The VI has a broad monitoring function  
with respect to the Independent Broad-based 
Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC). The VI monitors 
IBAC’s compliance with the IBAC Act and other 
laws, and assesses the effectiveness and 
appropriateness of IBAC’s policies and  
procedures that relate to the legality  
and propriety of its activities. 

The VI monitors the use of coercive powers,  
such as powers to summons and examine 
witnesses, by IBAC and the other bodies in  
the integrity system that have those powers.  
The VI also monitors compliance by a number of 
bodies with procedural fairness requirements and 
has a monitoring and review function in the public 
interest disclosure scheme in Victoria. In addition, 
the VI monitors compliance by the Chief Examiner, 
Examiners, the Chief Commissioner of Police (CCP) 
and other police officers with the Major Crime 
(Investigative Powers) Act 2004 (MCIP Act).

The VI receives, assesses and, where appropriate, 
investigates complaints made to it about:
• IBAC and IBAC personnel
• Victorian Ombudsman (VO) officers
• Chief Examiner and Examiners
•  Office of the Victorian Information 

Commissioner (OVIC) officers
•  Victorian Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO) 

officers

The VI must investigate public interest disclosures 
determined to be public interest complaints that 
relate to IBAC, an IBAC officer or a Public Interest 
Monitor (PIM). The VI must also investigate public 
interest complaints referred by IBAC.

The VI has a number of inspections functions, 
conducting site visits to a range of integrity, 
accountability and investigatory bodies to assess 
their records for compliance with applicable 
legislation, and reporting to Ministers and the 
Parliament on the results of those inspections. 
These inspections promote the public interest  
by providing assurance that bodies and officers 
permitted to exercise covert, intrusive or 
extraordinary powers are subject to oversight. 

The PIM also protects the public interest by testing 
the content and sufficiency of information in 
applications by these bodies for the use of 
telecommunications interception and other  
covert and coercive powers. By inspecting 
relevant records, the VI assesses and reports  
on compliance by the PIM with prescribed 
obligations that relate to this role.
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Vision
An integrity system that is robust and trusted.

Vision, Aspirations and Values
The vision, aspirations and values of the  
VI were created by VI staff to help shape how  
the VI supports the integrity system.

Values
•  We act with integrity in everything we do
•  We demonstrate professional courage, leadership and persistence
•  We are dedicated to delivering work to the highest possible standard
•  We work collaboratively and respectfully with each other and with integrity bodies
•  We promote and uphold the Charter of Human Rights 

Aspirations
Public confidence and trust in Victoria’s integrity system
• The right checks and balances are in place
• The community knows to come to the VI to protect their rights
• Intrusive and coercive powers are exercised lawfully

A robust Victorian integrity system 
• Parliament has confidence in the VI
• The VI is positively influencing the conduct of integrity bodies
• The public sector is being held to account
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Inspector 
Mr Eamonn Moran PSM QC

The Inspector is responsible for undertaking the 
strategic leadership of the VI. The Inspector is also 
the public service body head of the VI, and has 
the duties, functions and powers delegated by  
the VI, or conferred by the Victorian Inspectorate 
Act 2011 (VI Act) or any other Act. 

Mr Eamonn Moran PSM QC is the current Inspector 
constituting the VI. Mr Moran was appointed by 
the Governor in Council for a term of five years 
expiring on 31 December 2022. He is an 
independent officer of the Parliament. 

Before his appointment, Mr Moran was practising 
as a barrister in general administrative and 
constitutional law areas and providing services  
to various governments as a consultant legislative 
counsel. He has previous experience as a law 
reform commissioner, parliamentary counsel, 
academic and solicitor at various points in his 
career, both in Australia and overseas.

Executive Director, Legal and Integrity 
Cathy Cato

Cathy Cato commenced as the inaugural 
Executive Director, Legal and Integrity in 
November 2018. Cathy leads the legal services 
function and is also responsible for the corporate 
services and integrity operations and policy 
functions. Cathy is supported by the Director 
Budget Independence and Strategy, the General 
Manager Integrity Operations and Policy, and the 
General Manager Corporate Services. 

Before her appointment, Cathy was a Deputy 
Commissioner at the Australian Building and 
Construction Commission. Cathy represented the 
Commonwealth in large and small civil litigation 
matters at the Australian Government Solicitor 
before moving into regulatory roles as an in-house 
lawyer, state legal director and senior executive  
in the State and Commonwealth public sector. 

Cathy’s experience as a government lawyer  
and in regulatory management roles includes  
civil prosecutions, exercising coercive powers, 
managing and advising on investigations,  
public speaking and training.

Organisational Structure

Lana Kolyunski

General Manager 
Corporate Services

Alison Finn

General Manager 
Integrity Operations 

and Policy

Legal Services

Eamonn Moran PSM QC

Inspector

Cathy Cato

Executive Director 
Legal and Integrity

Kathryn Phillips

Director, Budget 
Independence  
and Strategy
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Director, Budget Independence and Strategy  
Kathryn Phillips

Kathryn Phillips commenced as Director, Budget 
Independence and Strategy in July 2019 to lead 
the VI’s transition to budgetary independence on 
1 July 2020 under Division 2, Part 7 of the VI Act.

She also delivers corporate strategy and manages 
the VI’s finances and budget, functions she led  
in her substantive VI role as General Manager, 
Corporate Governance and Strategy.

Kathryn commenced at the VI in April 2018  
and brings with her over twenty years’ experience 
in the Victorian Public Sector in a variety of senior 
positions within government departments, 
statutory authorities and commissions of inquiry. 

For the past ten years Kathryn has led the delivery 
of corporate functions with a strong focus on 
change management, organisational 
development and strategic planning. 

Her current focus is to lead the strategy,  
planning, implementation, governance and  
risk management relating to the Inspectorate’s 
transition to budget independence.

Integrity Operations and Policy 

Led by General Manager Alison Finn, the Integrity 
Operations and Policy unit is a multi-disciplinary 
team that delivers the full range of oversight 
functions under the VI Act and other legislation. 

The team’s activities include: 
•  Undertaking integrity programs by which the  

VI performs its ongoing oversight functions, 
such as monitoring the use of coercive powers 
by integrity, accountability and investigatory 
bodies and officers. 

•  Designing, conducting and reporting on 
monitoring projects, including those that target 
areas of strategic interest or compliance risk 
identified by the VI in the course of other 
activities. 

•  Receiving, assessing and responding to 
complaints about the entities and officers 
within the VI’s jurisdiction. The team also 
assesses whether complaints are assessable 
disclosures or public interest complaints under  
the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (PID Act).

•  Investigating or making preliminary inquiries into 
allegations that are made about officers within 
the VI’s jurisdiction. 

•  Conducting the VI’s annual program of 
inspections at law enforcement and 
government departments exercising covert 
and intrusive powers, and the Office of the PIM, 
and delivering reports on the results of those 
inspections to relevant Ministers and Parliament. 

Corporate Services

Led by General Manager Lana Kolyunski, the 
Corporate Services team provides corporate 
support services to the VI, including: 
• Corporate governance 
• Procurement management and reporting
• Communications and media 
• Human Resources 
• Records management and support
• Information technology management
• Building and facilities management. 

Legal Services

Led by Cathy Cato, the Legal Services team 
operates in a flexible and collaborative manner 
across the VI, supporting the delivery of the VI’s 
statutory functions and corporate requirements. 

Legal services functions include:
•  Advising on the scope and exercise  

of statutory powers.
•  Advising on draft legislation relevant  

to the Victorian integrity system.
•  Advising on submissions to parliamentary 

committees.
•  Supporting the integrity operations and policy 

functions in a multi-disciplinary setting.
•  Supporting corporate functions including 

advice on contracts, procurement and 
governance.
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Overview
Established under the VI Act to provide 
independent oversight, the functions of the  
VI differ in respect of each integrity, accountability 
or investigatory body that it oversees. 

The VI undertakes the following range of functions:
• Monitoring
• Complaints 
• Investigations
• Inspections
•  Reports, recommendations  

and integrity responses.

For an overview of the VI’s key functions for  
each oversighted body, see Table A on pages  
14 to 15. This demonstrates the breadth of the  
VI’s oversight role in relation to IBAC.

The VI has a broad power to do all things 
necessary or convenient to perform its functions, 
as well as specific duties and powers when 
performing certain functions relating to IBAC  
and the PIM. Importantly, there are limitations  
on the VI’s exercise of its coercive powers which 
include the VI’s accountability to two 
parliamentary committees. 

The Integrity and Oversight Committee (IOC) 
monitors and reviews the performance of the  
VI’s duties and functions, reports to both Houses  
of the Parliament on any matter connected with 
the performance of the VI’s duties and functions, 
examines reports the VI makes to the IOC or to the 
Parliament (other than reports in respect of VAGO 
officers), and considers the appointment of an 
Inspector. 

The Public Accounts and Estimates Committee 
(PAEC) reviews the performance of the duties  
and functions of the VI, and examines any  
reports made by the VI to Parliament in relation  
to VAGO officers.

To ensure the VI’s independence, it is legally 
impermissible for the IOC and PAEC to  
investigate or review any decision, finding  
or recommendation made by the VI in the 
discharge or exercise of its functions and powers.

Monitoring, complaints 
and investigations
For each of the following bodies, the VI has a 
monitoring function and a complaints function: 
• IBAC
• VO
• OVIC
• VAGO
• Chief Examiner

For the Judicial Commission of Victoria (Judicial 
Commission), the VI has a monitoring function,  
but no complaints function, although the VI can 
receive disclosures about an officer of the Judicial 
Commission under the PID Act (other than a 
Judicial member of the Board of the Judicial 
Commission).

The VI undertakes a range of monitoring activities, 
including reviewing coercive powers notifications, 
reviewing agency policies and procedures and 
conducting monitoring projects. 

Notifications are received from bodies required  
to inform the VI when they exercise a coercive 
power. These notifications are an important source 
of information for monitoring how bodies exercise 
their coercive powers. The VI has discretion  
as to which notifications to review but the scope 
of each review must comply with legislative 
requirements. Due to its limited resources,  
the VI takes a risk-based approach to reviewing 
notifications.

Objectives, functions, 
powers and duties
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The VI undertakes targeted reviews of policies  
and procedures adopted by a body, and 
monitoring projects that may, for example, 
combine an examination of procedures with  
an audit of relevant records to assess whether  
the procedures are effectively followed. 

The VI has discretion whether to investigate 
complaints, other than public interest complaints, 
which must be investigated. In the course of 
performing its functions, the VI may also 
commence an investigation on its “own motion”. 
The VI may conduct a preliminary inquiry for the 
purpose of determining whether to investigate  
a complaint, or whether to conduct an own 
motion investigation. Powers available during  
an investigation are not available to the  
VI during a preliminary inquiry.

The VI may hold an inquiry into any matter arising 
out of an investigation. In conducting an inquiry, 
the VI may exercise these coercive powers:
• Holding a private examination.
•  Entering and searching premises and 

inspecting, copying and seizing any document 
or thing.

•  Issuing witness summonses to a person to give 
evidence at an examination or to produce 
documents or other things, or to do both.

In exercising any of these powers, the VI must 
comply with the strict requirements of the VI Act. 

Inspections
The VI conducts inspections of records  
associated with the use by bodies and law 
enforcement officers of covert, intrusive and 
extraordinary investigatory powers including 
telecommunications interception, the use of 
surveillance devices, the conduct of controlled 
operations and exercise of police counter-
terrorism powers. The VI is required to inspect  
the records of the following bodies, and to report 
on their compliance with applicable legislative 
requirements as discussed in the Inspections 
section of this report on page 44:
• Victoria Police
• IBAC
• Game Management Authority (GMA)
•  Victorian Fisheries Authority (VFA)
•  Department of Environment, Land, Water,  

and Planning (DELWP)

Since 1 October 2018, the VI has had an 
inspections role under the Terrorism (Community 
Protection) Act 2003 (TCP Act), overseeing 
Victoria Police’s exercise of counter-terrorism 
powers.

The VI also inspects certain records kept by the 
PIM under the Public Interest Monitor Act 2011 
(PIM Act) and the Witness Protection Act 1991 
(WP Act) relating to the PIM’s appearances at 
hearings for applications for warrants or orders  
for the exercise of covert powers such as 
telecommunications interception and  
surveillance devices. 
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Table A
VI’s complaint and monitoring functions

For each agency, the Victorian Inspectorate has these different functions:

Receives and assesses 
complaints about 
conduct of IBAC & IBAC 
personnel

Investigates conduct

Investigates a public 
interest complaint (PIC) 
about IBAC or an IBAC 
officer

Receives and assesses 
complaints about 
conduct of VO officers 

Investigates conduct

Receives and assesses 
complaints about 
conduct of OVIC 
officers

Investigates conduct

Receives and assesses 
complaints about 
conduct of VAGO 
officers

Investigates conduct

Receives and assesses 
complaints about 
conduct of the Chief 
Examiner or Examiners

Investigates the 
conduct of the Chief 
Examiner and Examiners

Investigates PICs 
about a PIM

Monitors the  
exercise of  
coercive powers

Monitors the exercise  
of coercive powers

Monitors the  
exercise of  
coercive powers

Monitors the  
exercise of  
coercive powers

Monitors the  
exercise of  
coercive powers

Monitors the 
exercise of 
coercive powers

Monitors compliance 
with procedural fairness

Monitors compliance 
with procedural fairness

Assesses the 
effectiveness and 
appropriateness of 
policies and procedures 

Assesses the 
effectiveness and 
appropriateness of 
policies and procedures

Monitors compliance 
with the IBAC Act and 
other laws

Monitors compliance 
with sections 30 to 37, 
39, 43 to 46, 50(1) and 
51 of the Audit Act 1994

Monitors compliance 
with the Major Crime 
(Investigative Powers) 
Act 2004

Monitors 
compliance with 
the Major Crime 
(Investigative 
Powers) Act 2004

Reviews Public Interest 
Disclosure (PID) 
procedures

Reviews PID procedures Reviews PID 
procedures

Oversees IBAC’s 
performance of  
its PID Act functions 

Receives & assesses 
PIDs about IBAC and 
IBAC officers

Receives & 
assesses PIDs  
about a PIM

Monitors interaction with 
other integrity bodies

Inspects records on 
telephone intercepts, use 
of surveillance devices 
and on controlled 
operations

Inspects records 
relating to  
order/warrant 
applications

Inspects records  
on telephone 
intercepts, use of 
surveillance devices 
and on controlled 
operations

Inspects records on 
use of surveillance 
devices and on 
controlled 
operations

Inspects records on 
use of surveillance 
devices and on 
controlled 
operations

Inspects records on 
use of surveillance 
devices and on 
controlled 
operations

Inspects records  
on use of counter-
terrorism powers

The VI must consider whether any disclosure received by it relating to any public body or public officer is a PID that must be notified to the appropriate entity. 

The VI must also investigate any PIC referred to it by IBAC relating to the conduct of any public body or public officer.
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Reports, recommendations  
and other integrity responses
The VI provides independent assurance to 
Parliament and the people of Victoria that  
the bodies it oversights are acting lawfully  
and appropriately.

Following inspections, the VI is required to issue 
formal reports to the relevant Ministers and/or 
Parliament. Prior to issuing a final or public 
inspection report, the VI provides a draft report  
to the relevant body, to meet legislative 
requirements and to afford procedural fairness. 

In performing its functions, the VI addresses 
identified non-compliance and other issues 
through a range of informal and formal integrity 
responses. In June 2020, the VI published Integrity 
Response Guidelines on its website to explain how 
non-compliance and issues are addressed. The 
guidelines outline the VI’s integrity response 
options and provide transparency on the criteria 
that guide the VI’s decision making. Integrity 
responses aim to prevent issues of a similar kind 
arising in the future and take account of a range 
of criteria including readiness to comply, the  
need for accountability and prevention of  
harm to individuals and the integrity system.

Integrity responses range from no further action  
to informal liaison and stakeholder engagement, 
education programs and resources, or the 
initiation of further oversight projects or programs. 
The VI is also empowered by the VI Act to make 
private or public recommendations and issue 
private or public reports. The VI may make 
recommendations at any time to IBAC, the 
Auditor-General, the Ombudsman, the Chief 
Examiner, the Information Commissioner and 
relevant Deputy Commissioners in relation to  
any action that the VI considers should be taken. 
Recommendations not contained in a report must 
be made in private. However, if the VI considers 
that a body has failed to take appropriate action 
in relation to the private recommendation, the  
VI may make a public recommendation.

If the VI is satisfied that conduct of IBAC personnel 
which has been the subject of a complaint, 
investigation or finding should be the subject  
of further investigatory or enforcement action,  
the VI may make a recommendation to the CCP, 
the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP), the 
Australian Federal Police (AFP), the Auditor-
General, the Victorian WorkCover Authority (VWA) 
or any other prescribed person or body. For 
conduct of the Chief Examiner, an Examiner,  
or any officer of VAGO, the Ombudsman or OVIC, 
the VI may make such a recommendation to the 
CCP, the DPP, the AFP, IBAC, the VWA or any other 
prescribed person or body.

The VI may at any time make recommendations 
to the Judicial Commission for the purposes of the 
Judicial Commission making guidelines in relation 
to the use of any coercive powers under the 
Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016  
(JCV Act) or the determination by an investigating 
panel regarding whether a hearing or part of  
a hearing should be open to the public. The  
VI may require the Judicial Commission to give  
a report to the VI about their implementation  
of any recommendations and their reasons  
for not implementing any recommendations. 

To follow up on its recommendations, the VI may 
also require IBAC, the Ombudsman, OVIC, VAGO 
and the Chief Examiner to give a report to the  
VI about any action they have taken or intend  
to take in response to a recommendation, and  
to provide reasons where action is not taken.

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
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VI Operations Model
The VI’s Operations Model is a useful framework  
for its oversight activities. See Figure A on pages 
18 to 19. The Operations Model demonstrates:
•  The relationship between the VI’s functions, 

oversight activities and integrity responses.
•  The two key sources of information regularly 

received by the VI about the activity of integrity 
bodies, namely complaints and notifications.

•  That information received may lead to  
a preliminary inquiry, an investigation,  
an inquiry, activities within an integrity  
program, or a targeted monitoring project.

•  That a broad range of integrity responses  
can arise from the VI’s activities.
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Figure A
VI Operations Model 

Integrity Responses
The VI is empowered to make 
recommendations and issue reports. 

The VI may respond to issues with  
a spectrum of appropriate activities,  
such as informal liaison and stakeholder  
engagement, education programs  
and resources, or the initiation  
of further oversight projects  
or programs.

Integrity Responses

Integrity Programs

Monitoring Projects

Notifications

Complaints

Preliminary 
Inquiries

Investigations

Inquiries

Integrity Programs
Ongoing, regular programs to assess compliance  
or inspect records; results are generally delivered  
in regular reports.

Regular Integrity Programs:

• Inspections of law enforcement powers

•  Program of notification reviews to monitor  
the use of coercive powers

•  Reviewing compliance with certain provisions

Inquiries
The VI may conduct an inquiry into  
a matter arising out of an investigation.

The VI is empowered to:

• Examine witnesses

• Compel the production of documents or things

• Enter and search premises, seize evidence

Monitoring Projects
Strategically targeted and finite  
activities with well-defined objectives, 
methodology and deliverables. 

Targeted monitoring projects:

•  Projects arising from identified  
concerns

•  Reviews of high risk notifications  
eg. public hearings 

Investigations
The VI may investigate and assess the conduct  
of officers, including own motion investigations. 

The VI must investigate a public interest disclosure. 

Notifications
The VI receives information via  
notifications from oversighted  
entities where they:

• Use a coercive power

•  Are required to notify  
the VI of other information 

Preliminary Inquiries
The VI may conduct a preliminary inquiry to 
determine whether it will investigate a matter.

Complaints
Individuals can complain or provide 
information to the VI about the conduct  
of officers of bodies it oversights. The VI also 
receives complaints about the activities of 
IBAC and certain disclosures under the PID Act. 
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Specific functions for each key body

With respect to IBAC, the VI:
•  Monitors IBAC’s compliance with  

the IBAC Act and other laws, including 
the exercise of coercive powers.

•  Inspects IBAC’s compliance with certain 
statutory requirements relating to its 
telecommunications interception activities, 
its conduct of controlled operations,  
and its use of surveillance devices.

•  Assesses the effectiveness and 
appropriateness of IBAC’s policies  
and procedures which relate to the 
legality and propriety of its activities.

•  Receives, assesses and may investigate 
certain complaints about the conduct  
of IBAC or IBAC personnel.

•  Monitors IBAC’s interaction with other 
integrity bodies to ensure compliance 
with relevant laws.

The VI may also investigate aspects  
of IBAC’s activities on its own motion  
in carrying out its oversight functions.

The VI may make recommendations to IBAC 
and may make reports to the Parliament. The 
VI may also make recommendations to the 
CCP, the DPP and certain other bodies about 
further investigatory or enforcement action.

With respect to IBAC’s role under the PID Act, 
the VI:
•  Oversees IBAC’s performance of its 

functions under the PID Act.
•  Receives disclosures about IBAC  

and its officers, determines whether the 
disclosures are public interest complaints 
and if so, must investigate the public 
interest complaint. 

•  Reviews the procedures established by 
IBAC under Part 9 of the PID Act and the 
implementation of those procedures. 

The VI monitors the Ombudsman’s 
exercise of coercive powers and its 
compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements.

The VI receives, assesses and may 
investigate complaints about Ombudsman 
officers in relation to the exercise of 
coercive powers and compliance with 
procedural fairness, and may also 
investigate matters on its own motion.

The VI may make recommendations and 
reports about the Ombudsman, and may 
make recommendations to the CCP, the 
DPP and certain other bodies about further 
investigatory or enforcement action.

Disclosures may also be made to the  
VI about Ombudsman officers under the  
PID Act, and if the VI considers that such  
a disclosure might qualify as a public 
interest disclosure, it must notify IBAC who 
then determine whether it is a public interest 
complaint. IBAC can refer a public interest 
complaint back to the VI for investigation in 
appropriate circumstances and the VI must 
investigate the public interest complaint.

In addition, the VI has a function under the 
PID Act to review the procedures established 
by the Ombudsman under Part 9 of the PID 
Act and the implementation of those 
procedures.
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The VI receives, assesses and may 
investigate complaints about the conduct 
of the Chief Examiner or any Examiner  
in relation to the exercise of coercive 
powers or their compliance with the  
MCIP Act.

The VI, on its own motion, may investigate 
the conduct of the Chief Examiner or  
an Examiner in respect of the exercise  
(or purported exercise) of coercive powers, 
or in respect of compliance with the  
MCIP Act.

Disclosures may be made to the VI about 
the Chief Examiner or an Examiner under 
the PID Act, and if the VI considers that  
such a disclosure might qualify as a public 
interest disclosure, it must notify IBAC who 
then assesses whether it is a public interest 
complaint. IBAC can refer a public interest 
complaint back to the VI for investigation in 
appropriate circumstances and the VI must 
investigate the public interest complaint.

The VI monitors compliance by the Chief 
Examiner and Examiners with the MCIP Act, 
assesses the relevance of any requirement 
to produce documents or other things  
and of any questions asked in a coercive 
examination, assesses the effectiveness and 
appropriateness of policies and procedures 
of the Chief Examiner relating to the legality 
and propriety of the Chief Examiner’s 
activities, and may make reports and 
recommendations accordingly.

The VI may also make recommendations  
to the CCP, the DPP and certain other 
bodies about further investigatory or 
enforcement action.

The PIM’s role is to appear at any hearing 
of an application for warrants or orders that 
intrude on the privacy or civil liberties of 
Victorian citizens and to test the content 
and sufficiency of the information relied on 
and the circumstances of the application.

The VI inspects certain records kept by the 
PIM under the PIM Act and the WP Act for 
the purpose of monitoring compliance  
with requirements prescribed by law and  
to report to the Minister and the Parliament 
on the result of its inspections and audit.

From 31 December 2019 when 
amendments to the PID Act took effect,  
the VI can receive disclosures about a PIM, 
determines whether disclosures are public 
interest complaints and if so, must 
investigate the public interest complaint.
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With respect to VAGO, the VI monitors  
the exercise of coercive powers by VAGO 
officers and their compliance with certain 
specific sections of the Audit Act 1994 
(Audit Act).

The VI may also:
•  Receive, assess and investigate  

certain complaints about the conduct  
of a VAGO officer.

•  Report on, and make recommendations 
as a result of, the performance of its 
functions.

•  Make recommendations to the CCP,  
the DPP and certain other bodies about 
further investigatory or enforcement 
action.

Disclosures may be made to the VI about 
VAGO officers under the PID Act. If the  
VI considers that such a disclosure might 
qualify as a public interest disclosure,  
it must notify IBAC who then assesses 
whether it is a public interest complaint. 
IBAC can refer a public interest complaint 
back to the VI for investigation in 
appropriate circumstances and the  
VI must investigate the public interest 
complaint.

The VI may also, on its own motion  
in the course of performing its functions, 
investigate the conduct of a VAGO officer  
in respect of the exercise or purported 
exercise of coercive powers in relation  
to any matter or their compliance with 
certain sections of the Audit Act.

In relation to OVIC, the VI is responsible for 
monitoring its exercise of coercive powers 
and related compliance with procedural 
fairness requirements.

During the 2019-20 year the VI’s  
jurisdiction with respect to complaints  
and investigations about the conduct of 
OVIC officers changed. Prior to 1 January 
2020, the VI received, assessed and  
could investigate complaints about  
OVIC’s compliance with the procedural 
fairness requirements of the Freedom  
of Information Act 1982 (Vic) (FOI Act)  
and the Privacy Data Protection Act 2014 
(Vic) (PDP Act).

From 1 January 2020, the VI may only 
receive, assess and investigate complaints 
about the conduct of OVIC officers in 
respect to the exercise of coercive powers, 
and compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements that relate to those powers 
and certain of OVIC’s investigative activities 
under the FOI and PDP Acts. 

The VI may commence an own motion 
investigation, and report on, and make 
recommendations about, these types  
of conduct. The VI may also make 
recommendations to the CCP, the DPP  
and certain other bodies about further 
investigatory or enforcement action.
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The VI has the function to monitor the 
Judicial Commission of Victoria’s  
use of coercive powers under the JCV Act, 
and may make recommendations to it  
as to guidelines in relation to the use of 
those powers.

Disclosures may be made to the VI about 
an officer of the Judicial Commission under 
the PID Act (other than a Judicial member 
of the Board of the Judicial Commission), 
and if the VI considers that such a disclosure 
might qualify as a public interest disclosure, 
it must notify IBAC who then assesses 
whether it is a public interest complaint. 
IBAC can refer a public interest complaint 
back to the VI for investigation in 
appropriate circumstances and the VI must 
investigate the public interest complaint.

In addition to this, the VI has an obligation 
under the PID Act to review the procedures 
established by the Judicial Commission 
under Part 9 of the PID Act and the 
implementation of those procedures.

The VI has a function with respect to Victoria 
Police under the MCIP Act, overseeing 
compliance with the Act by the CCP and 
other police officers. The VI receives regular 
six-monthly reports from the CCP on police 
activities associated with coercive powers 
orders. The reports must include various 
statistics, such as the numbers of 
applications, arrests and prosecutions  
that result from the coercive powers orders,  
as well as qualitative information, such  
as disseminations by police, and the 
outcomes of prosecutions. The matters  
that Victoria Police must report are contained 
in Regulation 11 of the Major Crime 
(Investigative Powers) Regulations 2015.

The VI is empowered to request information 
or assistance from Victoria Police, and 
access records to assess its compliance 
with information-sharing and record-keeping 
requirements of the MCIP Act. The VI may 
also make recommendations to the CCP, 
the DPP and certain other bodies about 
further investigatory or enforcement action.

The VI also conducts inspections of Victoria 
Police records associated with covert and/or 
intrusive investigatory powers, including: 
•  Telecommunications interception 

activities, excluding access by Victoria 
Police to stored communications and  
to telecommunications data (which  
are subject to inspections by the 
Commonwealth Ombudsman).

• Use of surveillance devices.
• Conduct of controlled operations.
•  Use of powers under the TCP Act to 

execute covert search warrants, make 
preventative detention decisions, and 
use special powers to prevent or respond 
to terrorism.
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IALA Act reforms
A number of reforms to the Victorian integrity 
system took effect this financial year. Major 
reforms resulted from the passing in March 2019 
of two Acts – the Integrity and Accountability 
Legislation Amendment (Public Interest 
Disclosures, Oversight and Independence)  
Act 2019 (IALA Act) and the Audit Amendment 
Act 2019 (Audit Amendment Act). 

These reforms were outlined in detail in the VI’s 
2018-19 Annual Report and are further referenced 
in relevant sections of this report.

The VI’s new role under the PID Act commenced  
on 31 December 2019 and is discussed in the Public 
Interest Disclosures section on page 47 of this report. 

Amendments to the IBAC Act, the VI Act, the  
PIM Act and the Ombudsman Act commenced  
1 January 2020. In particular, the amendments 
changed the functions of the VI with respect to  
the oversight of OVIC from 1 January 2020.  
The VI’s role now has a narrow focus on OVIC’s 
exercise of coercive powers under the FOI  
and PDP Acts, and on OVIC’s compliance  
with procedural fairness requirements in the 
exercise of its coercive powers, the conduct  
of investigations and the making of 
recommendations, investigation reports  
and compliance notices. 

Prior to the IALA Act reforms, for example, the  
VI could receive and investigate complaints  
that OVIC had breached its procedural fairness 
obligations in its review of agency decisions  
under the FOI Act. The VI continued to receive 
complaints of this nature after 1 January 2020. 
More information about how the VI handled those 
complaints is discussed on page 66 of this report.

The final reform provides the Ombudsman, IBAC 
and the VI with greater independence in their 
respective budget processes, similar to the 
Auditor-General’s budget process. These budget 
independence amendments come into operation 
on 1 July 2020 in the new reporting period.

The budget independence requirements applicable 
to the VI are set out in sections 90A, 90B, 90C,  
90D and 90E of the VI Act and provide for:
•  the VI’s budget to be determined each 

financial year in consultation with the 
Parliamentary Committee (the IOC) 
concurrently with the VI’s annual plan under 
section 90B;

•  the VI to submit to the IOC for feedback a draft 
annual plan describing the VI’s proposed work 
program for the next financial year;

•  the VI to identify in the annual plan any 
changes suggested by the IOC and not 
adopted; and

•  the VI to present the annual plan to the  
IOC and table it before the end of the  
financial year.

In June 2020, the VI tabled its annual plan for 
2020-21 and presented it to the IOC, having 
incorporated the IOC’s feedback on the draft 
plan. The annual plan may be updated following 
the outcome of the budget which was delayed 
from May 2020 until later in 2020 due to COVID-19.

The amendments to the Audit Act took effect from 
1 July 2019 and provide a suite of specific powers 
for VAGO to gather information, obtain evidence 
and enter premises for the purpose of financial or 
performance audits. The impact on the change 
to the role of the VI is described in this report in  
the section on VAGO on page 63.

COVID-19 emergency measures 
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
Victorian parliament passed the COVID-19 
Omnibus (Emergency Measures) Act 2020 
(Emergency Measures Act) to temporarily amend 
certain Acts, and to temporarily empower the 
making of regulations to modify the application  
of the law of Victoria in certain respects. The Act 
took effect from 25 April 2020. 

Integrity 
system 
update

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/annual-reports-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/annual-plans-victorian-inspectorate
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The COVID-19 Omnibus (Emergency Measures) 
(Integrity Entities) Regulations 2020 were made 
under the Emergency Measures Act and took 
effect from 19 May 2020. Their objective is to 
modify the application of various provisions  
of the following Acts:
• FOI Act
• IBAC Act
•  Local Government Act 1989
• Oaths and Affirmations Act 2018
•  Ombudsman Act 1973
• PDP Act
•   Telecommunications (Interception)  

(State Provisions) Act 1988
• VI Act

With respect to the VI, the Regulations have  
the following effect:

Inspections and reports
•   Under the Telecommunications (Interception) 

(State Provisions) Act 1988 (TISP Act), for the 
financial year ending on 30 June 2020, the VI 
may complete its second inspection of Victoria 
Police and IBAC records as soon as practicable 
after the end of that financial year and must 
report to the relevant Minister about the results 
of the inspection as soon as practicable after 
the end of that financial year.

Service 
•  Under section 56 of the VI Act, a reference to 

service of documents on a natural person or 
body corporate in sections 38, 39, 51, 64, 65, 
66, 67 and 72 of that Act permits these 
alternative means of service to personal service:

 –  for a natural person: serving on the person 
or their authorised legal representative by 
registered post; by an electronic 
communication that is confirmed as 
having been received by the person; or by 
delivery, which can be placing a copy of 
the document on a surface in the 
presence of another person.

 –  for a body corporate: serving by registered 
post addressed to that body corporate at its 
registered office or principal place of 
business; or by an electronic 
communication that is confirmed as having 
been received by the body corporate. 

Attendance by audio visual link or audio link 
and electronic production of documents
•  In exercising specific powers under section 

12A(2)(d) and 13A(6) of the VI Act, the VI may 
specify that any attendance required of IBAC 
officers or a PIM is to be by audio or audio-
visual link and that documents are to be 
produced by secure electronic means. 

•  In the conduct of investigations under section 
47 of the VI Act, if the VI requires an officer of 
an agency to attend to answer questions or to 
produce documents, the VI may specify that 
the attendance is to be by audio or audio-
visual link and that documents are to be 
produced by secure electronic means.

•  Examinations under section 51 of the VI Act, 
which must be held in private, may be 
conducted by audio or audio-visual link  
and will be taken to be held in private.

•  A witness summons issued under section 53  
of the VI Act may specify that attendance 
required under the summons is to be in the 
manner described above (audio or audio-
visual link).

•  Under section 58 of the VI Act, an Australian 
legal practitioner representing a witness at  
an examination may do so by audio or  
audio-visual link.

•  Under section 59 of the VI Act, an interpreter,  
a parent or guardian or an independent 
person that may attend or be present at  
an examination, in the capacity specified  
in that section, may attend by means  
of audio or audio-visual link.

New oversight of the Wage 
Inspectorate Victoria
In June 2020 the Victorian Parliament passed  
the Wage Theft Bill 2020 (Vic), which will establish  
a new role for the VI overseeing the exercise  
of coercive powers by the Wage Inspectorate 
Victoria (WIV).

From 1 July 2021, under the Wage Theft Act 
2020, the VI will:
• Monitor the WIV’s exercise of coercive powers. 
•  Conduct own motion investigations into the 

WIV’s activities. 
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Education and 
communication 
initiatives
The VI, as a key oversight body in Victoria,  
is engaged across the Victorian public sector  
and within the community to not only increase 
public awareness of the VI’s role and functions  
but to also assist in developing a high level  
of public trust in the Victorian integrity system. 

Enhancing Community and 
Stakeholder Engagement 
In 2019-20 the VI has identified more ways  
to increase our influence and the understanding 
of our work. The VI has undertaken a range of work 
to assist in engaging and educating the public 
and other stakeholders on the VI’s role as a 
leading integrity oversight body. 

Digital Engagement 
In 2019-20, the VI launched its new website as 
part of DPC’s Single Digital Presence project (SDP). 
The website has created a comprehensive and 
informative one-stop-shop for the public and 
bodies to seek and understand information 
relating to the VI. 

In June 2020, the VI provided further transparency 
on its operations, publishing Integrity Response 
Guidelines 1, Public Interest Disclosure Guidelines 2 
and its Annual Plan for 2020-21.3 

Law Week 2020
In 2019-20, the VI once again participated in Law 
Week; an annual festival of events held in Victoria 
to help the public better understand the law. In 
May 2020, the impact of COVID-19 saw the event 
move to an online platform and provide new ways 
for the public to interact with the VI.

On 19 May 2020, the Inspector and the Executive 
Director, Legal and Integrity presented on the role 
of the VI in the Victorian integrity system via Zoom. 

The Inspector presented an overview of the 
Victorian integrity system including what the 
integrity system is, what its purpose is and how  
it is made up. The Executive Director provided  
a detailed overview of the Public Interest 
Disclosures Scheme including the recent 
amendments to the PID Act which commenced 
on 31 December 2019. The presentation included 
the key impact of the PID reforms on the VI’s 
obligations and responsibilities as well as practical 
examples of how someone can make a 
disclosure. 

Meeting of Inspectors, Parliamentary 
Commissioners and Reviewers
On 1 November 2019, the VI hosted the annual 
meeting of the Inspector ’s counterparts in other 
States and Territories. The meeting provided an 
opportunity to share and discuss issues arising 
across the varied jurisdictions.

Enhancing Staff Engagement
In 2019-20, the VI held another round of 
information sessions with key representatives from 
various entities in Victoria presenting on their role 
and the role of their organisation. VI staff were 
able to hear directly from leaders about 
comparable organisations, how they approach 
their functions, and how they address challenges. 
The VI hosted three successful bi-monthly seminars 
conducted by:
•  Justice Kenneth Hayne AC QC
•  The Honourable Margaret Stone, Inspector-

General of Intelligence and Security
•  Dr Michael Maguire CBE, Police Ombudsman 

for Northern Ireland (2012-19)

1  See page 16 of this report for detail on the Integrity Response Guidelines.
2  See page 47 of this report for detail on the Public Interest Disclosure Guidelines.
3 See page 24 of this report for detail on the Annual Plan.

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/annual-plans-victorian-inspectorate
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Top: November 2019 meeting of Inspectors,  
Parliamentary Commissioners and Reviewers
Above left: Justice Kenneth Hayne AC QC
Above right: The Honourable Margaret Stone,  
Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security
Left: Dr Michael Maguire CBE, Police Ombudsman  
for Northern Ireland (2012-19)



Year at a Glance

Education Activities

Investigation Activities Enquiries and complaints

Reports Private Recommendations

5 Inspection

Reports

3 In house

seminars

2 Integrity

Reports (Private)

2 Guidelines

published
3 OVIC

1 Integrity Report

 (monitoring project)

1
Presentation

3 VO

2019-20

2019-20

99 93 90

Complaints received

Complaints closed

Enquiries received
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2017-18

2017-18

116

77

*

2018-19

2018-19

127

86
69

4
Public Interest 

Disclosure 
Investigations

1
Investigation

2
Preliminary Inquiries

*  Note: The 2017-18 Annual Report did not report 
the number of complaints closed.

Inspections Coercive Power Notifications

890*

631 Controlled Operations

2 Counter-Terrorism

2 PIM Records 

2 Telephone Interception

3 Surveillance Devices

1,091

466

266

1,175

344

0

210

Reviewed

Preliminary Triage

Received

*  Note: The statistics for 2019-20 include notifications by 
the Victorian Ombudsman of voluntary appearances.



Complaints and 
enquiries overview

Overview
Under the VI Act, the VI can receive and 
investigate certain complaints4 made to it about: 
• IBAC or IBAC personnel 
• VO officers 
• Chief Examiner or Examiners 
• VAGO officers 
• OVIC officers

The VI can also receive disclosures under  
the PID Act about the following:
• IBAC or an IBAC officer
• a PIM
• a VO officer
• a VAGO officer
• the Chief Examiner or Examiners
•  a Judicial Commission officer, other than  

a judicial member of the Board of the  
Judicial Commission

• a Council or a member of Council staff
•  any other Victorian public officer or Victorian 

public body.5 

An enquiry is a contact from a member  
of the public seeking information about the  
VI’s complaint processes or wishing to provide 
information they believe to be relevant to the  

VI’s functions. An enquiry may or may not  
proceed to a complaint.

Each year, the VI receives numerous enquiries 
from persons seeking to complain about entities 
that fall outside the jurisdiction of the VI. Where 
possible, the VI assists in redirecting persons to 
relevant complaints processes and oversight 
bodies for their concerns. 

The VI considers that a complaint is made where 
it receives substantive information from a person 
who has demonstrated an intention to make  
a complaint to the VI about an entity within 
jurisdiction. The VI has an online form for this 
purpose, however it also receives complaints in 
other formats (including orally). The VI also records 
a complaint where a notification of a complaint  
is made to it pursuant to mandatory reporting 
obligations in the Ombudsman Act and the  
IBAC Act. 

In 2019-20, the VI received a total of 192 contacts 
comprising:
•  99 enquiries, a 22% decrease from 2018-19
•  93 complaints, a 6.5% increase from 2018-19

4 Refer to section 43 of the VI Act for a full description of the complaints that the VI can receive. 
5 Unless required to be made to another entity under section 14 or 17 of the PID Act. 

Enquiries Complaints

86 2018-19127 2018-19

93 2019-2099 2019-20
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6 A sixth complaint notified by IBAC under section 71 was already a complaint at the time of notification.
7  Section 43(3)(b) of the VI Act outlines the relevant sections of the Audit Act about which a person may  

make a complaint to the VI about non-compliance.
8  Section 43(9) of the VI Act outlines the types of complaints the VI may receive about OVIC. 
9  Pursuant to section 14(f)(iv) of the PID Act, a public interest disclosure about a Judicial Commissioner officer,  

other than a judicial member of the Board of the Judicial Commission, can be made to the VI.

Complaints notified or referred  
to the VI
Of the 93 complaints received by the VI, 86 were 
made directly to the VI by the complainant or their 
representative.

The VI received 7 complaints by notification  
or referral as follows: 
• 2 complaints were referred from the VO  

under section 16F of the Ombudsman Act.  
This provision requires the VO to notify or refer  
to the VI a complaint or referred matter that 
appears to involve the misconduct of a VO 
officer, IBAC or IBAC personnel, the Chief 
Examiner or an Examiner, or a VAGO officer. 

• 5 complaints about IBAC or an IBAC officer 
were notified from IBAC, as required by section 
71 of the IBAC Act.6 

The VI did not receive any notifications from VAGO 
under section 67 of the Audit Act.

Complaints and enquiries per body
This section details the number of approaches the  
VI received this year by the body or officers to whom 
they relate. 

At 30 June 2020, 4 complaints received 
during the year were the subject of an active 
Investigation or Preliminary Inquiry by the VI, and 
therefore the body or officers under investigation 
or assessment are not identified. These 4 
complaints are excluded from the number of 
complaints reported as received about a body.

Excluding those 4 complaints, the VI received  
82 jurisdictional complaints across the following 
bodies:
• 39 complaints about IBAC or IBAC officers
• 36 complaints about VO or VO officers
• 4 complaints about OVIC officers
• 1 complaint about a Chief Examiner  

or an Examiner
• 2 disclosures under the PID Act concerning  

two Victorian public sector agencies 

In addition, 7 complaints were received about 
entities over which the VI had limited jurisdiction  
at the time the complaint was received. Of these:
• 1 complaint was about VAGO, but the matter 

did not concern improper conduct or 
detrimental action, or VAGO’s exercise or 
purported exercise of coercive powers, or its 
compliance with relevant provisions of the 
Audit Act.7 

• 5 complaints received in 2020 related to  
OVIC officers but no longer fell within the VI’s 
jurisdiction, as they did not concern its exercise 
or purported exercise of coercive powers.8 
Changes to the VI’s jurisdiction with respect to 
OVIC are explained on page 66 of this report. 

• 1 complaint was about the Judicial 
Commission, but the matter did not amount  
to a disclosure of improper conduct or 
detrimental action.9 

With regard to enquiries, the VI received  
99 enquiries this year, with 58 enquiries about  
the following entities being within jurisdiction:
• 24 about IBAC or IBAC officers
• 24 about the VO or VO officers
• 6 about OVIC or OVIC officers
• 3 about both IBAC and the VO (or their officers) 
• 1 about a Chief Examiner or an Examiner

Further, the VI also received 5 enquiries from 
persons seeking information about the VI, as well 
as 36 enquiries that concerned public bodies or 
matters outside jurisdiction and, where available, 
these enquiries were predominantly redirected  
to appropriate complaints, investigations or 
regulatory bodies.

Year on year comparison
Over the last six years, the number of complaints 
received by the VI has increased by 93.75%.
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Graph A
Complaints

Complaint Outcomes
In 2019-20, the VI closed 90 complaints, which  
is an increase on the 69 closed in the 2018-19 
financial year. Of those complaints that were 
closed, 56 were received during the reporting  
year and 34 were carried over from 2018-19. 

The outcomes of the 93 complaints received 
during the reporting year about IBAC, the VO  
and OVIC are summarised below for each body. 
The one complaint each received about the 
Judicial Commission and VAGO were out of 
jurisdiction. The one complaint received about  
a Chief Examiner or an Examiner remained open 
at the end of the reporting period in addition to  
4 complaints which proceeded to be subject of 
investigation or preliminary inquiry, and remain 
open at 30 June 2020.

Figure B
Overview of complaints to the VI

93  
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resulting  
in active VI 
operations

39 
IBAC

36 
VO

9 
OVIC

1 each  
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and JCV
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Figure D 
Ombudsman complaints to the VI during 2019-20

Figure C 
IBAC complaints to the VI during 2019-20
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Figure E 
OVIC complaints to the VI in 2019-20
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Outcomes of complaints ongoing at 30 June 2019
In addition to the matters received and actioned during 2019-20,  
the VI closed 34 complaints that were commenced in the 2018-19 
financial year. The VI reports the following outcomes for those complaints:  

Figure F 
2018-19 complaints closed in 2019-20
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Integrity Reports
This year the VI made two private Integrity Reports 
on complaints, one each to IBAC and to OVIC’s 
Deputy Commissioner, Public Access, with the 
latter containing three private recommendations. 
These major pieces of work were an opportunity 
for the VI to approach its complaints functions  
with a more strategic methodology. The reports 
located individual complaints and findings within 
the context of the themes that emerge from 
looking broadly at the complaints data the VI 
holds about each agency. In each case, the 
reports noted the productive engagement 
undertaken by agency officers with the VI during 
the year. More information about these Integrity 
Reports is included on pages 54 (IBAC) and 67 
(OVIC) of this report. 

How the VI assesses complaints 
The VI acknowledges its receipt of each 
complaint, usually by written correspondence. 

The VI will then assess each complaint, including: 
• Whether it is a disclosure under the PID Act that 

meets the threshold for notification to IBAC  
as an assessable disclosure, or, if the disclosure 
is about IBAC or a PIM, the VI assesses to 
determine whether or not it is a public  
interest complaint.

• Whether the complaint is within the VI’s 
jurisdiction. If not, the VI will usually redirect  
a complainant to the appropriate body.  
The VI frequently receives complaints about  
the decisions made by the VO or IBAC in their 
handling of complainants’ allegations. The  
VI’s complaints functions are limited in that it 
cannot reconsider a body’s decisions, so often 
the VI needs to clarify its role for complainants 
where they have not identified any deficiency 
in the process undertaken by the VO or IBAC  
to assess their allegations. 

• If the complaint is within the VI’s jurisdiction, 
whether there is evidence to substantiate the 
complainant’s allegations. To do so, the VI will 
typically request information or records from the 
relevant body to consider all the relevant facts. 

• The VI conducts an assessment of information 
supplied by the complainant and the relevant 
body. 

In 2020, the IALA Act and the PID Act introduced 
some important changes to how the VI 
approaches its complaint handling functions. First, 
the VI is now able to require that a complaint be 
made to it in writing. While the VI’s policy of 
providing accessible, no-cost methods for persons 
to lodge their complaints has not changed, this 
provision enabled the VI to modify its receipt of 
complaints during the exceptional circumstances 
of COVID-19, where staff were not able to take 
phone calls from the office premises. Second,  
the PID Act enabled disclosers to report to the  
VI improper conduct or detrimental action about 
most Victorian public officers or bodies. This has 
required the VI’s Integrity Operations and Policy 
team to widen its lens upon receiving information 
from persons in contact with the VI, to consider 
whether the PID Act is engaged. 

Also this year, the VI published on its website the 
principles that guide how it handles complaints. 
These principles set out that the VI will: 
• Provide accessible, no-cost and simple 

methods for complainants 
• Acknowledge and progress complaints  

as quickly as possible
• Provide transparent information about  

how complaints are assessed
• Protect the privacy of complainant information 

as required by law
• Treat everyone involved in a way that  

is objective, respectful and fair
• Consider and respect human rights
• Promote accountability for decisions 
• Act on issues identified through assessing 

complaints by engaging with bodies to 
achieve improvements in the integrity system. 

Unless determined to be public interest 
complaints10, only a small number of complaints 
received by the VI will proceed to a preliminary 
inquiry, investigation or inquiry. The majority of 
complaints will be finalised with one (or multiple) 
of the following outcomes: 
• Where the VI finds insufficient evidence to support 

a complainant’s allegations, the VI will write to the 
complainant explaining how it has reached that 
conclusion and why the VI will not take any further 
action. The VI may also communicate that 
outcome to the relevant body. 

10  See the PID section of this report on page 48 for detail about public interest complaints.
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• The VI may not take any further action that  
is specific to a complaint, but it may pursue 
general or structural improvements with the 
relevant body, such as changes to policies  
or procedures.

• The VI may make a specific suggestion or 
request to the body that is the subject of the 
complaint, where a deficiency is identified that 
might be remedied with straightforward action. 
An example of this type of response is where 
the VI finds that a body has not addressed  
one of the complainant’s allegations.

Further information about complaint handling  
is available on the VI’s website: www.vic.gov.au/
vicinspectorate/complaints/making-a-complaint. 

Impact of COVID-19 on complaints
Restrictions associated with the COVID-19 
pandemic required the VI to activate business 
continuity arrangements and to have a very 
minimal staff presence in the office for a period  
of over three months during 2019-20. This 
significantly impacted the VI’s progress on 
complaints that were open in March 2020, and 
some that were received after that time, and also 
meant the VI’s phone line was temporarily closed. 
The VI contacted all complainants to advise them 
of these impacts, and the likelihood of delays  
in the VI resolving their concerns. 

It was also necessary for the VI to engage with 
agencies to arrange alternative methods for the 
transmission of records requested by the VI. 

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/make-complaint-about-victorian-integrity-body
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/make-complaint-about-victorian-integrity-body
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Overview
The VI can investigate a complaint and can also 
initiate own motion investigations. The VI may 
conduct a preliminary inquiry to determine 
whether to commence an investigation, during 
which the VI will typically request and assess 
information from the oversighted body.

 The VI must investigate a public interest complaint 
– refer to the Public Interest Disclosures section on 
page 47 of this report for more information about 
the VI’s functions under the PID Act. 

The VI may consider that a matter arises from  
an investigation which warrants the conduct  
of an inquiry into that matter. This empowers  
the VI to examine witnesses and compel the 
production of information. 

An examination takes place when a person is 
summonsed by the VI to give evidence and/or  
to produce documents or things. Examinations  
are conducted on oath or affirmation and, as with 
the investigation itself, may be made subject to  
a confidentiality notice. The VI may direct a 
person summonsed not to engage a particular 
legal representative (though the person may 
engage another legal representative). This may 
occur, for example, if the legal representative  
is already representing another witness in the 
same investigation. The direction would avoid  
a conflict of interest.

An interview takes place when a person attends  
at the VI’s office to answer questions without being 
summonsed. Officers of bodies overseen by the VI 
can be required to attend before the VI to answer 
questions or produce documents to the VI in 
relation to an investigation conducted by the VI. 

Investigations  
and Inquiries

VI’s investigatory options

Conduct preliminary inquiry  

(to determine whether to conduct investigation)

Conduct investigation 
(into complaint or own motion) 
• issue confidentiality notices (see page 39) 
• full and free access to agency records 
•  require agency officers to give information/ 

attend to answer questions and/or produce 
documents or things

Hold inquiry  
(into any matter arising  
out of investigation)
•  issue witness 

summons
•  hold private 

examination
•  enter and search 

agency premises

Integrity Response 

(see Figure A on page 18) 
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2019-20 Activities
This year the VI:
• Completed one investigation that was 

ongoing at 30 June 2019. 
• Completed one preliminary inquiry  

that was ongoing at 30 June 2019. 
• Continued one investigation and its 

inquiry into a protected disclosure complaint. 
During 2019-20, the VI issued nine 
summonses and five confidentiality 
notices to persons in this inquiry. The 
investigation and inquiry remained  
ongoing at 30 June 2020. 

• Commenced one preliminary inquiry 
initiated from a complaint which remained 
ongoing at 30 June 2020.

• Commenced one investigation into  
a protected disclosure complaint under the  
PD Act between 1 July and 31 December 
2019. This investigation remained ongoing  
at 30 June 2020. 

• Commenced two investigations into three 
public interest complaints under the PID Act 
between 1 January to 30 June 2020.  
Both investigations remained ongoing  
at 30 June 2020. 

In 2019-20, the VI did not make a request to  
a body for reasonable assistance under section 48 
of the VI Act or make any directions restricting legal 
representatives in relation to a witness summons.

Preliminary 
inquiry  

ongoing from 
2018-19

2 investigations ongoing  
from 2018-19

Preliminary Inquiry  
closed in 2019-20

1 investigation 
completed 2019-20

1 protected 
disclosure (PD) 

investigation and 
inquiry

9 x Summons and  
5 CNs issued in 

2019-20

Integrity Response  
ongoing

3 private 
recommendations 

made to VO

PD investigation/
inquiry  

ongoing at 30 June 
2020

Preliminary 
inquiry  

commenced 
2019-20

3 investigations  
commenced  

2019-20

Preliminary Inquiry  
ongoing at  

30 June 2020

Investigations commenced from  
1 PD complaint and 3 public interest 

complaints*

*3 complaints resulted in 2 investigations  

due to overlapping issues

3 investigations ongoing  
as at 30 June 2020

Outcomes of Investigations
In 2019-20, the VI delivered the following 
investigative outcomes: 
• One own motion investigation was completed. 

This investigation was initiated on the VI’s own 
motion into the conduct of VO officers in 
respect of the exercise of coercive powers  
and compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements in its finalising of an investigation 
report. Three private recommendations were 
made to the VO in relation to this investigation. 
More information on the outcome of this 
investigation can be found on pages 61 to 62  
of this report.

• One preliminary inquiry was completed. This 
preliminary inquiry looked into the concurrent 
exercise of two coercive powers by VO officers, 
being an inspection under section 21 of the 
Ombudsman Act, and the return of a summons 
at the same time and date as the inspection. 
This matter did not proceed to a full 
investigation, as the VI and the VO agreed  
on the relevant facts and agreed to apply  
a joint legal advice on those powers. More 
information on the outcome of this preliminary 
inquiry can be found on page 61 of this report.

Figure G 
2019-20 Activities



Overview
One of the VI’s core functions is to oversight the 
use of coercive powers – powers that limit the 
freedoms and rights of individuals – by Victorian 
integrity, accountability and investigatory bodies. 
The VI is required to be notified of uses of coercive 
powers by IBAC, the VO, the Office of the Chief 
Examiner (OCE), OVIC, VAGO and the Judicial 
Commission. These bodies, other than the Judicial 
Commission, must provide copies of relevant 
instruments, transcripts and recordings of 
compulsory examinations (or interviews) which  
are retained and may be reviewed by the VI. 

In the case of IBAC, the VO, OVIC and VAGO, 
these powers include: 
• Issuing a summons or notice to a person 

requiring them to give evidence at a 
compulsory examination, to appear for 
compulsory questioning, or to produce 
documents or things. IBAC must also notify  
the VI where it determines to conduct an 
examination in public. 

• Issuing a confidentiality notice prohibiting  
a person from disclosing information about  
a matter being investigated, or that a 
summons or notice has been issued.  
The VI is also required to be notified of the 
cancellation of a confidentiality notice. 

• Compulsorily examining or questioning  
a person. 

IBAC must also notify the VI where it exercises 
certain other powers: 
• Making directions about Australian legal 

practitioners, including that a specified  
witness is prohibited from engaging  
a practitioner. 

• Issuing a warrant for the arrest of a person  
for failing to appear for examination or for 
otherwise being in contempt of IBAC.

The VI also receives notifications from the Chief 
Examiner, pursuant to the MCIP Act, of the exercise 
of their examination powers pursuant to a 
coercive powers order. Coercive powers orders 
are issued by the Supreme Court, following 
applications which must be approved by the  
CCP (or their delegate); these orders authorise  
the use of coercive examinations for the purpose 
of investigating one or more organised crime 
offences. 

Notifications received in 2019-20
In 2019-20, the VI received 890 coercive power 
notifications. This is a reduction on the 1091 
coercive power notifications received in 2018-19, 
likely resulting from the reduced exercise of 
coercive powers by some bodies during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

The majority of coercive power notifications were 
received from IBAC. The notifications received 
from the VO include recordings of voluntary 
appearances.

Coercive power 
notifications

OCE 14%

VO 19%

OVIC <1%

JCV 1.5%

IBAC 65%
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11  Includes 2 confidentiality notices that were issued but not served. 
12  The 1 January 2020 amendment to the VO Act changed the section under which recordings are notified.
13  Note that in the six months 1 January to 30 June 2020, the VI received recordings of both compulsory appearances,  

and voluntary appearances, which were notified to the VI pursuant to s 26FB of the VO Act. In this Annual Report a total  
figure is given. In future Annual Reports the VI will report separately on compulsory and voluntary appearances. 

14  Comprised 1 notification report advising of 13 exercises of powers.

Table B below details the type of coercive  
power notifications received from each body. 

Note that as a result of amendments to the 
Ombudsman Act that came into effect on  
1 January 2020, a majority of the recordings  
sent to the VI after that date were of voluntary 
appearances where the witness had taken an 
oath or made an affirmation that had previously 
been compulsory appearances. In future Annual 
Reports the VI will report the discrete number  
of these recordings received.

Table B

IBAC – IBAC ACT 18/19 19/20

s 43 Confidentiality notices issued 142 37 11

s 43 Confidentiality notices cancelled 99 74

s 59G Summons, preliminary enquiry 63 52

s 122 Summons 378 353

s 134 Recordings 101 65

s 128 Direction to lawyer 0 0

s 117(5) Public hearing 1 1

Total 784 582

VO – OMBUDSMAN ACT

s 26E Confidentiality notices issued 35 28

s 26E Confidentiality notices cancelled 26 38

s 18A Summons 22 17

s 18F(7)/ 
s 18Q12 Recordings13 68 83

Total 151 166

OVIC – FOI ACT 18/19 19/20

s 61ZD Notice to produce documents 0 1

Total 0 1

OCE – MCIP ACT

s 52 Summons or Orders (CE) 78 71

s 53 Recordings 68 56

SCV issued Summons (Supreme Court) 0 1

Total 146 128

JCV – JCV ACT

s 66(1)
Exercise of Coercive Power  
by Investigating Panel

10 13 14

s 66(2)
Medical examination required  
by Judicial Commission

0 0

Total 10 13

TOTAL ALL BODIES 1,091 890
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Monitoring the use of coercive 
powers
Amendments to the VI Act came into effect from 
1 January 2020, making it clear that the VI has  
a discretion to review notifications. Where the  
VI does exercise that discretion, the VI is then 
required to assess:
• Whether the notification is compliant with  

the legislation governing the integrity body.
• Whether a requirement by an integrity body  

for a person to produce documents or things 
may reasonably be considered as assisting  
the body to achieve the purposes of its 
investigation. 

• Whether the questioning of a person attending 
the integrity body for an examination may 
reasonably be considered as assisting the 
body to achieve the purposes of the 
investigation to which the examination  
relates.

In its 2018-19 Annual Report, the VI described  
its new process for reviewing coercive powers 
notifications, to ensure it acquits these 
requirements. 

In general terms, the VI’s current approach 
includes: 
• Making and maintaining registers and records 

of the notifications it receives from bodies, 
which include copies of summonses and 
notices issued to witnesses, and audio or  
video recordings of examinations.

• A preliminary triage, where notifications are 
prioritised depending on the presence of risk  
or strategic oversight factors, such as those 
associated with an investigation, a witness,  
or the type of coercive power to be exercised 
by a body. 

• Where a notification is reviewed, the VI  
assesses whether the body has complied with 
applicable statutory requirements in exercising 
the coercive power that has been notified. 
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Graph B
Six year comparison of statutory notifications received by the VI 
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Once the VI has completed reviewing a 
notification it may take any appropriate action 
with respect to non-compliance or other issues  
it identifies by:
• Engaging and/or corresponding with the body 

to request further information, or report the 
identification of non-compliance. 

• Reviewing other notifications, or other 
information available to the VI, to consider 
whether a body is systemically non-compliant, 
or at risk of infringing the rights of individuals  
in the future.

• Seeking rectification of non-compliance.
• Considering initiating a monitoring project, 

preliminary inquiry, or an investigation, where 
significant issues or risks are found. 

Given the large volume of notifications it receives, 
and the VI’s limited staff resources, the VI reported 
in 2018-19 that it had transitioned to a strategic 
approach to prioritising notifications for review.  
This year, the VI’s monitoring of coercive powers 
was additionally impacted by its work on a 
substantial database upgrade project and, in the 
final quarter of the year, restrictions resulting from 
the COVID-19 pandemic (described below). 

The VI is expecting to complete major 
enhancements to the database it uses in the 
administration of notification records in 2020-21, 
which will achieve improved information 
management practices and data analysis  
and reporting capabilities. 

Impact of COVID-19 pandemic
From mid-March to end June 2020, the  
VI’s receipt and review of coercive powers 
notifications was impacted in important respects 
by government restrictions imposed in response  
to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The administrative work involved in the delivery, 
custody and registration of notification records 
needed to be modified when staff (both VI and 
agency staff) commenced working remotely 
during the pandemic. The VI engaged with IBAC 
and VO to establish secure electronic methods for 
the transmission of notification reports and media. 

Due to limitations on staff access to security 
classified notification records as a result of remote 
working arrangements, the VI was unable to 
complete its usual triage and review activities 
during the final quarter of the 2019-20 year. The 
Inspector considered documents as they were 
delivered to identify any risks. 

Reviews of coercive power 
notifications 
Preliminary Triage
The VI considers the priority level of all notifications, 
which may vary according to the type of 
notification, likelihood or history of compliance,  
and the presence of risk or strategic oversight 
factors, such as those associated with an 
investigation, a witness, or the type of coercive 
power to be exercised by a body.

As a ‘preliminary triage’ on as many notifications  
as resources permit, the VI conducts an expedited 
consideration of both the nexus between the use  
of the coercive power and the body’s investigation, 
and the scope of the power exercised – to 
determine whether it appears to be a reasonably 
appropriate use of the power. Preliminary triage was 
applied to approximately 25% of the notifications 
the VI received in 2019-20. 

Table C provides a breakdown of the types  
of notifications subject to a preliminary triage  
in this period.

Table C

2019-20 Preliminary Triage

Confidentiality notices 43

Summons / Orders 166

Examinations / recordings 1

Total 210
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Reviews
This year the VI received 890 coercive power 
notifications. 

The VI fully reviewed 7% of these (63) instruments 
and hearings as detailed in Table D. 

Table D

2019-20 Reviews

Received 
for review Reviewed

%  
Reviewed

Confidentiality notices 177 4 2%

Summons/Orders/Notices 495 27 5%

Examinations/recordings 204 30 15%

Public hearing notice 1 1 100%

Other (JCV) 115 1 100%

Total 87816 63 7%

Issues raised 
This year the VI identified and responded to a 
number of issues associated with the use by IBAC, 
VO, OCE and OVIC of coercive powers. These are 
discussed in each body’s section of this report.  
A case study on the public hearings in Operation 
Sandon is on page 43.

15   Note that the VI received 1 notification from the JCV of 13 exercises of coercive powers. This is recorded as 1 review 
of 1 notification, as distinct from the number of instances that coercive powers were exercised reported in Table B. 

16  As per note 5 above – this reduces the total number of notifications able to be reviewed from 890 to 878.
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In November 2019, the VI received a 
notification from IBAC under section 117(5)  
of the IBAC Act, explaining IBAC’s decision  
to hold public hearings in relation to an IBAC 
investigation known as Operation Sandon.

Operation Sandon focused on allegations of 
serious corrupt conduct in relation to planning 
and property development decisions at the 
City of Casey council. After making private 
recommendations to IBAC following the VI’s 
monitoring and attendance during the 2019 
public hearings in Operation Gloucester, the  
VI monitored IBAC’s progress in implementing 
those recommendations in the Operation 
Sandon public hearings. Prior to the hearings, 
the VI informed IBAC of its monitoring plan, 
foreshadowing that the level of feedback 
would be limited due to the VI’s resource 
constraints.

The VI was in attendance for the first two  
days of the hearings, with a combination  
of live monitoring and transcript reviews  
for subsequent hearings. A VI officer was  
in attendance for the swearing in of each  
new witness, to allow the VI to deliver timely, 
targeted and proportionate feedback  
to IBAC if required. 

The VI observed the implementation  
of improvements to IBAC’s procedures  
and practices stemming from the 
recommendations made during Operation 
Gloucester, including information provided to 
witnesses during hearings and witness welfare 
practices. In February 2020, the VI informed 
IBAC of its intention not to raise formal 
observations at that stage. 

The VI was pleased to provide an ‘in principle’ 
view when IBAC sought feedback on an issue 
relating to the public hearings in Operation 
Sandon. 

The public hearings were adjourned on  
17 March 2020 until further notice as a 
precautionary measure in consideration  
of issues of public health due to the onset  
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The VI will  
continue to engage with IBAC when the 
hearings recommence. 

Case Study – Operation Sandon Public Hearings
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Oversight of use of 
telecommunications interception, 
surveillance devices, controlled 
operations and counter-terrorism 
powers
The VI has inspections functions with respect  
to the use by Victorian integrity, accountability  
or investigatory bodies of covert or intrusive 
investigatory powers. 

The VI performs these functions by: 
• Inspecting records of relevant bodies.
• Responding to identified issues, including 

making formal findings of non-compliance  
and recommendations to prevent breaches  
of the law.

• Reporting the outcomes of the VI’s inspections 
to chief officers of bodies and Ministers, and  
to Parliament where required by the applicable 
legislation.

During 2019-20, the VI conducted a reduced 
number of inspections compared to previous 
financial years. This was due to a number of 
inspections being postponed in response to 
workplace restrictions introduced from mid-March 
2020 due to COVID-19. These restrictions impacted 
the inspection of telecommunications 
interception, surveillance device and controlled 
operations records during the period. 

Telecommunications interception  
In Victoria, there are two bodies empowered by 
the Telecommunications (Interception and 
Access) Act 1979 (Cth) (TIA Act) to intercept 
telecommunications under the authority of a 
warrant, and to use and communicate lawfully 
intercepted information. The two bodies are 
Victoria Police and IBAC. 

Reports are made under the TISP Act and are not 
publicly available. Reports are sent to the chief 
officers of each body, the Police Minister (with 
respect to Victoria Police) and the Attorney-
General (the Minister responsible for IBAC). The 
Police Minister and State Attorney-General must 
then forward the reports to the Commonwealth 
Attorney-General (as the Minister responsible  
for the TIA Act). 

In 2019-20 the VI completed one inspection round 
at each of IBAC and Victoria Police, and lodged 
its report on the results of the inspections 
conducted during 2018-19 with the requisite 
recipients within the statutory timeframe. Whilst  
the VI usually conducts two inspections at each 
agency, as required by the TISP Act, in 2020 this 
requirement was modified by the COVID-19 
Omnibus (Emergency Measures) (Integrity 
Entities) Regulations 2020, which permitted  
the VI to conduct the second inspection as soon 
as practicable after 1 July 2020. At 30 June 2020, 
the VI had commenced, but not completed,  
a second inspection at Victoria Police. 

Surveillance devices 
Under the Surveillance Devices Act 1999  
(SD Act), the VI has oversight of the use of 
surveillance devices by Victorian State bodies.  
The following five bodies are permitted to apply 
for warrants to use optical, listening, tracking and 
data surveillance devices for the purpose of 
investigating offences: 
• Victoria Police
• IBAC
• GMA
• VFA
• DELWP 

Inspections 
overview
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The SD Act requires the VI to inspect the records  
of those bodies from time to time, and to report 
the results of inspections to each House of the 
Parliament as soon as practicable after 1 January 
and 1 July of each year. A copy of the report is 
required to be provided to the Attorney-General  
at the time it is transmitted to the Parliament. 

In 2019-20 the VI conducted one inspection  
of the records of Victoria Police, IBAC and DELWP. 
No inspections were conducted at the GMA and 
VFA since neither agency had any surveillance 
device warrants for the relevant period. 

The VI tabled its report on the outcomes  
of inspections conducted in the period  
1 July to 31 December 2019 in Parliament,  
as the SD Act requires.

Controlled operations 
A controlled operation is a covert investigation 
method used by law enforcement bodies.  
It involves authorised participants (predominantly 
law enforcement officers, but sometimes a 
civilian) covertly obtaining evidence to support  
the prosecution of an offence. For this purpose 
and subject to strict controls, a participant may 
need to engage in conduct which, but for the 
controlled operations authority, would be unlawful. 
Under the legislation a controlled operations 
authority may be granted by a body head  
(or their delegate) which indemnifies authorised 
participants against liability for such unlawful 
conduct. 

The power to conduct controlled operations  
is governed by the:
• Crimes (Controlled Operations) Act 2004  

(CCO Act) in respect of Victoria Police  
and IBAC. 

• Fisheries Act 1995 (Fisheries Act) in respect  
of VFA. 

• Wildlife Act 1975 (Wildlife Act) in respect  
of DELWP and the GMA.

The VI is required to inspect the records of the 
above bodies, and it also receives biannual 
reports from each body’s chief officer on their 
controlled operations activities during the six-
monthly period. The VI reports to the relevant 
Ministers and to the Parliament on the work, 
activities and level of compliance with statutory 
requirements achieved by each body. 

In 2019-20 the VI inspected Victoria Police records, 
however since IBAC, DELWP, VFA and the GMA had 
not conducted controlled operations activities, the 
VI did not review any records at these bodies. 

As the VI includes in its inspection report an 
assessment of compliance by each body’s chief 
officer with their reporting obligations, the VI 
finalises and tables its inspection report following 
receipt of the chief officers’ reports due by the 
end of August each year. In March 2020 the VI 
tabled a report in Parliament on each bodies’ 
compliance with controlled operations legislation 
for the 2018-19 year. 

Counter-terrorism 
The TCP Act permits Victoria Police to exercise 
certain exceptional powers for the purpose of 
preventing or responding to acts of terrorism and 
assigns an inspections role to the VI for the 
purpose of providing independent oversight of the 
use of these counter-terrorism powers. 

The VI conducted bi-annual inspections of Victoria 
Police records under the TCP Act during 2019-20 in 
accordance with statutory requirements, although 
Victoria Police had not exercised the powers. 

In 2019-20, the VI delivered two reports on the 
results of its bi-annual inspections to both Houses 
of Parliament as well as to the Minister. Whilst both 
reports commented positively on the preparatory 
activities undertaken by Victoria Police to support 
compliance with the TCP Act, the earlier tabled 
report that gives the result of the inspection 
conducted during 2018-19 also reported on 
compliance issues with records associated with 
the execution of, and reporting on, one covert 
search warrant. Further information about this 
report is included on page 74 of this report. 

The VI’s report on the results of its second 
inspection conducted during 2019-20, which 
contains updates on Victoria Police’s procedural, 
training and preparatory activities, will be made to 
Parliament and the Minister as soon as practicable 
after 1 July 2020.
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PIM records
The role of the PIM is to appear at hearings in 
which law enforcement officers apply for the use 
of certain coercive or covert powers and to test 
the content and sufficiency of the information 
relied on in the applications. The VI is required  
to inspect certain records kept by the PIM and  
to report on the outcomes of inspections to the 
Attorney-General at least once a year. 

In 2019-20, VI officers conducted biannual 
inspections of records held by the PIM. The  
VI reported on the results of its inspections  
to the Minister within the statutory timeframe, 
being three months after each inspection  
was conducted. 

Further details of the VI’s inspections are given  
at page 72 of this report. 
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Overview
For the first six months of the reporting period, the 
disclosure scheme was governed by the PD Act. 
The operation of this scheme is detailed in the 
2018-19 Annual Report, including the changes  
to the scheme from the passing of the IALA Act. 
Those changes commenced on 31 December 
2019, including changing the name of the PD  
Act to the PID Act.

The PID Act expanded the VI’s jurisdiction to 
receive and investigate public interest disclosures. 
The amendments also enabled individuals to 
make public interest disclosures to the VI about  
a PIM, and to make public interest disclosures 
about the VI and VI officers to the Integrity and 
Oversight Committee of the Parliament. Other 
changes include simplifying confidentiality 
obligations to facilitate access to support services.

The PID Act establishes a framework for individuals 
to make ‘public interest disclosures’ – also known 
as whistleblowing. A public interest disclosure is a 
report of (a) improper conduct by a person, public 
official or public body, or (b) detrimental action by 
a public official or a public body. ‘Improper 
conduct’ and ‘detrimental action’  
are defined under the PID Act. 

Reporting improper conduct and detrimental 
action is important to maintain the integrity of  
the Victorian Public Sector as it enables corruption 
and other types of misconduct to be identified, 
investigated and, where possible, rectified and 
prevented.

It takes courage to speak up and make a 
disclosure about improper conduct by a public 
official or public body. For the scheme to be 
effective, those who shine a spotlight on 
wrongdoing in public life need to be confident 
they will be protected from reprisals.

The PID Act protects individuals who make public 
interest disclosures in accordance with the PID Act. 
Under Part 6, the PID Act protects the person 
making the public interest disclosure from reprisals, 
as well as from a range of civil and criminal 
proceedings that might otherwise have flowed 
from making their disclosure. Part 7 of the PID Act 
protects the discloser by making the identity of the 
discloser confidential, along with the content  
of their disclosure. 

The PID Act also imposes obligations on agencies 
that receive public interest disclosures to assess 
and properly handle those disclosures. 

The VI’s role
The VI’s commitment

The VI encourages and supports the reporting 
and prevention of corruption and other 
misconduct within the Victorian Public Sector.

The VI will take all appropriate steps to help  
facilitate the making, handling, notification and 
investigation of public interest disclosures and the 
protection of persons from reprisals for making 
those disclosures in accordance with the VI’s 
obligations under the PID Act.

The VI also expects the highest standards of 
integrity from its own officers and the other 
integrity, accountability and investigatory bodies 
and officers that it oversights and will take all 
appropriate steps to uphold this integrity.

The procedures established by the VI under Part 9  
of the PID Act to facilitate the making of disclosures, 
the handling of those disclosures, and, where 
appropriate, the notification of those disclosures  
to an appropriate entity, are published on the VI’s 
website in the Public Interest Disclosures: 
Guidelines for making and handling public 
interest disclosures. See www.vicinspectorate.vic.
gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate. 

Public Interest 
Disclosures 

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
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Receiving public interest disclosures
The VI plays an important role under the PID Act  
as it is responsible for receiving, assessing and 
investigating disclosures that relate to: 
• IBAC or an IBAC officer; or
• A PIM.

The VI must assess such disclosures and determine 
whether they constitute a ‘public interest 
complaint’ (explained below). 

The VI may also receive public interest disclosures 
that relate to: 
• The Chief Examiner or an Examiner  

(IBAC may also receive such disclosures).
• An Ombudsman officer (IBAC may also  

receive such disclosures).
• A VAGO officer (IBAC may also receive  

such disclosures).
• An officer of the Judicial Commission, other 

than a judicial member of the Board of the 
Judicial Commission (IBAC may also receive 
such disclosures).

• A Victorian public officer or Victorian public 
body unless the disclosure is required to be 
made to another entity under section 14  
or 17 of the PID Act. 

The VI must notify such a disclosure to IBAC  
for assessment under section 21 of the PID Act,  
if the VI considers that the disclosure shows or 
tends to show, or that the person making the 
disclosure believes on reasonable grounds that 
the disclosure shows or tends to show, that: 
• A person, public officer or public body has 

engaged, is engaging or proposes to engage 
in improper conduct; or

• A public officer or public body has taken,  
is taking or proposes to take detrimental  
action against a person in contravention  
of section 45 of the PID Act.

IBAC must refer a public interest complaint  
to the VI if it considers that its subject matter is 
relevant to the performance of the VI’s duties and 
functions or the exercise of its powers and it would 
be more appropriate for it to be investigated by 
the VI rather than by IBAC. 

Receiving misdirected disclosures
The VI may, in some circumstances, receive  
a misdirected disclosure – a public interest 
disclosure that should have been made to 
another agency, but the person making the 
disclosure honestly believed that the VI was an 
appropriate entity to which to make the disclosure.

The VI is required to notify the misdirected 
disclosure to the appropriate entity for assessment 
if it meets the threshold for notification under 
section 21 of the PID Act. 

Assessing public interest disclosures
Within a ‘reasonable time’ after receiving a public 
interest disclosure about IBAC, an IBAC officer or a 
PIM, the VI must assess the disclosure to determine 
whether it constitutes a public interest complaint. 

A public interest disclosure is determined to be  
a public interest complaint if the VI considers  
(or in the case of a referral from IBAC, if IBAC 
considers) it shows or tends to show, or the VI  
(or IBAC) considers the person making the 
disclosure believes on reasonable grounds  
that the disclosure shows or tends to show, that: 
• A person, public officer or public body has 

engaged, is engaging or proposes to engage 
in improper conduct; or

• A public officer or public body has taken,  
is taking or proposes to take detrimental  
action against a person in contravention  
of section 45 of the PID Act.

Investigating public interest complaints
The VI must investigate a public interest complaint 
under section 44(2) of the VI Act. The VI conducts 
such investigations in accordance with the VI Act.

All reasonable steps will be taken by the VI to 
protect disclosers from any detrimental action  
in reprisal for making their disclosure. The VI will 
also afford natural justice to the subject of the 
disclosure to the extent it is legally possible.
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Oversight and monitoring
The VI also has the following monitoring and 
oversight functions in relation to the framework 
established by the PID Act:
• Overseeing the performance by IBAC  

of its functions under the PID Act, including  
its compliance with the PID Act.

• Reviewing the procedures established by IBAC, 
the Judicial Commission and the VO under  
Part 9 of the PID Act and the implementation  
of those procedures. 

Judicial Commission 
This year, the VI commenced a review of  
the procedures established by the Judicial 
Commission under section 58 of the PID Act.  
This review is discussed in the Judicial Commission 
section of this report, at pages 70 to 71.

VO
The VI reviewed and provided feedback on the 
VO’s procedures under the former PD Act in the 
last reporting period. The VO advised the VI that  
it would utilise the feedback provided when 
updating its procedures to reflect the reforms 
made to the PD Act under the IALA Act. See below 
regarding the VI’s liaison with the VO and IBAC on 
the new scheme. 

IBAC
In the last reporting period, the VI published  
an Integrity Report, Monitoring Project on IBAC: 
Protected Disclosures. IBAC accepted or partially 
accepted the feedback provided in that report  
to improve how IBAC performs its functions of 
receiving assessable disclosures, assessing 
disclosures and determining whether the 
disclosures are protected disclosure complaints. 

Due to the new PID scheme commencing on  
31 December 2019 and the VI’s limited resources, 
the VI did not directly monitor IBAC’s response to 
that report or its broader performance under the 
PID Act. 

The VI focussed this year on contributing to the 
consistent implementation of the new PID Act.  
The VI observed IBAC take a lead role in helping 
the Victorian Public Sector prepare for and 
implement the new PID scheme through the 
Public Interest Disclosure Consultation Group 
(PIDCG). At the VI’s request, IBAC hosted a 
meeting with officers of the VI and the VO 

regarding implementation issues to help ensure 
consistent implementation of the new PID Act.  
The VI will continue to work with IBAC and the  
VO to seek appropriate legislative reform to help 
streamline the operation of the PID scheme.

The VI did not make any recommendations  
under section 63 of the PID Act.

Promoting the purposes of the PID Act
The VI’s functions under section 56(1) of the  
PID Act also include promoting the purposes  
of the PID Act. 

This year, the VI has continued to engage  
with integrity system participants and the wider 
community to promote the purposes of the PID 
Act, including by giving a virtual presentation at 
Law Week on Victoria’s public interest disclosure 
scheme and the role of the VI.

The VI also participated in the PIDCG (formerly  
the Protected Disclosure Liaison Group), and  
the Public Interest Disclosure Coordinator  
Annual Forum.

Disclosures under the PD Act  
and the PID Act in 2019-20
This year, the VI received six assessable disclosures. 
One was determined to be a protected disclosure 
complaint, one was determined not to be a 
protected disclosure complaint, three were 
notified to IBAC, and one was assessed not  
to require notification. 

IBAC referred three public interest complaints to 
the VI. Two of those referrals have been merged 
into a single investigation, and the remaining 
referral is separately under investigation. 

With another investigation carried forward from  
the 2018-19 financial year, the VI is currently 
undertaking four public interest complaint 
investigations. This fourfold increase in 
investigations under the PID scheme has 
significantly impacted the VI’s resources, with the 
VI unable to complete any PD / PID investigations 
this year, including a complex PD investigation 
commenced in the last reporting period.

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
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Table E 

Number and types of disclosures handled by  
the VI this year under the PD Act and the PID Act

PD Act PID Act Total

Assessable disclosures received by the VI (including misdirected disclosures) 5 4 9

 • Assessable disclosures made directly to the VI 5 2 7

 • Misdirected disclosures made to the VI 0 2 2

 • Assessable disclosures notified to the VI 0 0 0

Disclosures that the VI notified to IBAC 0 3 3

Disclosures that the VI did not notify to IBAC as below the threshold 1 1

Misdirected disclosures that the VI notified to the IOC 0 0 0

Assessable disclosures which the VI determined to be a protected disclosure 
complaint / public interest complaint

1 0 1

Assessable disclosures which the VI determined not to be a protected disclosure 
complaint / public interest complaint

1 0 1

Protected disclosure complaint / public interest complaints referred to the VI by IBAC 0 3 3

 • Assessable disclosures made directly to the VI and notified to IBAC 0 3 3

Applications for injunction made by the VI under section 50 PD Act / PID Act 0 0 0

Protected disclosure complaint / public interest complaint investigations – 
commenced

1 2* 3

Protected disclosure complaint / public interest complaint investigations – in progress 2 2 4

Protected disclosure complaint / public interest complaint investigations – completed 0 0 0

* 1 investigation relates to 2 overlapping complaints. 
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Making a disclosure to the VI
The VI published its Public Interest Disclosure 
Guidelines, which provide important information 
for those who are thinking about making a public 
interest disclosure to the VI. These are available  
on the VI’s website: www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.
au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate.

Further information on making a disclosure to the VI 
can be found at www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au.

The contact details for IBAC and the VI are listed 
below:

IBAC 
1300 735 135 
info@ibac.vic.gov.au 
www.ibac.vic.gov.au 
GPO Box 24234 
Melbourne Victoria 3001

Victorian Inspectorate 
(03) 8614 3232 
info@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au 
www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au 
PO Box 617 
Collins Street West 
Melbourne Victoria 8007

Disclosures about the VI or VI officers
Public interest disclosures about the VI or VI officers 
may be made to the Integrity and Oversight 
Committee of the Victorian Parliament. 

The contact details for the Integrity and Oversight 
Committee are listed below:

Integrity and Oversight Committee  
Parliament of Victoria 
Parliament House, Spring Street 
EAST MELBOURNE VIC 3002 
Phone: 03 8682 2815 
Email: ioc@parliament.vic.gov.au

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/
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Overview
The VI monitors the compliance of IBAC and IBAC 
personnel with the IBAC Act, the VI Act, the PID Act, 
the TISP Act, the SD Act, the CCO Act and other 
laws through: 
• Receipt and management of complaints 

about IBAC and IBAC personnel 
• Preliminary inquiries and investigations about 

the conduct of IBAC and IBAC personnel
• Review of coercive power notifications
• Inspections relating to IBAC’s exercise  

of covert and intrusive powers
• General monitoring activities

The VI engages regularly with IBAC through these 
activities. Throughout 2019-20, the VI developed 
positive engagement with IBAC across these 
functions. Informal meetings and information 
exchange protocols established last reporting period 
between IBAC’s Assessment and Review team and 
the VI’s General Manager of Integrity, Operations 
and Policy were supplemented this year by regular 
and mutually productive meetings between 
executive officers and, in the second half of the 
year, quarterly meetings between the Commissioner 
and the Inspector. These meetings were used for 
informal guidance, to raise and discuss issues  
and to facilitate information exchange. The VI 
appreciates feedback provided by IBAC during  
the Integrity Response Guidelines consultation. 

When working from home arrangements 
commenced in March due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, IBAC commenced a pilot protocol  
using its Kiteworks platform to share information 
electronically and securely with the VI. This platform 
enabled the VI to continue receiving coercive  
power notifications from IBAC.

As the VI published a report in 2019 on IBAC’s 
handling of protected disclosures, the VI focussed 
this year on contributing to the consistent 
implementation of the new PID Act.  

The VI observed IBAC take a lead role in helping  
the Victorian Public Sector prepare for and 
implement the new PID scheme through the  
PIDCG, chaired by IBAC’s Director Legal. IBAC  
also hosted a meeting with officers of the VI  
and the VO regarding implementation and 
interpretation issues noted by the VI. 

In October 2019, the VI published an Integrity Report, 
IBAC Monitoring Project on Police Misconduct 
Complaints, having completed the project in  
June 2019. The report made two recommendations 
for improving recorded analysis in IBAC’s case 
management system relating to recommendations 
and determinations to dismiss or refer allegations 
rather than investigating them. See the summary  
on page 57. 

A highlight of the VI’s complaints oversight was 
providing IBAC with an Integrity Report on complaints 
data for the 2019 calendar year containing several 
key themes that emerged from the data relating  
to IBAC’s operational areas. The Commissioner 
expressed his pleasure with the efforts of both 
agencies to maintain a positive working relationship, 
underpinned IBAC’s commitment to the provision  
of updated operational policies to the VI and 
foreshadowed the next steps of IBAC’s continuous 
improvement with respect to its complaints 
handling. 

The Commissioner noted IBAC’s commitment  
to engaging with the VI to address any outstanding 
concerns it may hold, as IBAC continually strives  
to improve its processes and performance.

Coercive powers notifications
During the reporting period, the VI received 582 
coercive power notifications from IBAC under  
the IBAC Act. See Table B on page 39.

Independent Broad-based 
Anti-corruption Commission

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
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The VI attended the first two and a further three  
days of public hearings in Operation Sandon  
and reviewed transcripts for the rest of the hearings 
held during the reporting period. The VI’s reviews 
demonstrated IBAC’s implementation of some of 
the VI’s 2018-19 recommendations on welfare and 
public hearings. See the case study on page 43. 

In early 2020, the VI and IBAC commenced  
what will be regular meetings to ensure the VI has 
sufficient information regarding IBAC’s investigations 
to undertake the depth of review of notifications 
required since 1 January 2020 under the amended 
VI Act (see 2018-19 Annual Report, page 43).

Enquiries and Complaints
The VI’s activities on complaints and enquiries 
relating to IBAC and/or IBAC officers in the  
2019-20 year were as follows:
• 39 complaints were received (complaint 

figures given in this report by agency exclude 
any complaints that were the subject of  
active investigation or preliminary inquiry  
at 30 June 2020). 

• 33 complaints were closed, comprising  
19 received this year, and 14 complaints  
that were received in 2018-19. The outcomes  
of these complaints are set out in Figure C  
on page 32 and Figure F on page 33. 20 
complaints remained open as at 30 June 2020.

• The VI responded to 27 enquiries about IBAC.

IBAC notified the VI on six occasions of a complaint 
or notification of conduct by IBAC or an IBAC officer, 
as required under section 71 of the IBAC Act. 

To provide a picture of the types of issues raised 
by complaints about IBAC or IBAC officers, the  
VI reports the following categories of complaint 
cases it closed in 2019-2017: 
• 42% involved a complaint that IBAC dismissed 

(did not investigate) a complaint made to it.  
Of the 14 complaints making up this category, 
8 involved complaints about police officers  
or Victoria Police. 

• 18% made unclear or non-specific allegations. 
• 15% made allegations about the conduct  

of IBAC officers. 

• 9% involved a complaint about IBAC’s referral 
of allegations about police officers to Victoria 
Police. 

• 6% alleged that IBAC had failed to perform  
its functions or exercise its powers properly. 

• 6% involved customer service issues 
associated with lodging a complaint with IBAC. 

In 17 of the 33 closed complaints, the VI 
requested information from IBAC, or reviewed  
IBAC records, in order to fully assess the 
complainant’s allegations. 

See page 50 of the Public Interest Disclosures 
section of this report for a summary of the 
assessable disclosures received, notified,  
handled and investigated under the PD Act  
and the PID Act. 

17 The remaining 4% were not categorised due to COVID-19.

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/annual-reports-victorian-inspectorate
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Integrity Report – VI Activities on IBAC Complaints in 2019

In early 2020, the VI completed its first private 
report on its activities in respect of complaints 
received about IBAC or IBAC officers in the 
2019 calendar year. 

In line with one of the objectives of the VI Act, 
the VI’s aim in making the report was to assist 
IBAC and its personnel in the performance of 
their duties and functions and the exercise of 
their powers, by presenting a comprehensive 
analysis of the VI’s complaints data for a 
12-month period.

The report did not seek to make 
recommendations, rather its aims were: 
• To present a de-identified 12-month data-

set of IBAC complaints received by the VI,  
to provide IBAC with useful data for its 
continuous improvement activities. 

• Reflect the productive engagement and 
correspondence between the VI and IBAC 
officers in 2019 on complaints, and to 
record some proposed next steps in that 
relationship. 

• Support IBAC’s consideration of the themes 
that emerge from the VI’s complaints data. 

• Document issues that, in 2019, the VI 
communicated to IBAC it had an ongoing 
interest in. 

• Include explanatory information about the 
VI’s role and complaints-handling processes, 
for IBAC officers who are new or unfamiliar 
with the VI’s functions. 

Responding to the report, the IBAC 
Commissioner expressed his pleasure with  
the efforts of both agencies to maintain  
a positive working relationship, underpinned 
IBAC’s commitment to the provision of  
updated operational policies to the VI  
and foreshadowed the next steps of IBAC’s 
continuous improvement with respect to  
its complaints handling.

The VI recognises the benefits of sharing 
information about complaints it receives with 
the integrity agencies it oversees in the interests 
of targeting specific or broader improvements, 
as part of its mission of ensuring a robust 
integrity system.
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Case study – Complaint

Ms Woodward18 complained to the VI about 
IBAC’s decision to dismiss a number of 
allegations against a Victorian peak industry 
body (‘Entity Z’) and Entity Z officers, arising  
out of events that had occurred some years 
earlier. Ms Woodward believed IBAC did not 
adequately consider the information she had 
provided and expressed disappointment with 
IBAC’s decision to neither investigate nor refer 
her allegations. 

Ms Woodward supplied records of her contact 
with officers of Entity Z, which raised concerns 
about those officers’ interactions with her and 
her family members. For example, it appeared 
that an Entity Z officer copied in other officers 
who were the subject of Ms Woodward’s 
allegations into emailed replies to her. Some 
emailed responses to Ms Woodward’s concerns 
from Entity Z officers were single sentence 
emails that could be interpreted as opaque  
or dismissive.

The VI reviewed IBAC’s file associated with Ms 
Woodward’s complaint. The IBAC case officer’s 
recommendation was to dismiss her allegations 
based on the time that had passed, and the 
insufficiency of the evidence to demonstrate 
corrupt conduct. There did not appear to be 
any consideration given to referring the matter 
to the Regulator responsible for overseeing the 
industry and Entity Z (the Regulator). 

The IBAC Act requires IBAC to refer a complaint 
to the Regulator if, at any time, IBAC considers 
that the subject matter of the complaint is 
relevant to the duties and functions or powers 

of the Regulator and it would be more 
appropriate for the complaint to be 
investigated by the Regulator than by IBAC.

Since Ms Woodward’s allegations appeared 
relevant to the Regulator ’s functions and duties, 
the VI wrote to IBAC to highlight the concerning 
material in the information Ms Woodward had 
supplied, and to ask whether the complaint 
should have been, or could now be, referred  
to the Regulator for investigation. The VI also 
enquired into how IBAC would retain and use 
the information provided by Ms Woodward in  
its intelligence holdings, to be satisfied that  
the information could be acted upon if future 
complaints were received about Entity Z or  
the same officers. 

While IBAC’s response was that its assessment 
process did give due consideration to a 
referral, the VI could only find records that  
the case officer considered a referral to  
Entity Z but not a referral to the Regulator.

The VI acknowledged that the decision  
not to refer was one open to IBAC to make, 
and that IBAC’s outcome letter explained to  
Ms Woodward that the time that had passed 
since the alleged events made it difficult  
for IBAC or another agency to investigate. 
However, the VI noted to IBAC that it should 
have documented its consideration of  
a referral to Regulator. The VI also wrote  
to Ms Woodward advising her that it was  
open to her to report her concerns directly  
to the Regulator. 

Case studies
The following case studies provide examples  
of how the VI has engaged with IBAC to resolve 
complaints it has received. 

18 Name and identifying details have been changed.
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Mr McCaig19 had made allegations to IBAC  
that whilst in the custody of Victoria Police  
at a metropolitan police station he was 
mistreated, that excessive force was used 
against him in placing him into a divisional  
van, and that he was denied access to a 
psychiatrist or psychologist. IBAC referred the 
allegations to Victoria Police for investigation  
by its Professional Standards Command. 

When IBAC advised Mr McCaig that Victoria 
Police would investigate his allegations, he 
expressed dissatisfaction that IBAC itself was  
not independently investigating them. A few 
months later, Mr McCaig wrote to IBAC to 
advise that Victoria Police had told him his 
complaint was being referred back to IBAC.  
He received no response from IBAC. 

Some months later, Mr McCaig phoned IBAC, 
again expressing concern with the outcome  
of Victoria Police’s investigation; IBAC recorded 
this contact as a verbal complaint. In response, 
IBAC enquired with Victoria Police regarding  
Mr McCaig’s concerns about his treatment and 
obtained Victoria Police’s internal investigation 
file and subsequently made a further request 
for missing information. Following its assessment 
of the information available, IBAC advised Mr 
McCaig there was no evidence to suggest he 
was treated inappropriately by Victoria Police 
members. 

Mr McCaig complained to the VI that IBAC had 
failed to appropriately consider his complaint, 
in particular the closed-circuit television (CCTV) 

footage of the conduct of the police officers 
who dealt with him. The VI made enquiries  
with IBAC and obtained its relevant records, 
including reviewing the CCTV footage  
and the Victoria Police interview with Mr 
McCaig, which were central to his concern 
about how his mistreatment and use of force 
allegations were handled by IBAC.

The VI found that IBAC’s review of Victoria 
Police’s investigation involved a comprehensive 
analysis of the relevant video and audio 
recordings and information obtained by 
Victoria Police during its internal investigation.  
In correspondence and meetings between  
the VI and IBAC, the VI asked whether IBAC  
had considered the adequacy of the 
communication between police members  
who dealt with Mr McCaig whilst in custody, 
to inform one another of his physical and 
mental disabilities. The VI considered IBAC’s 
decision to take no further action on the 
complaint to be open to it to make,  
in the circumstances. 

At the conclusion of its enquiries, the VI advised 
IBAC of its ongoing interest in understanding 
the thresholds applied by IBAC to matters for:
• notifying Victoria Police at the time of 

referral of a complaint that IBAC will 
conduct a review of its investigation; and 

• IBAC to examine issues concerning a police 
officer’s conduct that may arise out of  
a review of Victoria Police’s investigation  
of a complaint.

19 Name and identifying details have been changed.

Case study – Complaint
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Monitoring project – IBAC Police Misconduct Complaints

In October 2019, the VI published an Integrity 
Report, Monitoring Project on IBAC: Police 
Misconduct Complaints relating to the 
monitoring project completed in June 2019 
and reported on in the 2018-19 Annual Report. 
The report compared the recording by IBAC of 
its analysis of complaints under its former case 
management system (CMS) and under its new 
CMS, Condor.

The report made two recommendations: 
1. That IBAC, in the continuous improvement  

of Condor, ensure recommendations and 
determinations to dismiss allegations are 
supported by a recorded analysis of the 
substance and credibility of allegations.

2. That IBAC, in the continuous improvement  
of Condor, ensure recommendations and 
determinations to refer allegations are 
supported by a recorded analysis of the 
substance and credibility of allegations as well 
as why the allegations must be referred to the 
Chief Commissioner of Police for investigation 
rather than be investigated by IBAC.

As set out in the report, IBAC accepted the 
recommendations and will seek to enhance  
its procedures and systems to implement them. 
It offered to partner with the VI in implementing 
the recommendations through discussing with 
it the development of Condor to enhance the 
recording of IBAC’s analysis of allegations of 
police misconduct. 

Whilst accepting the VI’s recommendations, 
IBAC rejected Finding 1 about IBAC’s former 
CMS which referred to an absence of a 
recorded analysis in a majority of the 
complaint files diminishing the transparency  
of the assessment and determination process. 
In the report, the VI notes IBAC’s statement  
but stands by its finding.

During the reporting period, IBAC invited the  
VI to attend a workshop to help implement the 
recommendations but this has been delayed, 
partly due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Monitoring
The VI reported last year on its oversight of issues 
arising from the former IBAC Committee’s 2018 
report to the Parliament of Victoria on its inquiry 
into the external oversight of police corruption and 
misconduct in Victoria. The Committee had 
observed that while the VI does not have direct 
oversight of police, its oversight of IBAC can bear 
on matters relevant to the operation of Victoria’s 
current system for complaints and disclosures to 
be made about police wrongdoing. The VI noted 
its intention to focus effort in 2019-20 on analysing 
the information it receives from complainants, and 
productively engaging with IBAC, with a view to 
influencing improvements in IBAC’s assessment 
and review processes related to police oversight. 

This year the VI published two reports that 
contribute to improving the oversight of police 
complaints. In October 2019, the VI published  
an Integrity Report, IBAC Monitoring Project on

Police Misconduct Complaints, on the monitoring 
project completed in June 2019. See summary 
below. The VI’s Integrity Report on IBAC complaints 
data for the 2019 calendar year also meets this 
objective. See summary on page 54. 

During 2019-20, the VI’s usual practice was to 
request the IBAC file associated with a police 
complaint and look at the analysis to see if it met 
the recommendations in the Police Misconduct 
Complaints report. The VI has a greater level of 
analysis recorded on the files reviewed since 
IBAC’s introduction of its “Condor” case 
management system. 

The Commissioner noted IBAC’s commitment  
to continually improving the Condor system to 
enhance the recording of its analysis of police 
conduct complaints, as well as its decision making 
in dismissing or referring such complaints.

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/annual-reports-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
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Overview
The VI oversees the exercise of coercive power  
by VO officers and compliance by VO officers  
with procedural fairness requirements under the 
Ombudsman Act or any other Act through: 
• Receiving and managing complaints  

about VO officers. 
• Conducting enquiries and investigations  

about the conduct of VO officers.
• Reviewing the exercise of coercive power  

by VO officers, including in the conduct  
of compulsory appearances in the course  
of investigations by the Ombudsman. 

• Reviewing areas of Ombudsman business 
practice and inspections of that practice. 

On 1 January 2020, amendments to the VI Act 
and the Ombudsman Act took effect due to  
the passing of the IALA Act. These amendments 
featured in the VI’s oversight of the VO during  
the reporting period.

Positive engagement and informal protocols 
continued between VI and VO officers throughout 
2019-20. The VI engaged regularly with the VO 
through the VI’s complaint and investigations 
functions and through monitoring the VO’s 
exercise of coercive powers. The VI is also  
grateful for the VO’s considered feedback  
during consultation on the VI’s Integrity Response 
Guidelines. 

The VO provided a comprehensive response  
to all requests for information made by the VI 
about complaints, coercive power notifications 
and monitoring activities. Notable issues include 
the VO’s new stakeholder online portal for 
information exchange, Kiteworks, through which 
the VO began providing information to the VI 
during the reporting period. This new portal 
reduced the VO’s administrative burden in 
responding to information requests and 
contributed to the efficiency of the VI’s 

assessment and analysis of complaints about  
VO officers. Kiteworks was also an essential means 
for the VO to transfer information and to notify  
the VI about compulsory appearances and 
confidentiality notices following the  
COVID-19 restrictions.

During the reporting period, the VI’s oversight  
led to systemic improvements to the VO’s 
implementation of transitional provisions relating  
to the exercise of coercive powers under the 
recently reformed Ombudsman Act.  Following 
review of a compulsory appearance during and 
after which the VO looked after the welfare of a 
distressed witness, the VI also reviewed the VO’s 
witness welfare procedures and, at the VO’s 
invitation, provided suggestions to enhance the 
procedures. The VO was considering the feedback 
as at 30 June 2020.

The VI closed 41 complaints which related to  
the complainants’ dissatisfaction with the handling 
of their complaint by the VO. See the case studies 
on pages 59 and 60. The VI closed a longstanding 
preliminary inquiry after obtaining joint legal 
advice from the Solicitor-General and reaching 
agreement on the relevant facts. This approach 
has avoided the need for an investigation.  
The VI will await feedback from the VO on the  
VI’s application of the legal advice to the agreed 
facts before deciding the appropriate integrity 
response. 

The VI also closed a longstanding own motion 
investigation after the VO accepted the VI’s draft 
summary of facts and private recommendations 
about procedural fairness. Both the preliminary 
inquiry and the investigation arose from issues 
identified during reviews of coercive power 
notifications from the VO. 

Victorian Ombudsman

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/guidelines-victorian-inspectorate
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Complaints
The VI’s activities on complaints and enquiries 
relating to the VO and/or VO officers in the  
2019-20 year were as follows:
• 36 complaints were received (complaint 

figures given in this report by agency exclude 
any complaints that were the subject of  
active investigation or preliminary inquiry  
at 30 June 2020). 

• 41 complaints were closed, comprising  
23 received this year, and 18 complaints  
that were received in 2018-19. The outcomes 
of these complaints are set out in Figure D  
on page 32 and Figure F on page 33.  
13 complaints remain open as at  
30 June 2020.

• The VI responded to 27 enquiries about the VO.

All 41 complaints about the VO or VO officers  
that were closed related to the complainants’ 
dissatisfaction with the handling of their complaint 
by the VO. A small number also involved 
‘customer service’ type issues.  

The following case studies exemplify how the  
VI engages with the VO to resolve complaints  
it receives.

Mr Dufort20 complained to the VI about the 
conduct of the VO officer who handled his 
elderly mother’s complaint to the VO about an 
issue in her residential complex, and inaction 
on that issue by a government department. 

Mr Dufort described the VO officer’s conduct  
in two phone calls with him as abusive, rude 
and overbearing.  He also alleged that the VO 
officer lied about a phone number and name.

The VI made enquiries with the VO and 
obtained recordings of the phone calls 
between Mr Dufort and the VO officer, and also 
a subsequent phone call between the VO and 
Mr Dufort’s mother, to verify the information  
Mr Dufort was given. The VI found: 
• The VO officer explained to Mr Dufort an 

earlier comment they had made about 
having a phone number and name; the 
officer had not been dishonest. 

• The VO officer explained the VO’s role  
and considered the information provided  
by Mr Dufort and his dissatisfaction with the 
department. 

• Mr Dufort and his mother were given an 
opportunity to express their concerns about 
how the complaint had been handled,  
and the VO officer explained why they 
considered Mr Dufort and his mother had  
an appropriate pathway toward resolving 
the problem. 

• Although the VO did not breach its 
procedural fairness obligations during the 
phone calls, there were times when the VO 
officer spoke over or interrupted Mr Dufort, 
which appeared to upset Mr Dufort. 

The VI conveyed these observations to the VO, 
who took the feedback on board, and closed 
the complaint. 

Case study – Complaint

20 Names and identifying details have been changed.
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Coercive power notifications
During the reporting period, the VI received 166 
notifications from the VO under the Ombudsman 
Act, a slight increase in the number notified in 
2018-19. The VI notes that a number of the 
recordings are of voluntary appearances that  
did not result from the exercise of coercive power.

This extract from Table B shows a breakdown  
of the Ombudsman’s notifications to the VI.

VO – OMBUDSMAN ACT 18-19 19-20

s 26E Confidentiality notices issued 35 28

s 26E Confidentiality notices cancelled 26 38

s 18A Summons 22 17

s 18F(7)/  
s 18Q22 

Recordings23 68 83

Total 151 166

As part of its review process, the VI corresponded 
with the VO on an instance of non-compliance 
associated with a summons, which the VO 
corrected. 

The VI’s review of coercive power notifications after 
1 January 2020 also led to the VI meeting with the 
VO to discuss a number of issues relating to the 
VO’s implementation of amendments to the 
Ombudsman Act. Following a productive meeting, 
the VI provided written feedback on its view of the 
transitional provisions and the implications for the 
VO’s exercise of powers. The VO accepted the VI’s 
interpretation of the transitional provisions and 
undertook appropriate corrective action. The VI 
also provided feedback to the VO on two issues 
relating to service:
• That service of summons directed to a 

department in accordance with section 18A(3) 
was not proper service as the department is 
not a body corporate. The VO accepted that 
personal service on an individual was required 
in accordance with section 18A(2) and sought 
confirmation from the department that it was 
still prepared to comply with the summons.

Ms Landreu21 complained to the VI about  
the VO’s handling of her complaint about  
a Victorian regulatory entity (‘Entity X’).  

The VO had determined that Entity X was 
entitled to interpret the applicable rules as they 
did, and dismissed the complaint. Ms Landreu 
alleged to the VI that the VO had failed to 
consider her complaint with an open mind, 
had dealt with it in a manner contrary to law, 
had acted unreasonably, unjustly or 
oppressively and that the VO’s decision to 
‘abandon’ her complaint was based on 
improper motives.  

The VI obtained and reviewed the VO’s 
complaint file, noting that Ms Landreu  
supplied the VO with a nine page document 

summarizing her concerns about Entity X’s 
response and assertions. The VO case officer 
had contacted Ms Landreu requesting further 
detail as to what practical outcome she was 
seeking, as the officer believed that this had 
not been provided to them. Ms Landreu 
responded, further articulating four ‘desired 
outcomes’ she sought from the VO. 

The VI found that the VO had not considered 
the information supplied by Ms Landreu in 
answer to the question about her desired 
outcomes.  The VI engaged with the VO, who 
agreed to review the relevant document and 
contact Ms Landreu. Ms Landreu was 
subsequently contacted by the VO in writing 
with an outcome to her complaint based on a 
review of the document that she had provided.

Case study

21 Name and identifying details have been changed
22 See footnote 12 page 39
23 See footnote 13 page 39
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• An issue relating to the service of confidentiality 
notices and notice cancellations. This issue was 
raised as an observation only as it is outside  
the VI’s jurisdiction following the amendments 
(see discussion below). 

The VI has a function to monitor the exercise  
of coercive powers by VO officers under section 
11(4)(a) of the VI Act. This function no longer 
includes monitoring the issuing or cancellation  
of a confidentiality notice following the  
1 January 2020 legislative amendments as the 
Ombudsman’s powers relating to confidentiality 
notices are not in the Division of the Ombudsman 
Act referred to in the coercive power definition.  
However, the VO is still required by section 26E  
of the Ombudsman Act to provide copies to  
the VI of each confidentiality notice issued or 
cancelled, as well as any related applications  
or orders relating to extensions. The VI is 
empowered to review these notifications under 
section 42AA(1)(e) of the VI Act. The Inspector  
has sought legislative amendment to amend  
this inconsistency and restore the VI’s power  
to monitor these notices. 

The Inspector and the Ombudsman agreed  
to seek legislative amendment to provide better 
terminology for the different types of witness 
interviews now available following the 
Ombudsman Act amendments. The amendments 
removed the former power of the Ombudsman 
under section 18 of the Evidence (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1958 to examine persons who 
“happen to be present” but the definition of 
compulsory appearance still contains a reference 
to this power. The VO’s new processes provide, 
appropriately, for voluntary appearances and 
compulsory appearances in accordance  
with a witness summons.

Preliminary Inquiry into the exercise 
of investigation powers 
In May 2018, the VI commenced a preliminary 
inquiry under section 48C of the VI Act for the 
purpose of determining whether to conduct an 
own motion investigation. The preliminary inquiry 
arose from a review of a compulsory hearing and 
related to the concurrent exercise of two coercive 
powers, being an inspection under section 21  
of the Ombudsman Act and the return of a 
summons at the same time and date as the 

inspection. The VI and the VO sought joint legal 
advice from the Solicitor-General on the lawfulness 
of the concurrent exercise of these powers which 
led to the VO changing its process for using 
inspections to identify documents to be 
summonsed. The VI closed the preliminary inquiry 
in June 2020 as the agencies had reached 
agreement on the relevant facts of the 
investigation and agreed to apply the joint  
legal advice. As at 30 June 2020, the VO was 
considering the VI’s application of the Solicitor-
General’s advice to those facts and its proposed 
steps to further assist VO officers in the exercise  
of those coercive powers. 

Investigation into procedural fairness 
for persons named in a report 
As part of its monitoring function under section 
11(4) of the VI Act, the VI reviews notifications from 
agencies about their exercise of coercive power. 
During a review of compulsory appearances 
notified to the VI, potential issues were identified. 

On 28 June 2017, the VI commenced a 
preliminary inquiry under section 48C of the  
VI Act for the purpose of determining whether  
to commence an own motion investigation into 
these issues. During the preliminary inquiry, the  
VI reviewed the VO’s investigation file and met  
with VO officers to discuss the issues. 

On 21 February 2018, the VI determined to 
commence an own motion investigation under 
section 46(3) of the VI Act into the conduct of  
VO officers in respect of the exercise  
of coercive powers in relation to an investigation 
and compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements in the performance of functions 
under the Ombudsman Act in that investigation. 
During this part of the investigation, the VI 
conducted six voluntary interviews. 

On 21 June 2018, for the purpose of conducting 
the investigation, the VI determined to hold an 
inquiry under section 49 of the VI Act into factual 
questions arising in the course of the investigation. 
As part of the inquiry, the VI issued a summons  
to produce documents to a third party. The VI 
obtained further relevant documents from the  
VO pursuant to a request under section 47(3)(c)  
of the VI Act.
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After reviewing all evidence obtained during the 
preliminary inquiry, investigation and inquiry, the  
VI found no evidence relating to concerns about 
the exercise of coercive power. The VI reached  
a view that the evidence substantiated concerns 
relating to the VO’s compliance with procedural 
fairness requirements arising from the circulation 
of a draft investigation report and in October 
2019, wrote to the VO in this regard and outlined  
a detailed draft summary of facts. Following  
a productive meeting during which the VO 
accepted those facts, the VO provided further 
important context about why the VO’s procedural 
fairness process varied from usual procedures.

The VO has accepted the VI’s private 
recommendations relating to the improvement  
of procedural fairness procedures and this 
investigation has been closed. 

Monitoring 
In 2019-20, the VI published an integrity report  
on Victorian Ombudsman interviews in which  
the VI made recommendations about providing 
further information to witnesses. The VO addressed 
the recommendations with respect to written 
material sent to witnesses by revising information 
sheets for witnesses. 

Following the 1 January 2020 amendments to the 
types of interviews under the Ombudsman Act, the 
VO updated the content of its proposed letter and 
information sheet for witnesses, sought feedback 
from the VI and adopted the VI’s feedback. The VI 
also reviewed and provided positive feedback on 
the VO’s revised script for telephone contact with 
witnesses and persons of interest.

Review of public interest disclosure 
procedures of the Ombudsman
The VI has a function under section 56(1)(e)  
of the PID Act to review the procedures 
established by IBAC, the Judicial Commission  
and the VO under Part 9 of the PID Act and  
the implementation of those procedures.

During 2019-20 the VI did not review the VO’s 
procedures under the PID Act, having reviewed 
and provided feedback on its procedures under 
the former PD Act in the last reporting period.  
The VO advised the VI that it would utilise the 
feedback provided when updating its procedures 
to reflect the reforms made to the PD Act under 
the IALA Act.

Please see page 47 in this report for further detail 
on the public interest disclosure scheme. 

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/integrity-reports-victorian-inspectorate
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Overview
VAGO undertakes annual audits of the financial 
statements of the public sector and conducts a 
review of the state’s Estimated Financial Statements, 
providing an opinion for inclusion in the state’s 
Budget Papers.

VAGO also conducts performance audits to 
evaluate whether an organisation or government 
program is performing effectively, economically  
and efficiently, and in compliance with all relevant 
legislation. 

Changes to VAGO’s power and the 
VI’s oversight 
Significant amendments to the Audit Act came into 
operation on 1 July 2019, as foreshadowed in the 
Integrity System Update section of the VI’s 2018-19 
Annual Report. The Audit Act now provides a suite  
of specific powers for VAGO to gather information, 
obtain evidence and enter premises for the purpose 
of financial or performance audits. 

The VI monitors the exercise of these coercive 
powers by VAGO officers under the Audit Act and 
monitors compliance by VAGO officers with sections 
30 to 37, 39, 43 to 46, 50(1) and 51 of the Audit Act. 
The VI can receive complaints about the conduct  
of VAGO officers as discussed below. 

The amendments alter the VI’s oversight 
responsibilities in one respect. The VI is not required 
to monitor compliance with certain statutory 
provisions which relate to procedural fairness 
requirements. 

VAGO utilises a self-reporting tool created by the  
VI to report about the exercise of coercive power.  
In 2019-20, the VI worked with VAGO to update this 
tool to reflect the changed powers. VAGO has 
reported that it did not exercise coercive power  
this financial year. 

Whilst there was no exercise of coercive power for 
the VI to monitor, the VI reviewed the new policies 
and procedures developed by VAGO in relation  
to its new information gathering powers and duties.  
The VI made a few amendment suggestions to 
VAGO in relation to these policies and procedures, 
the majority of which have been adopted. The  
VI and VAGO are continuing to collaborate on  
the remaining amendments. 

Complaints
Under section 43(3) of the VI Act, a complaint can 
be made to the VI about the conduct of a VAGO 
officer in respect of the exercise or purported 
exercise of coercive powers in relation to any matter, 
or compliance with sections 30 to 37, 39, 41 to 46, 
48, 49, 50 and 51 of the Audit Act. 

During 2019-20 the VI received one notification 
about VAGO from another agency. On assessment, 
it did not engage the jurisdiction of the VI and was 
subsequently dismissed. The VI did not otherwise 
receive any complaints relating to VAGO and made 
no recommendations to the Auditor-General. 

Victorian 
Auditor-General’s 
Office 
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Overview
The VI provides independent oversight of the 
activities of Victoria’s Chief Examiner, who conducts 
coercive examinations of witnesses for the purposes 
of investigating, prosecuting and combatting the 
incidence of organised crime offences. The Chief 
Examiner is required to notify the VI within three days 
of their issuance of a summons or custody order 
compelling a person to appear to give evidence,  
or to produce documents or things (or to do both). 
Upon completion of an examination, the Chief 
Examiner must send the VI a copy of the transcript 
and/or video-recording of the examination (usually 
both are provided). 

The Chief Examiner may only conduct examinations 
where the Supreme Court has issued a coercive 
powers order under the MCIP Act. In 2019-20 a total 
of four coercive powers orders were current for any 
period of time during the year, with no new coercive 
powers orders issued in the year. 

The VI’s functions under the MCIP Act and the VI Act 
are described at pages 21 and 23 of this report. 

References in this report to the Chief Examiner  
can be taken to include other Examiners, who  
are appointed by the Governor in Council under  
Part 3 of the MCIP Act. 

Compliance with the MCIP Act
The VI monitors the Chief Examiner’s compliance 
with the MCIP Act primarily by reviewing the content 
of reports, transcripts and video-recordings notified 
to the VI by the Chief Examiner. The VI also 
periodically engages with the Chief Examiner to 
assess the effectiveness of specific policies and 
procedures adopted by her Office to comply with 
the Act’s requirements. 

On two occasions in the year, the Chief Examiner 
and an Examiner met with the VI’s Inspector and 
Executive Director, Legal and Integrity to discuss 
aspects of the operation of the MCIP Act, including 
reforms proposed by the Chief Examiner. 

The VI also engaged with the Office of Chief 
Examiner:
• During VI’s review of procedures developed by 

the CCP to ensure he and other police officers 
comply with relevant MCIP Act requirements. 
Details of this work are included in the Victoria 
Police section at pages 73 to 74 of this report. 

• To discuss two summonses which had been 
issued by the Chief Examiner concurrently with 
custody orders. 

Under section 15 of the MCIP Act, the Chief Examiner 
may issue a witness summons on her own motion,  
if she is satisfied that it is reasonable in the 
circumstances to do so, after consideration of  
(inter alia) the evidentiary or intelligence value  
of the information sought to be obtained from  
the person. Section 18 makes provision for custody 
orders to be issued by the Chief Examiner in 
analogous circumstances and makes certain  
of the provisions in s 15 applicable to custody orders.

The Chief Examiner withdrew the summons pending 
further action to bring the two prisoners to an 
examination under a custody order, which was 
ultimately successful, thereby resolving the 
immediate issue. 

During 2019-20, the VI: 
• Received one complaint about a Chief 

Examiner, or other Examiners and responded  
to one enquiry. The complaint remained open 
at 30 June 2020. 

• Conducted no investigations into the conduct 
of the Chief Examiner, or other Examiners. 

• Made no recommendations to the Chief 
Examiner.

Chief Examiner
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Comprehensiveness and  
adequacy of reports
The Chief Examiner gave comprehensive reports 
to the VI pursuant to ss 52 and 53 of the Act: 
• 100 per cent of reports on the issue of 

summons and custody orders were received  
by the VI within the 3-day statutory timeframe.

• The VI did not raise with the Chief Examiner  
any issue associated with the timeframe for 
provision of s 53 reports, which are due to the 
VI as soon as reasonably practicable after the 
completion of an examination. 

• The VI did not identify any reports that did not 
include the requisite information, including 
information that had been requested to be 
provided in addition to the prescribed details. 

The VI continues to be assisted, in the performance 
of its functions, by the Chief Examiner’s timely and 
transparent provision of information that she is not 
obligated to notify to the VI. The additional 
information improves the VI’s capacity to assess  
the Chief Examiner’s compliance with statutory 
requirements.
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Overview
This year, the VI’s role in respect of overseeing 
OVIC was changed by IALA Act amendments  
that came into effect on 1 January 2020. From 
that date, the VI no longer had a monitoring or 
complaints function associated with OVIC’s 
compliance with procedural fairness obligations  
in the FOI and PDP Acts. 

The VI’s role now has a narrow focus on OVIC’s 
exercise of coercive powers under the FOI and 
PDP Acts, and OVIC’s compliance with procedural 
fairness requirements in the exercise of those 
coercive powers, the conduct of investigations 
and the making of recommendations, 
investigation reports and compliance notices. This 
section explains how the VI has handled complaints 
it received about OVIC after 1 January 2020 that 
were no longer within its jurisdiction. 

Prior to the change of jurisdiction, the VI delivered 
its first ever report to OVIC’s Deputy Commissioner, 
Public Access containing its assessments of two 
complaints received in the 2018-19 year. In this 
private report, the VI made three 
recommendations associated with simple 
procedural improvements, which the Deputy 
Commissioner promptly accepted and 
commenced implementing. OVIC’s reported 
procedural improvements to address delays and 
to improve timeliness in the finalisation of reviews 
and complaints under the FOI Act are discussed 
further on page 67.

To date, OVIC has only exercised its coercive 
powers on one occasion, which occurred this year 
when it issued a notice to produce documents 
pursuant to s 49KB of the FOI Act, during its review 
of an agency decision on an FOI request. The  
VI’s actions on being notified of this notice are 
described on page 68. 

Complaints and enquiries
This year, the VI received 9 complaints24 and  
6 enquiries about OVIC. These figures are 
representative of the upward trend in complaints 
and enquiries the VI has received about OVIC 
over the past several years. 

Of the 9 complaints: 
• 4 complaints regarding OVIC’s performance  

of its functions under the FOI Act were within 
the VI’s jurisdiction, as they were received  
prior to amendments coming into effect  
on 1 January 2020.

• 5 complaints regarding OVIC’s performance  
of its functions under the FOI Act were received 
on or after 1 January 2020 and did not 
engage the VI’s jurisdiction as amended. 

Of the 4 jurisdictional complaints:
• The VI reviewed OVIC’s files associated with 

one complaint and assessed the allegations  
to be unsubstantiated. 

• The VI made enquiries of OVIC for information 
in relation to one complaint, and found the 
complaint to be unsubstantiated on the basis 
of the information available to the VI. 

• 2 complaints were dismissed as unsupported 
by evidence or ‘no case to answer’ at the VI’s 
assessment stage. 

The VI acted upon 3 of the 5 complaints about  
OVIC received after 1 January 2020, when the VI no 
longer had jurisdiction to receive these complaints, 
by seeking the consent of the complainant to supply 
relevant details to OVIC for it to consider contacting 
the complainant to directly resolve their concerns. 
In all cases the complainant was advised of the 
change to the VI’s jurisdiction and that the IOC 
may be able, in some circumstances, to receive 
a complaint about OVIC’s performance of its 
functions. 

Office of the Victorian 
Information Commissioner

24  Complaint figures given in this report by agency exclude any complaints that were the subject of active investigation  
or preliminary inquiry at 30 June 2020.
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Integrity Report
In 2019 the VI made its first Integrity Report to  
the Deputy Commissioner, Public Access on two 
complaints received by the Victorian Inspectorate 
about the performance of functions under the  
FOI Act.

• Mr Romijnders’25 complaint – Mr Romijnders 
had requested internal procurement and 
meeting documents, including copies of 
minutes, from his local council. The council 
refused some documents, released some 
documents, and stated that some documents 
did not exist. As Mr Romijnders believed these 
documents did exist, he lodged a complaint 
pursuant to the FOI Act with OVIC. Over a year 
later, his complaint had not been resolved, 
and Mr Romijnders complained to the VI that 
OVIC had taken too long and had not 
provided him with progress updates nor 
responded to his correspondence to them. 

 The VI reviewed OVIC’s records associated  
with Mr Romijnders’ complaint, made written 
enquiries and met with officers in the Public 
Access team to discuss details. While the VI 
found that OVIC had not breached procedural 
fairness requirements of the FOI Act, it noted 
that OVIC’s handling of the complaint 
appeared to have been unreasonably 
delayed. 

• Ms Evers’ complaint – Ms Evers sought 
records including CCTV footage of her 
encounter with police officers. Victoria Police 
had denied her request for most of the 
documents she sought, so she applied to  
OVIC for a review of its decision. Over the 
subsequent 19 months, Victoria Police made 
two further decisions on Ms Evers’ FOI request, 
before OVIC issued its decision on the review. 
Ms Evers complained to the VI, alleging that 
OVIC had deliberately delayed its actions to 
accommodate Victoria Police’s decisions.  
Ms Evers’ complaint and the context for the 
decisions made by Victoria Police and OVIC 
under the FOI Act were exceedingly complex 
and contributed to the lengthy timeframe 
involved.

 The VI reviewed OVIC’s records associated with 
its review of Victoria Police’s decisions, made 
written enquiries and met with officers in the 
Public Access team to discuss details. The VI 
found that OVIC had not deliberately delayed 
its actions. However, OVIC’s delay in the period 
of the initial handling of the review, as well as 
delay on the part of Victoria Police in 
responding to OVIC’s enquiries, and the 
complexity of the matter, led to an 
unreasonably long and convoluted review 
process. The VI acknowledged that in the 
recent period of OVIC’s handling of the review, 
OVIC had been very responsive to Ms Evers 
and had invested considerable time to 
achieving a suitable outcome for her. 

The VI’s Integrity Report considered issues of delay, 
OVIC’s processes to engage with agencies, the 
operation of the “required period” for a review,  
the availability to an applicant of a right to apply  
to the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal 
(VCAT) for a review decision, the timeframes for such 
applications, as well as OVIC’s record-keeping and 
correspondence practices. 

The VI made three recommendations to the Deputy 
Commissioner, Public Access toward improving 
certain aspects of OVIC’s procedures on FOI 
complaints and reviews. The Deputy Commissioner 
accepted the VI’s findings and confirmed OVIC  
had undertaken actions to address the areas of 
concern. OVIC’s officers engaged productively  
and transparently with VI staff during its assessment 
process, providing the VI with additional records and 
context for their actions, and acknowledging where 
delays occurred. 

The Information Commissioner informed the VI that 
staff in OVIC’s Public Access branch have valued 
their productive engagement with the VI during 
2019-20. The Information Commissioner 
acknowledged the observations made regarding 
delays identified in OVIC’s handling of two matters 
which were the subject of complaints to the VI and 
informed the VI that since these matters were 
investigated by the VI, the Public Access branch has 
introduced procedural improvements to address 
delays and to improve timeliness in the finalisation of 
reviews and complaints under the FOI Act, including:

25 Names and identifying details have been changed.
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• Developing an internal Formal FOI Reviews 
Procedures Manual.

• Strengthening its ‘new file triage’ process 
through which incoming matters are assessed 
upon receipt and allocated to a Case 
Manager in a timely manner.

• Focusing on strengthening its capacity  
to undertake informal resolution of matters  
at the earliest opportunity.

• Reinforcing the need for managers to oversee 
the timely management of matters.

• Establishing a clear escalation process  
for delays arising on a matter.

• Undertaking quarterly internal audits to identify 
any areas for improvement.

The Information Commissioner also reported that 
OVIC’s recent performance data for 2019-20 shows 
the Public Access branch has demonstrated an 
increased focus on and improvement in their timely 
handling of matters.

Coercive Powers
During the reporting period, OVIC notified the VI of its 
first exercise of a coercive power under Part VIC of 
the FOI Act when it issued a Notice to Produce under 
section 49KB.

The VI sought further information to assist its review of 
the notice, in particular regarding OVIC’s processes 
to ensure compliance with ss 63D and 63E of the 
FOI Act, and requested up to date versions of OVIC’s 
policy and procedures for the use of coercive 
powers. The VI also requested OVIC’s file on its review 
of the FOI decision which had led to the Notice 
being issued. 

The VI provided some feedback to assist OVIC’s 
refinement of its procedures for the use of coercive 
powers, including the level of detail notified to the  
VI in the s 61ZD report. The VI was satisfied with 
OVIC’s responses to its questions, including advice 
from the Deputy Commissioner, Public Access that  
it would be guided by the VI’s feedback in the future 
exercise of its power to issue a notice to produce. 
The VI raised a further issue in March 2020, but the 
issue had not been concluded as at 30 June 2020.
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Overview
The Judicial Commission sets standards of ethical 
and professional conduct by judicial officers  
and members of VCAT. The Judicial Commission 
manages complaints into the conduct or capacity 
of judicial officers and VCAT members. The Judicial 
Commission, on deciding to investigate a 
complaint, may refer the complaint to an 
investigating panel. The Judicial Commission 
appoints an investigating panel. Two members of 
the panel are former or current judicial officers and 
one of the three members of the panel is appointed 
from a pool of persons of high standing in the 
community. Members of the pool are appointed for 
this purpose by the Governor in Council, on the 
recommendation of the Attorney-General. 

The VI has the statutory function of monitoring  
the exercise of coercive power by the Judicial 
Commission and investigating panels. Coercive 
power can be used by the Judicial Commission to 
require the medical examination of a judicial officer 
or a VCAT member. Coercive power can also be 
used by the investigating panel to require medical 
examinations as well as examine a judicial officer  
or member in the course of a panel hearing. 

The Director of the Judicial Commission is required  
to notify the VI about the exercise of coercive power 
and why it has been exercised. The VI may request 
information from the Judicial Commission about the 
use of coercive powers. 

The Judicial Commission may also make 
guidelines about: 
• Standards of conduct by judicial officers  

and VCAT members.
• Supporting investigating panels in the 

performance of their functions.
• The making of complaints or referrals.

• The assistance to be provided by the Director 
and staff of the Judicial Commission to any 
investigating panel including the hearing  
of a matter in public or private.

• The use of coercive powers. 

The VI may make recommendations to the Judicial 
Commission about the making of guidelines by  
the Judicial Commission in relation to the use of 
coercive powers and may request the Judicial 
Commission to report whether they have been 
implemented and if not, why not. 

The VI may also make a special report about  
the use of coercive power by the Judicial 
Commission and the panels. 

Activity during 2019-20
Notifications
A notification process enables the Judicial 
Commission to report to the VI on the exercise  
of coercive power by the Judicial Commission  
and investigating panels. 

In 2019-20, one such report was made. That 
report related to an investigation of a judicial 
officer conducted by an investigating panel. 
Under the JCV Act the panel:
• issued three notices to produce documents 

under section 69;
• issued six witness summonses to attend a  

hearing to give evidence under section 70(1)(a);
• issued two witness summonses to attend a 

hearing to give evidence and produce 
documents under section 70(1)(c); 

• discharged two witness summonses; and
• examined six witnesses under oath or 

affirmation. 

Judicial  
Commission 
of Victoria
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Monitoring
After raising the issue in 2018-19, the VI continued 
engaging with the Judicial Commission about its 
preference that information be provided to the  
VI as soon as practicable on the exercise of 
coercive power by the Judicial Commission  
or the investigating panels. Presently the Director 
of the Judicial Commission notifies the VI about 
the exercise of coercive power at the end  
of the hearing of an investigating panel or  
at the conclusion of an investigation by the 
Judicial Commission as the Director is required  
to do under section 66 of the JCV Act. 

The VI has shared its view with the Judicial 
Commission that it does not consider this to be 
sufficient notice to enable effective monitoring 
by the VI. The VI’s rationale is that should there  
be evidence of an unlawful or improper exercise 
of coercive power by the Judicial Commission or 
a panel, the VI would not be notified of it in time 
to take steps to safeguard against such exercise.

By letter of 4 June 2020, the Director informed  
the Inspector that after careful consideration,  
the Judicial Commission’s view is that the VI’s 
oversight of the exercise of coercive powers under 
the Act is appropriately confined to notification of 
their exercise after the conclusion of a hearing or 
following the end of an investigation. The Judicial 
Commission considers the legislative intent of the 
Act is clear – namely to enable an investigating 
panel to not only issue a notice but exercise 
coercive powers during the course of carrying  
out its investigation, before imposing an obligation 
to notify the Director, and then the VI. 

The Judicial Commission considers 
contemporaneous oversight might adversely 
impact the confidential nature of the investigative 
process and is unnecessary where coercive 
powers are exercised by judicial officers or  
VCAT members. This matter was ongoing as  
at 30 June 2020.

Another issue the VI has engaged on with the 
Judicial Commission since 2018 is the benefit  
of creating guidelines for the exercise of coercive 
power by the Judicial Commission and the 
investigating panels. The VI considers that 
guidelines facilitate the making of consistent 
decisions by the Judicial Commission and panels 
on the circumstances in which it is appropriate 

and not appropriate to exercise coercive power, 
and if appropriate, how that power is to be 
exercised. Such consistency in the VI’s view 
contributes to ensuring that the Judicial 
Commission and the panels have a transparent 
and accountable process for investigating the 
performance of judicial officers and non-judicial 
members of VCAT. 

In its 4 June 2020 letter, the Director informed  
the Inspector that at this stage, the Judicial 
Commission is of the view that guidelines are  
not required as the grounds for exercising coercive 
powers are clearly set out under the JCV Act and 
panel members, being predominantly former  
or current judicial officers or VCAT members,  
are well placed to apply the legislation without  
the need for recourse to guidelines. The Judicial 
Commission noted it will continue to liaise with  
the VI in relation to any issues raised during  
the exercise of coercive powers in the future.  
This matter was ongoing as at 30 June 2020.

Recommendations
The VI is required to report on the extent to  
which recommendations by the VI have been 
implemented by the Judicial Commission.  
The VI did not make any recommendations  
to the Judicial Commission during the  
reporting period.

Overview of the review of PID 
procedures of the Judicial 
Commission
The VI has a responsibility under section 62(1)  
of the PID Act to review whether the public interest 
disclosure procedures established by the Judicial 
Commission are consistent with the PID Act, the 
Public Interest Disclosures Regulations 2019  
and the guidelines issued by IBAC under section 
57 of the PID Act. 

As reported in 2018-19, the VI provided feedback 
to the Judicial Commission regarding their 
procedures under the former PD Act.
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In 2019-20, the Judicial Commission provided  
to the VI the Commission’s amended procedures 
in accordance with the PID Act. The Judicial 
Commission, as foreshadowed, had utilised  
the VI’s feedback from its previous review.  
The VI reviewed the public interest disclosure 
procedures and provided the Commission  
with feedback as to how it may consider further 
strengthening and improving the clarity and 
accuracy of the amended procedures to fully 
comply with the PID Act and other relevant 
integrity statutes. The VI’s feedback was under 
consideration by the Judicial Commission  
as at 30 June 2020.
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Overview
The VI is required to inspect certain records kept 
by the PIM and to report on the outcomes of 
inspections to the Attorney-General at least  
once a year. 

The role of the PIM is to represent the public 
interest: 
• in the consideration by courts and the Federal 

Administrative Appeals Tribunal of applications 
for warrants and orders authorising the covert 
collection of evidence from Victorian citizens 
and the use of coercive examination powers, 
including under the MCIP Act, the SD Act and 
the TIA Act;

• in the making of decisions by the CCP  
to provide, suspend or terminate protection 
under the WP Act; and

• in the consideration of applications for 
preventative detention orders and prohibited 
contact orders and the review of police 
preventative detention decisions under  
the TCP Act.

The PIM’s functions are to test the content  
and sufficiency of information relied on and the 
circumstances of applications, to pose questions 
to applicants, and to make submissions to the 
decision-maker regarding the appropriateness  
of granting the application. 

The VI monitors the PIM’s compliance with 
obligations prescribed by the PIM Act, WP Act  
and TCP Act. These prescribed obligations include:
• Making receipts for notifications  

and documents received.
• Keeping adequate procedures for ensuring 

information security.
• Maintaining a document register.
• Keeping law enforcement data securely stored. 
• Returning all documents promptly to the 

applicant.

Inspection Results
In 2019-20, VI officers conducted two inspections 
of records held by the PIM, at which the VI 
inspected a total of 286 files. 

The VI delivered a report on each inspection to the 
Minister within the statutory timeframe, being three 
months after each inspection was conducted.

The results of the inspections carried out in  
2019-20 show that the PIM continues to achieve  
a very high level of compliance with legislative 
and regulatory requirements. The PIM’s own 
internal quality assurance processes had identified 
and corrected certain errors, which were disclosed 
to the VI at the commencement of each 
inspection. The VI found no additional errors  
or issues in the PIM’s records during each  
of its two inspections. 

The VI also engaged with the PIM on regulatory 
requirements independently of the bi-annual 
inspections. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
an applicant agency changed its method for 
delivering draft applications to the PIM. Following 
consultation on this electronic delivery method, in 
particular to ensure compliance with regulations that 
protect the security of information provided to its 
office, the PIM developed new procedures that 
addressed regulatory requirements to the 
satisfaction of the VI. 

Public interest disclosures
Following the commencement of the IALA Act in 
January 2020, the VI is now able to receive public 
interest disclosures (previously known as protected 
disclosures) about improper conduct of the PIM or 
Deputy PIMs. The VI is responsible for the receipt, 
assessment and, where applicable, the 
investigation of these public interest disclosures.

During 2019-20 the VI received nil complaints and 
nil enquiries about a PIM. 

Public Interest Monitor
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Victoria Police

Compliance with the MCIP Act
The VI has a function with respect to Victoria Police 
under the MCIP Act, overseeing compliance with 
the Act by the CCP and other police officers. 

Following liaison between the VI and Victoria 
Police Crime Command in relation to activities 
under the MCIP Act this year, Victoria Police’s  
Chief Examiner’s Legal Unit (CELU) proactively 
established bi-monthly meetings with the VI  
to provide contextual information and updates  
on its work. These meetings have been welcomed 
by the VI as a measure of openness and 
engagement, and an effective forum for basic 
queries and updates to be conveyed in support  
of the VI’s oversight. 

In its 2018-19 Annual Report, the VI described 
having completed a ‘preliminary review’ of 
Victoria Police’s standard operating procedures  
for the activities of the CCP and other police 
officers under the MCIP Act. In 2019-20, the VI 
undertook a targeted review of proposed and 
revised standard operating procedures associated 
with applications by Victoria Police for the release 
of restricted evidence pursuant to ss 43A and 43B 
of the MCIP Act. As part of its oversight of these 
procedures, the VI: 
• Made two requests to Victoria Police for 

information, in addition to two earlier requests 
for information made in 2018-19. 

• Reviewed two versions of each of the two 
relevant sets of procedures and templates,  
for ss 43A and 43B, being proposed and then 
revised procedures (this work is ongoing at  
30 June 2020). 

• Discussed the procedures and earlier Victoria 
Police applications under s 43A in three 
meetings between the VI and members  
of the CELU. 

The VI anticipates finalising its consideration of 
these procedures in the first quarter of 2020-21. 

The CCP acquitted his reporting obligations under 
s 66 of the MCIP Act by providing 6-monthly 
reports covering the prescribed and other matters. 
The VI made enquiries of Victoria Police in 
response to some information included in the 
6-monthly reports, to satisfy itself of compliance 
with certain obligations on the CCP and other 
police officers, such as information sharing. 

Counter-terrorism powers
In accordance with the TCP Act, Victoria Police can: 
• Conduct covert searches of premises under 

the authority of a warrant issued by the 
Supreme Court. Covert search warrants can 
also permit the seizure of things, the copying  
of documents or information, and the testing  
or taking of samples, amongst other things. 

• Detain and question people without charge,  
for prevention or to preserve evidence. Adults 
can be detained for up to four days, and 
children aged 14 years or older can be 
detained for up to 36 hours.

• Use special police powers under the authority 
of a Supreme Court order, which must be 
approved in writing by the Premier of Victoria. 

These powers were given to Victoria Police to assist 
them to prevent, or respond to, a terrorist act, or 
the threat of a terrorist act. The Act imposes strict 
requirements on Victoria Police in the exercise of 
these powers, as they are amongst the most intrusive 
and coercive afforded to law enforcement bodies.

The VI’s inspections role with respect to these 
powers is to assess Victoria Police’s compliance 
with Parts 2, 2AA and 3A of the TCP Act (which 
provide for the powers described above), and  
to report to the Minister and Parliament on  
its findings. The VI’s oversight role is an important 
integrity response to ensure Victoria Police 
complies with the requirements of the TCP Act  
and to provide the public with assurance that 
police powers are used lawfully.
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In 2019-20, the VI conducted two inspections  
of records held by Victoria Police. The VI also 
assessed Victoria Police’s preparatory activities  
to support compliance with TCP Act requirements 
such as its training programs, engagement with 
associated agencies, and procedural documents 
including checklists and templates. The VI’s report 
on the results of its second inspection, conducted 
in March 2020, will be made to Parliament  
and the Minister as soon as practicable after 
1 July 2020. 

The VI delivered two reports to the Minister  
and Parliament in 2019-20 on the results of its 
inspection of Victoria Police records under the TCP 
Act. Each report was provided within the statutory 
timeframe, being at 6-monthly intervals and as 
soon as practicable after 1 July and 1 January:
•  Report tabled August 2019 on Victoria Police 

records inspected in March 2019
  The VI made two findings of non-compliance 

resulting from this first inspection of counter-
terrorism records, both related to the one 
covert search warrant executed in the period. 
The warrant was subject to a condition, which 
limited the kind of ‘thing’ permitted to be 
copied, photographed or recorded during  
the search. The VI found: 

 –  That officers executing the search copied 
things (records and/or information) that 
were not permitted to be copied due  
to the condition. 

 –  That the report made to the VI relating  
to this warrant did not give adequate 
details of compliance with the condition 
on the warrant. 

• Report tabled March 2020 on Victoria Police 
records inspected in September 2019 

  As there were no records to inspect during  
this period, the VI reported on Victoria Police’s 
training, procedural and preparatory activities 
since the previous inspection. 

The results from both inspections show that Victoria 
Police is committed to developing comprehensive 
processes to support compliance with the 
requirements of the TCP Act, including embedding 
quality assurance mechanisms and checklists in its 
operations, and to training relevant officers.

Controlled operations and 
technical surveillance powers 
In 2019-20 the VI conducted a total of 14 site visits  
to various work areas within Victoria Police, to inspect 
records associated with covert investigative powers. 
This number is down from 18 inspections conducted 
in 2018-19, due to a number of inspections being 
postponed in response to workplace restrictions 
introduced from mid-March 2020 due to COVID-19. 
The VI completed one inspection round for each  
of these covert powers: 
• Surveillance devices
 The VI inspected records held by Victoria 

Police’s Special Projects Unit, Technical Projects 
Unit and their Technical Surveillance Unit under 
the SD Act. The findings from these inspections 
were reported to Parliament in June 2020. With 
the exception of two reporting errors and one 
record keeping error, the VI found that Victoria 
Police had otherwise fully complied with its 
record-keeping and reporting obligations. 

• Controlled operations
 Controlled operations records at Victoria 

Police’s Crime Department were inspected 
during 2019-20. The VI identified a number of 
reporting and record keeping related errors in 
its annual report, and in response to these, 
Victoria Police took corrective action to rectify 
the errors and also introduced new processes 
to improve future compliance. The results from 
these inspections were included in the VI’s 
report tabled in Parliament in March 2020.

• Telecommunications interception
 The VI inspected telecommunications 

interception records at Victoria Police’s Special 
Projects Unit and Technical Projects Unit. During 
2019-20, the VI delivered a report on its findings 
from inspections conducted in 2018-19 within 
the statutory timeframe, being 30 September 
2019, to the Police Minister and the State 
Attorney-General, who must then provide  
the reports to the Commonwealth Attorney-
General. These reports are not publicly 
available.

https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/report-counter-terrorism-powers-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/report-counter-terrorism-powers-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/report-counter-terrorism-powers-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/report-counter-terrorism-powers-victorian-inspectorate
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/surveillance-devices-reports
https://www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au/controlled-operations-reports-victorian-inspectorate
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Financial performance 
The Victorian Government considers the net result 
from transactions to be the appropriate measure 
of financial management that can be directly 
attributed to government policy.

This measure excludes the effects of revaluations 
(holding gains or losses) arising from changes  
in market prices and other changes in the value  
of assets and liabilities on the comprehensive 
operating statement, which are outside the  
control of the VI.

Based on the above, the VI recorded a breakeven 
result in 2019-20 compared to a net operating 
deficit of $124k in 2018-19. The VI avoided a 
significant net operating deficit due to one-off 
supplementary funding from the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet (DPC) and a Treasurer ’s 
Advance. The VI is actively seeking to secure 
increased ongoing funding to provide adequate 
resourcing to deliver the VI’s extended statutory 
remit and meet increased operational costs. 

The deficit of $6k on other economic flows is 
mainly due to the impact of movements in the 
bond rate used for the valuation of leave liabilities. 
The valuation resulted in an increase in the VI’s 
employee provisions which has been expensed 
through other economic flows. 

Financial position – Balance Sheet

Total assets of the VI increased from $3.1 million  
to $5.3 million, mainly due to the recognition  
of a right of use asset for the office space lease  
of the VI. 

Similarly, the increase in total liabilities from  
$0.9 million to $2.4 million, was predominantly 
due to the recognition of the above-mentioned 
lease as a liability in the balance sheet. These 
accounting recognitions were done as part  
of the implementation of AASB16 Leases,  
in the 2019-20 financial year. 

Cash flows
The net cash flows from operating activities has 
increased marginally compared to the previous 
year due to the timing of payments and receipts 
during the year.

2020 
$

2019 
$

2018 
$

2017 
$

2016 
$

Total income from transactions 4,718,312 3,633,268 3,355,012 3,357,881 2,715,052

Total expenses from transactions 4,718,312 3,757,479 3,355,012 3,400,329 2,934,925

Net result from transactions – (124,211) – (42,447) (219,873)

Other economic flows included in net result(a) (5,938) (15,644) 210 6,936 (2,403)

Net result (5,938) (139,855) 210 (35,511) (222,276)

Net cashflows from operations 119,995 4,203 8,253 2,280 14,856

Total assets 5,295,379 3,093,621 2,929,891 2,997,656 2,960,691

Total liabilities 2,380,793 857,114 553,529 621,503 549,028

Notes:  (a) Includes gains or losses from disposal of non-financial assets and revaluation of leave liabilities for changes in the 
government bond rate. 

Five-year financial summary
Table G
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Audit and Risk Committee 
Membership and Roles 

The VI has an Audit and Risk Committee which 
meets at least four times each year and reviews 
not only the VI’s financial performance and 
procedures but also general risk management. 

As at 30 June 2020 the Audit and Risk Committee 
consisted of the following members:
• David Gibbs, Chairman
• Taryn Rulton
• Joh Kirby

Joh Kirby was appointed to the Committee 
commencing August 2019 on the retirement  
of former member, David Boymal AM, whose 
appointment expired in September 2019.

The main responsibilities of the Audit and Risk 
Committee are to: 
• Review and report independently to the 

Inspector on the financial statements  
published in the annual report and other 
financial information of the VI.

• Assist the Inspector in reviewing the 
effectiveness of the VI’s internal control 
environment covering:

 – Effectiveness and efficiency of operations
 – Reliability of financial reporting
 –  Compliance with applicable laws  

and regulations.
• Determine the scope of the internal audit 

function and ensure its resources are adequate 
and used effectively, including coordination 
with external auditors. 

• Maintain effective communication  
with external auditors.

• Consider recommendations made  
by internal and external auditors and  
review the implementation of actions  
to resolve issues raised.

• Oversee the effective operation of the risk 
management framework.

Occupational Health and Safety 
Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) is an 
important component of how the VI conducts 
operations for staff, contractors and all visitors. 
All employees have access to physical and 
psychological wellbeing services including  
an independent Employee Assistance Program 
(EAP), influenza vaccinations and ergonomic 

assessments. The VI accesses significant OH&S 
support through DPC including access to their 
training and policies. 

Consistent with previous years, the VI has not  
had any accidents or near misses in the current 
reporting period and has not had any lost time  
in relation to OH&S injuries. Due to the VI not 
receiving any claims there were no associated 
costs for the year. 

COVID-19 OH&S measures 
COVID-19 and the government directives that  
all employees work from home where possible 
presented some challenges for the VI which 
previously had limited capacity to accommodate 
flexible working arrangements due to security 
requirements. The VI’s response to COVID-19  
and the establishment of working from home 
arrangements was to take a proactive  
approach to managing OH&S issues, with the 
communicated key priorities being the safety and 
well-being of staff and the community, followed 
by security of information, and work output. In 
March 2020 all VI staff moved to working from 
home arrangements, consistent with the whole  
of Victorian Government approach.

Based on the VPS policy and guidelines, the VI 
developed a Working From Home policy which 
was formally issued on 6 April 2020. It has a  
strong emphasis on staff safety and well-being.  
In addition to consideration of additional/special 
leave options, the importance of open 
communication, and permission to take office 
equipment home, the policy includes a checklist 
that addresses ergonomics, the VI’s security 
requirements, and emergency contacts.

To further support staff well-being and maintain 
positive engagement, the VI established weekly 
staff catch-ups via Zoom and Teams, continued 
the monthly all-staff meetings, conducted  
a weekly trivia competition, and a photography 
competition. In May/June 2020 the VI conducted 
a staff survey as part of the planning towards  
a transition back to the office; the survey  
received a 100 per cent response.

Employment and Conduct principles
The VI is committed to applying merit and equity 
principles when appointing staff. The selection 
processes ensure that applicants are assessed 
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and evaluated fairly and equitably on the basis  
of the key selection criteria and other 
accountabilities without discrimination.  
The VI has complied with the requirements  
of the Jobs and Skills Exchange, a VPS initiative 
introduced in October 2019 to afford VPS 
employees with priority access to all job 
opportunities across the VPS before they are 
advertised externally. Employees have been 
correctly classified in workforce data collections.
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Public Sector Values  
and Employment Principles 
The Public Administration Act 2004 (PA Act) 
established the Victorian Public Sector 
Commission (VPSC). The VPSC’s role is to 
strengthen public sector efficiency, effectiveness 
and capability, and advocate for public sector 
professionalism and integrity. 

The VI’s policies and practices are consistent  
with the VPSC’s employment standards and 
provide for fair treatment, career opportunities 
and the early resolution of workplace issues.  
The VI also accesses support through DPC 
including expert advice on employment principles 
and processes. The VI advises its employees  
on how to avoid conflicts of interest and respond 
to offers of gifts and on how the VI deals with 
misconduct. 

The VI is committed to Public Sector Values and 
employment principles. The VI also promotes its 
own values to staff and the need to uphold them 
at all times. 

Workforce Inclusion Policy 
The VI is an equal opportunity employer and  
its recruitment processes focus on essential skills 
and abilities. The VI welcomes applicants from  
a diverse range of backgrounds, including 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, 
people from culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds and people with disabilities.

The VI values its people and is committed to 
attracting, developing and retaining diverse talent. 
It actively promotes diversity and inclusion in the 
workplace and does not discriminate based on 
age, sex, carer or parental status, disability, race, 
religious belief, sexual orientation, gender identity 
or other characteristics.

The VI values staff with non-binary gender identities 
at all levels from VPS officers through to executives. 
The VI acknowledges that due to historic and 
current barriers to disclosure of non-binary gender 
identities, staff may not choose to disclose this 
information. As a result, targets or quotas are not 
currently a useful way to promote opportunities for 
gender diverse staff. The VI accesses advice and 
support from DPC to ensure a robust approach to 
workforce inclusion.

Comparative Workforce Data 
The data provided is actual full time equivalent 
(FTE) data as at 30 June 2020 for VPS employees 
and does not include statutory appointments. 
Employees have been correctly classified in 
workforce data collections. 

The VI employed 16 staff (15.6 FTE) as at 30 June 
2020, comprising seven fixed term and nine 
ongoing staff. At 30 June 2019, the VI employed 
14 staff (14 FTE), comprising three fixed term and 
11 ongoing staff. The comparative percentage 
increase in the number of fixed term staff is 
trending up based on the previous two years’ data 
and is attributed to the VI’s budget position. 

Table H
Summary of employment levels in June of 2019 and 2020

Ongoing Fixed Term Casual Total

Number
(Headcount)

FTE
Number

(Headcount)
FTE

Number
(Headcount)

FTE
Number

(Headcount)

June 2020

9 9 7 6.6 0 0 16

June 2019

11 11 3 3 0 0 14
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Table I
Details of employment levels in June of 2019 and 2020

June 2020 June 2019

Ongoing Fixed term & Casual Ongoing Fixed term & Casual

Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE

Gender

Male 3 3 0 0 4 4 1 1

Female 6 6 7 6.6 7 7 2 2

Self-described n n n n n n n n

Age

Under 25 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0

25-34 4 4 1 1 5 5 0 0

35-44 1 1 2 1.8 3 3 0 0

45-54 4 4 2 1.8 3 3 2 2

55-64 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1

Over 64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Classification

Executive Officer 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1

Executive Officer 3 0* 0 0* 0* 0 0 0 0

VPS Grade 6 2* 2* 2 2 2 2 1 1

VPS Grade 5 3 3 2 1.6 2 2 0 0

VPS Grade 4 4 4 1 1 5 5 1 1

VPS Grade 3 0 0 1 1 2 2 0 0

* One substantive VPS 6 - acting EO3 

Executive Officer data disclosures
The executive officer data is current as at 30 June 2020. 
The number of Executives reported is the number of 
Executives at the end of the financial year. See Section 
8.5 in the VI Financial Statements for further details 
regarding executive remuneration. 

Table J

Male Female Self-described Vacancies

2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19

Executive Officer 3 0 0 0* 0 n n 0 0

Executive Officer 2 0 0 1 1 n n 0 0

Total 0 0 1* 1 n n 0 0

* Substantive VPS 6 acting as EO3
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Disclosure of government 
advertising expenditure 
Nil report. 

Details of consultancies  
over $10,000
In 2019-20, there was one consultancy where  
the total fees payable to the consultants were 
$10,000 or greater. The total expenditure incurred 
during 2019-20 in relation to this consultancy  
is $31,501 (excluding GST).

Details of consultancies  
under $10,000
In 2019-20, there were no consultancies  
engaged during the year, where the total  
fees payable to the individual consultancies  
was less than $10,000.

Information and Communication 
Technology expenditure 
For the 2019-20 reporting period, the VI had  
a total Information and Communication 
Technology (ICT) expenditure of $801,102  
with details shown below. 

ICT expenditure refers to the VI’s costs in providing 
business enabling ICT services within the current 
reporting period. It comprises Business As Usual 
(BAU) ICT expenditure and Non-Business As Usual 
(Non-BAU) ICT expenditure. Non-BAU ICT 
expenditure relates to extending or enhancing the 
VI’s current ICT capabilities. BAU ICT expenditure is 
all remaining ICT expenditure which primarily 
relates to ongoing activities to operate and 
maintain the current ICT capability.

Table K

Consultant

Purpose of 

consultancy Start date End date

Total approved 
project fee 
(excl. GST)

Expenditure 
2019-20 

(excl. GST)

Future 
expenditure 

(excl. GST)

Arcord Pty Ltd Security 
consultancy 
services

1/7/19 30/6/20 $31,501 $31,501 Nil

Table L

All operational  
ICT expenditure

ICT expenditure related to projects to create or enhance ICT capabilities

Business As Usual (BAU)  
ICT expenditure

Non Business As Usual  
(non BAU) ICT expenditure

Operational  
expenditure

Capital  
expenditure

(Total) (Total = Operational expenditure  
and capital expenditure)

$58,123 $742,979 $329,776 $413,203
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Disclosure of major contracts
The VI did not enter into any major contracts  
in the current reporting period. 

Compliance with the Freedom  
of Information Act 1982

Under the FOI Act the public has a right of access 
to certain documents held by the VI. In the period 
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 the VI did not receive 
any requests for access to documents under the 
FOI Act. 

VI documents
Section 102 of the VI Act exempts certain classes 
of documents in the possession of the VI from 
access through the FOI Act. Specifically, the FOI 
Act does not apply to a document that is in the 
possession of a ‘relevant person or body’ to the 
extent to which the document discloses 
information that relates to:
• a complaint made under the VI Act; 
• an inspection made under the VI Act; 
• an investigation conducted under the VI Act; 
• a recommendation made by the VI under the 

VI Act: or
• a report, including a progress report, on an 

investigation conducted under the VI Act.

A relevant person or body for the purposes  
of section 102 means the VI and a VI officer,  
IBAC, a PIM, the VWA, the CCP, the DPP, the AFP,  
a VAGO officer, the office of the Ombudsman, 
an Ombudsman officer, the Chief Examiner  
and any Examiner, OVIC or any officer of OVIC, 
the Judicial Commission and any other  
prescribed person.

Making a request 
Section 17 of the FOI Act outlines the requirements 
for making a request. In summary, a request  
to the VI must:
• be in writing;
• identify as clearly as possible which document 

is being requested; and
• be accompanied by the appropriate 

application fee (the fee may be waived in 
certain circumstances).

Access charges may also apply once documents 
have been processed and a decision on access 
is made, for example photocopying and search 
and retrieval charges. 

Requests for documents in possession 
of the VI should be addressed to:

Victorian Inspectorate 
Freedom of Information 
PO Box 617 Collins Street West 
Melbourne Vic 8007 
Email: privacy@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au

Under the FOI Act the processing time for FOI 
requests received is 30 days. In some cases,  
this time may be extended.

If an applicant is not satisfied by a decision made 
by the VI, they have a right under section 49A of 
the FOI Act to seek a review by OVIC within 28 
days after the day on which they are given  
written notice of the decision.

Further information
Further information regarding the operation and 
scope of FOI can be obtained from the FOI Act; 
regulations made under the FOI Act; and  
www.ovic.vic.gov.au.

Compliance with building and 
maintenance provisions of the 
Building Act 1993 

The VI does not own or control any government 
buildings and consequently is exempt from 
notifying its compliance with the building and 
maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

Application and operation of the 
Carers Recognition Act 2012

To the extent applicable, the VI has taken all 
practical measures to comply with its obligations 
under the Carers Recognition Act 2012. The  
VI gave careful consideration to the needs and 
obligations of carers when developing the Working 
From Home policy in response to COVID-19, and 
ensured that all staff were aware of the COVID 
paid special leave entitlements. One staff 
member used COVID paid special leave while 
home-schooling children during the Stage 3 
lockdown in May and June.

https://ovic.vic.gov.au/
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Compliance with the  
Disability Act 2006
The VI acknowledges the importance of 
strengthening the rights of people with a disability 
and is committed to creating and maintaining  
an accessible and inclusive environment for all 
people with a disability who come into contact 
with the VI, whether as employees, stakeholders  
or members of the public more generally. DPC 
developed a comprehensive Disability Action 
Plan 2017-20 which the VI has access to through 
the current corporate services arrangements. 
This detailed plan and available support assists  
the VI to ensure that the VI’s policies and services 
are accessible and responsive to the needs 
of people with a disability.

Office based environmental impacts
The VI minimises the use of electricity and water  
by using efficient appliance and office 
equipment, including energy efficient lighting 
which turns off in unstaffed areas. The VI uses 
100% recycled copy paper, encourages 
electronic communication, double-sided printing 
and PIN printing when necessary in order to 
reduce paper usage. The VI uses segregated 
waste systems, where all recyclable materials are 
recycled. Bin contents are cleared daily and 
communal building waste receptacles are utilised 
for all tenants in the building. The VI does not  
have any assigned government vehicles.  
Staff are encouraged to use public transport  
in undertaking business activities.

Statement of availability  
of other information 
In compliance with the requirements of the 
Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial 
Management Act 1994 (FM Act), details in 
respect of the items listed below have been 
retained by the VI and are available on request, 
subject to the provisions of the FOI Act.

• A statement that declarations of pecuniary 
interests have been duly completed by all 
relevant officers.

• Details of shares held by a senior officer as 
nominee or held beneficially in a statutory 
authority or subsidiary. 

• Details of publications produced by the VI 
about itself, and how these can be obtained.

• Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, 
rates and levies charged by the VI. 

• Details of any major external reviews carried 
out on the VI.

• Details of any major research and 
development activities undertaken by the VI. 

• Details of overseas visits undertaken including  
a summary of the objectives and outcomes  
of each visit.

• Details of any major promotional, public 
relations and marketing activities undertaken 
by the VI to develop community awareness  
of the VI and its services. 

• Details of assessments and measures 
undertaken to improve the occupational 
health and safety of employees. 

• A general statement on industrial relations 
within the VI and details of time lost through 
industrial accidents and disputes. 

• A list of major committees sponsored  
by the VI, the purposes of each committee 
and the extent to which the purposes have 
been achieved.

• Details of all consultancies and contractors 
including:

 – Consultants/contractors engaged. 
 – Services provided.
 –  Expenditure committed to for each 

engagement.

The information is available on request from:

Director, Budget Independence and Strategy 
Phone: 0408 187 580 
Email: corporate@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au
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Comprehensive operating statement
For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Continuing operations 
Income from transactions

Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Grants 2.1 4,718,312 3,633,268

Total income from transactions 4,718,312 3,633,268

Expenses from transactions

Employee benefits 3.2.1 2,913,152 2,503,426

Depreciation 4.2 638,561 214,600

Interest expenses 33,477 –

Capital asset charge 62,800 –

Other operating expenses 3.3 1,070,322 1,039,453

Total expenses from transactions 4,718,312 3,757,479

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) – (124,211)

Other economic flows included in net result

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non financial assets (608) (4,102)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of leave liabilities (5,330) (11,542)

Total other economic flows included in net result (5,938) (15,644)

Net result (5,938) (139,855)

Comprehensive result (5,938) (139,855)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2020

Assets Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Financial assets

Receivables 5.1 3,160,371 2,261,267

Total financial assets 3,160,371 2,261,267

Non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 2,125,573 784,982

Prepayments 5.3 9,435 47,372

Total non-financial assets 2,135,008 832,354

Total assets 5,295,379 3,093,621

Liabilities

Employee benefits 3.2.2 521,816 372,090

Payables 5.2 317,865 134,674

Other provisions 5.4 365,365 350,350

Borrowings 6.1 1,175,748 –

Total liabilities 2,380,793 857,114

Net assets 2,914,586 2,236,507

Equity

Accumulated surplus (861,692) (855,754)

Contributed capital 3,776,279 3,092,261

Net worth 2,914,586 2,236,507

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Cash flow statement
For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Cash flows from operating activities Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Receipts

Receipts from government 3,968,681 3,578,236

Total receipts 3,968,681 3,578,236

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (3,752,409) (3,574,033)

Capital asset charge paid (62,800) –

Interest and other cost of finance paid (33,477) –

Total payment (3,848,686) (3,574,033)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 6.2 119,995 4,203

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of motor vehicle – 18,909

Purchase of non-financial assets (427,609) –

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (427,609) 18,909

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital grant received from the Department of Premier and Cabinet 684,017 –

Repayment of leases (376,402) (23,112)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 307,615 (23,112)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year – –

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Contributed 
capital 

$

Accumulated 
surplus 

 $

Total  
 
$

Balance at 1 July 2018 3,092,261 (715,899) 2,376,362

Net result for the year – (139,855) (139,855)

Balance at 30 June 2019 3,092,261 (855,754) 2,236,507

Capital grant received from the  
Department of Premier and Cabinet

684,018 – 684,018

Net result for the year – (5,938) (5,938)

Balance at 30 June 2020 3,776,279 (861,692) 2,914,586

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1 | About this report 
The Victorian Inspectorate (the Inspectorate) is a body 
corporate established under Section 8 of the Victorian 
Inspectorate Act 2011 (the Act). The Inspectorate’s 
objectives, functions, powers and duties are set  
out in sections 11 and 13 of the Act.

The principal address of the Inspectorate is

Victorian Inspectorate  
Level 8 
565 Bourke Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000

A description of the nature of the principal services  
of the Inspectorate is included in the “Report of 
Operations” of the Annual Report which does  
not form part of these financial statements.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are prepared in Australian 
dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless 
a different measurement basis is specifically disclosed 
in the note associated with the item measured on  
a different basis.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in 
the preparation of these financial statements whereby 
assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are 
recognised in the reporting period to which they  
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 
Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, 
contributed capital and its repayment) are treated  
as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form  
part of the income and expenses of the Inspectorate.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required 
to be made about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions  
are based on professional judgements derived from 
historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised  
in the period in which the estimate is revised and  
also in future periods that are affected by the revision.

These financial statements cover the Inspectorate  
as an individual reporting entity and include all the 
controlled activities of the Inspectorate.

Compliance information 
These general-purpose financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with 
the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable 
Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) including 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB). In particular, they are presented 
in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 
1049 Whole of Government and General Government 
Sector Financial Reporting.

Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable 
to not-for-profit entities have been applied. Accounting 
policies selected and applied in these financial 
statements ensure that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and 
reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 
underlying transactions or other events is reported.

Other accounting policies 
Significant and other accounting policies that 
summarise the recognition and measurement basis 
used and are relevant to an understanding of the 
financial statements are provided throughout the  
notes to the financial statements.

2 | Funding of our services
Introduction
The Inspectorate is predominantly funded by accrual 
based Parliamentary appropriations for the provision  
of outputs. These appropriations are received by the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet and the 
Department of Justice and Community Safety and 
on-forwarded to the Inspectorate in the form of grants.

Structure
2.1    Summary of income that funds  

the delivery of our services

2.1 |   Income that funds the delivery 
of our services

2020 $ 2019 $

Income from transactions

Grants from the Department of 
Justice and Community Safety

1,023,978 –

Grants from the Department  
of Premier and Cabinet

3,694,334 3,633,268

Total Income 4,718,312 3,633,268

The Inspectorate does not have any grants other than 
parliamentary appropriation transferred as grants from 
the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) and the 
Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS). 
These grants are recognised under the accounting 
standard AASB 1004 when the Inspectorate has 
delivered the services and DPC and DJCS has 
transferred the grant.

Previous accounting policy  
for 30 June 2019
Income from grants (other than contribution by owners) 
is recognised when the Inspectorate obtains control 
over the contribution. Where grants are reciprocal (i.e. 
equal value is given back by the Inspectorate to the 
provider), the Inspectorate is deemed to have assumed 
control when performance obligations under the terms 
of the grant are met. Non-reciprocal grants are 
recognised as income when the grant is received or 
receivable. Conditional grants may be reciprocal or 
non-reciprocal depending on the terms of the grant.
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3 |  Cost of delivering 
our services

Introduction
This section provides an account of the expenses 
incurred by the Inspectorate in delivering its services.

The funds that enable the provision of the services  
were disclosed in Note 2.

Structure
3.1  Expenses incurred in the delivery of services 
3.2  Employee benefits 
3.3  Other operating expenses

3.1 |   Expenses incurred in the 
delivery of services

Notes 2020 $ 2019 $

Employee benefits 3.2.1 2,913,152 2,503,426

Capital asset charge 62,800 –

Other operating expenses 3.3 1,070,322 1,039,453

Total Operating Expenses 4,046,274 3,542,879

3.2 |  Employee benefits
3.2.1   Employee benefits in the 

comprehensive operating statement

2020 $ 2019 $

Salaries and wages, annual leave 
and long service leave

2,742,805 2,351,776

Defined contribution superannuation 
expense

170,347 151,650

Total employee benefits expenses 2,913,152 2,503,426

Employee benefits include all costs related to 
employment including salaries and wages, fringe 
benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments 
and WorkCover premiums.

3.2.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees  
in respect of annual leave and long service leave  
for services rendered up to the reporting date and 
recorded as an expense during the period the services 
are delivered.

2020 $ 2019 $

Current provisions

Annual leave 246,564 176,050

Long service leave 165,152 125,791

Total current provisions 411,716 301,841

Non-current provision

Long service leave 110,100 70,249

Total non-current provisions 110,100 70,249

Total employee benefits 521,816 372,090

Current provisions
The annual leave liability is classified as a current liability 
as the Inspectorate does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least  
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Unconditional long service leave is disclosed as  
a current liability; even where the Inspectorate does  
not expect to settle the liability within 12 months 
because it will not have the unconditional right to  
defer the settlement of the entitlement should an 
employee take leave within 12 months.

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick 
leave is non-vesting and it is not considered probable 
that the average sick leave taken in the future will be 
greater than the benefits accrued in the future. As sick 
leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as it is taken.

Employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers 
compensation and superannuation are included as 
a component of the provision for employee benefits.

Non-current provisions
Conditional long service leave is disclosed as a  
non-current liability where there is an unconditional  
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the 
employee has completed the requisite years of service. 
This non-current long service leave is measured at 
present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present 
value of non-current long service leave liability is 
recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that  
a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest 
rates for which it is then recognised as an ‘other 
economic flow’ in the net result.

The Inspectorate does not recognise any defined 
benefit liabilities because it has no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay future benefits relating to its 
employees. Instead, the Department of Treasury and 
Finance (DTF) discloses in its annual financial statements 
the net defined benefit cost related to the members of 
these plans as an administered liability (on behalf of the 
State as the sponsoring employer).
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3.3 | Other operating expenses

2020 $ 2019 $

Purchase of services and supplies 407,201 381,953

Operating lease rentals (a) – 353,496

Low-value lease expenses 1,564 –

Information technology costs (b) 375,571 73,030

Occupancy costs 285,986 230,974

Total other operating expenses 1,070,322 1,039,453

The presentation of last year’s numbers has  
been modified to align with 2020 classification  
of transactions. The changes were in purchases  
of services and supplies and information  
technology costs.

Notes:
(a)  With transition to AASB16 Leases, accommodation leases 

are accounted for as a “right of use asset/lease liability” 
in the balance sheet and are no longer expensed as lease 
rentals in the Comprehensive Operating Statement.

(b)   The Information Technology (IT) costs have increased  
in 2020 due to expenses incurred on technology refresh  
of the Inspectorate’s IT infrastructure.

Other operating expenses generally represent  
the day-to-day running costs incurred in delivering 
services of the Inspectorate.

Operating lease payments up until 30 June 2019 
(including contingent rentals) are recognised on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except  
where another systematic basis is more representative 
of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use 
of the leased asset.

Since 1 July 2019 all leases (except below) are 
accounted under that AASB 16 Lease Accounting 
Standard in the Inspectorate’s balance sheet.

•  Short-term leases – leases with a term 
less than 12 months; or

•  Low value leases – leases with the underlying asset’s 
fair value (when new, regardless of the age of the 
asset being leased) is no more than $10,000.

There are no Short-term leases for the  
financial year.
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4 |  Key assets available to support 
delivery of our services

Introduction
The Inspectorate controls property, plant and 
equipment in fulfilling its objectives and conducting its 
activities. These assets represent the key resources that 
the Inspectorate uses for the delivery of these services. 

Structure
4.1  Property, plant and equipment 
4.2  Asset depreciation

4.1 | Property, plant and equipment
Gross carrying 

amount
Accumulated  
depreciation

Net carrying 
amount

2020 $ 2019 $ 2020 $ 2019 $ 2020 $ 2019 $

Right of use buildings 1,551,541 - (413,744) - 1,137,797 -

Leasehold improvements 3,901,053 3,886,038 (3,326,479) (3,102,780) 574,573 783,258

Office and computer 
equipment at fair value

414,319 15,519 (1,116) (13,795) 413,203 1,724

Net carrying amount 5,866,912 3,901,557 (3,741,339) (3,116,575) 2,125,573 784,982

Property, plant and equipment  
other than right of use assets
Initial recognition: Items of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised initially at cost. Where 
an asset is acquired for no or nominal consideration, 
the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised 
as an asset and depreciated over the remaining  
term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the 
improvements, whichever is the shorter.

The cost of the office furniture and equipment is the 
purchase price and any other additional cost incurred 
to bring the asset to the place and condition it is 
available for use.

Subsequent measurement: Property, plant and 
equipment is subsequently measured at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Fair value 
is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and 
best use (considering legal or physical restrictions 
imposed on the asset, public announcements or 
commitments made in relation to the intended use  
of the asset).

Right-of-use asset acquired by lessees  
(Under AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019)  
– Initial recognition
The Inspectorate recognises a right-of-use asset and  
a lease liability at the lease commencement date.  
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for:

•  any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentive 
received; plus

•  any initial direct costs incurred; and

•  an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove  
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying 
asset or the site on which it is located.

Right-of-use asset – Subsequent measurement
The Inspectorate depreciates the right-of-use assets  
on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the 
right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The 
right-of-use assets are also subject to revaluation.

Impairment: Property, plant and equipment, is tested  
for impairment whenever there is an indication that  
an asset may be impaired.

The assets concerned are tested as to whether their 
carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. 
Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the difference is considered to be an 
impairment and is written off as an ‘other economic 
flow’, except to the extent that it can be offset to an 
asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to that 
class of asset.

The recoverable amount for most assets is measured  
at the higher of current replacement cost and fair value 
less costs to sell. Recoverable amount for assets held 
primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at 
the higher of the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value 
less costs to sell.
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4.1(a)  Reconciliation of movements in 
carrying amount of property, plant 
and equipment

The following tables are subsets of property, plant  
and equipment included in Note 4.1 showing the 
right-of-use assets.

2020

Right of use 
buildings 

 
$

Leasehold 
improvements 

 
$

Office and 
computer 

equipment 
$

Leased  
motor 

vehicles 
$

Total 
 
 
$

Carrying amount at the start of the year – 783,258 1,724 – 784,982

Recognition of right-or-use assets on initial 
application of AASB 16

1,551,541 – – – 1,551,541

Additions – 15,015 413,203 – 428,218

Disposals – – (608) – (608)

Depreciation expenses (413,744) (223,699) (1,116) – (638,559)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 1,137,797 574,574 413,203 – 2,125,573

2019

Carrying amount at the start of the year 645,348 3,884 23,012 672,244

Disposals (23,012) (23,012)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 783,258 1,724 – 784,982

4.2 |  Asset depreciation

2020 $ 2019 $

Right-of-use buildings 413,744 –

Leasehold improvements 223,699 212,440

Office and computer equipment 
at fair value

1,116 2,160

Total depreciation 638,559 214,600

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis,  
at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any 
estimated residual value, to its useful life. Depreciation 
begins when the asset is available for use in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by the Inspectorate.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at least annually. 
Typical estimated useful lives applicable for the different 
classes are included in the table below:

Useful life of assets

Assets class Useful life (years)

Leasehold improvements 5-40

Office and computer equipment 3-20

Leased motor vehicles 2-3
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5 |  Other assets and liabilities
Introduction
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that  
arose from the Inspectorate’s delivery of services. 

Structure
5.1  Receivables  
5.2  Payables 
5.3  Prepayments 
5.4  Other provisions

5.1 |  Receivables

2020 $ 2019 $

Statutory

Amounts owing from Victorian 
government

3,150,714 2,254,872

GST recoverable 9,656 6,395

Total receivables 3,160,371 2,261,267

Represented by:

Current receivables 3,061,310 2,198,062

Non-current receivables 99,060 63,205

Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and 
are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
measurement they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
and are not classified as financial instruments.

5.2 |  Payables
Contractual payables are classified as financial 
instruments and measured at amortised cost. Creditors 
and accruals represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Inspectorate prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid.

Statutory payables are recognised and measured 
similarly to contractual payables but are not classified 
as financial instruments and not included in the 
category of financial liabilities at amortised cost 
because they do not arise from a contract.

2020 $ 2019 $

Contractual

Creditors and accruals 304,835 121,168

Statutory

Amounts payable to other 
government agencies

13,030 13,506

Total payables 317,865 134,674

Represented by:

Current payables 317,865 134,674

5.3 |  Prepayments

2020 $ 2019 $

Prepayments 9,435 47,372

Total prepayments 9,435 47,372

Prepayments represent payments in advance for 
receipt of goods or made in one accounting period 
covering a term extending beyond that period.

5.4 |  Other provisions

2020 $ 2019 $

Make-good provision 365,365 350,350

Total other provisions 365,365 350,350

On behalf of the Inspectorate, the Assistant Treasurer 
has entered into a lease agreement on its existing 
premises. As a result, a make-good provision is 
recognised in accordance with the lease agreement  
as the Inspectorate is required to remove any leasehold 
improvements from the leased premises and restore  
the premises to its original condition at the end of  
the lease term.
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6 |  Financing our operations
Introduction
This section provides information on the sources  
of finance available to the Inspectorate during its 
operations, along with interest expenses (the cost  
of finance lease liabilities) and other information  
related to financing activities of the Inspectorate.

This section also includes disclosures on commitments 
for expenditure.

Structure
6.1  Borrowings 
6.2   Reconciliation of net result for the year  

to cash flow from operating activities
6.3  Commitments for expenditure

6.1 |  Borrowings

2020 $ 2019 $

Secured

Current lease liabilities 402,962 –

Non-current lease liabilities 772,786 –

Total Borrowings 1,175,748 –

Leases are recognised as assets and liabilities of the 
Inspectorate at amounts equal to the fair value of the 
lease property or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, each determined at the 
inception of the lease. The leased asset is depreciated 
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset 
or the term of the lease.

Minimum finance lease payments are apportioned 
between reduction of the lease liability and periodic 
finance charges which are calculated using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the 
comprehensive operating statement.

Leases are secured borrowings as the right to the leased 
assets will revert to the lessor in the event of a default.

There were no defaults and breaches of any lease 
conditions during the current or previous financial years.

The Inspectorate’s leasing activities
The Inspectorate leases various IT equipment. The lease 
contracts are typically made for a fixed period of 1–10 
years with an option to renew the lease after that date.

Leases of IT equipment with shorter contract terms of up 
to 12 months or low-value items of $10k or less are not 
recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 
These lease expenses are recognised when they 
become payable by the Inspectorate.

At 30 June 2020, the Inspectorate has an 
accommodation lease with a value of $1.175 million.

6.1(a) Right-of-use Assets
Right-of-use assets are presented in note 4.1.

6.1(b)  Amounts recognised in the 
Comprehensive Operating Statement

The following amounts are recognised in the 
Comprehensive Operating Statement relating to leases:

2020 $

Interest expense on lease liabilities 33,477

Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 1,564

Total amount recognised in the 
comprehensive operating statement

35,041

6.1(c)  Amounts recognised 
 in the Statement of Cashflows

The following amounts are recognised in the Statement 
of Cashflows for the year ending 30 June 2020 relating 
to leases.

2020 $

Interest expense on lease liabilities 33,477

Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 1,564

Lease liability payments 376,402

Total cash outflow for leases 411,443

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 July 
2019, the Inspectorate considers whether a contract is, 
or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or 
part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset 
(the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration’. To apply this definition the 
Inspectorate assesses whether the contract meets three 
key evaluations:

•  Whether the contract contains an identified asset, 
which is either explicitly identified in the contract  
or implicitly specified by being identified at the time 
the asset is made available to the Inspectorate and 
for which the supplier does not have substantive 
substitution rights;

•  Whether the Inspectorate has the right to obtain 
substantially all of the economic benefits from use  
of the identified asset throughout the period of use, 
considering its rights within the defined scope of the 
contract and the Inspectorate has the right to direct 
the use of the identified asset throughout the period 
of use; and

•  Whether the Inspectorate has the right to take 
decisions in respect of ‘how and for what purpose’ 
the asset is used throughout the period of use.

This policy is applied to all contracts from 1 July 2019.
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Separation of lease and non-lease 
components
At inception or on reassessment of a contract that 
contains a lease component, the lessee is required  
to separate out and account separately for non-lease 
components within a lease contract and exclude these 
amounts when determining the lease liability and 
right-of-use asset amount. 
 
Recognition and measurement of leases 
under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019

Lease Liability – initial measurement
The lease liability is initially measured at the  
present value of the lease payments unpaid  
at the commencement date, discounted using  
the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is  
readily determinable or the Inspectorate’s incremental 
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement  
of the lease liability comprise the following:
•  fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 

payments) less any lease incentive receivable;
•  variable payments based on an index or rate,  

initially measured using the index or rate as at  
the commencement date;

•  amounts expected to be payable under  
a residual value guarantee; and

•  payments arising from purchase and termination 
options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Lease Liability – subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be 
reduced for payments made and increased for interest. 
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or 
modification, or if there are changes in-substance fixed 
payments.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the 
corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use 
asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already 
reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets
The Inspectorate has elected to account for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical 
expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset 
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the 
expenditure is incurred.

Presentation of right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities
The Inspectorate presents right-of-use assets as ‘property 
plant and equipment’ unless they meet the definition of 
investment property, in which case they are disclosed 
as ‘investment property’ in the balance sheet. Lease 
liabilities are presented as ‘borrowings’ in the balance 
sheet.

Recognition and measurement of leases 
(under AASB 117 until 30 June 2019)
In the comparative period, leases of property, plant and 
equipment were classified as finance lease or operating 
leases.

The Inspectorate determined whether an arrangement 
was or contained a lease based on the substance of 
the arrangement and required an assessment of 
whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 
the use of the specific asset(s); and the arrangement 
conveyed a right to use the asset(s).

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the 
Inspectorate as a lessee had substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership were classified as finance 
leases. Finance leases were initially recognised as assets 
and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the 
leased property or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payment, each determined at the 
inception of the lease. The leased asset is accounted 
for as a non-financial physical asset and depreciated 
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset 
or the term of the lease.

Minimum finance lease payments were apportioned 
between the reduction of the outstanding lease liability 
and the periodic finance expense, which is calculated 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged 
directly to the consolidated comprehensive operating 
statement.

Contingent rentals associated with finance leases were 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they 
are incurred.

Assets held under other leases were classified as 
operating leases and were not recognised in the 
Inspectorate’s balance sheet. Operating lease 
payments were recognised as an operating expense in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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6.2 |   Reconciliation of net result  
for the year to cash flow from 
operating activities

2020 $ 2019 $

Net result for the period (5,938) (139,855)

Non-cash movements

Depreciation 638,561 214,600

Make-good cost of new lease 4,102

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non- 
financial assets

608

Movements in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (899,104) (58,176)

(Increase)/decrease in other 
non-financial assets

37,937 7,185

Increase/(decrease) in payables 183,191 (16,495)

(Decrease)/Increase in borrowings – –

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 149,725 (7,158)

Increase/(decrease) in lease 
incentive

– –

(Decrease)/Increase in make good

provision
15,015 –

Net cash flows from/(used in) 
operating activities

119,995 4,203

6.3 |  Commitments for expenditure
Commitments for future expenditure include operating 
and capital commitments arising from contracts. These 
commitments are recorded below at their nominal 
value and inclusive of GST. Where it is considered 
appropriate, additional relevant information such as the 
net present values of significant individual projects are 
stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed 
as commitments once the related liabilities are 
recognised in the balance sheet.

2020 $ 2019 $

Lease Commitments

Commitments for minimum lease 
payments in relation to non-
cancellable leases, not recognised 
as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within one year – 448,741

Later than one year but not later 
than five years

– 1,393,803

Total commitments (inclusive of GST) – 1,842,544

Less GST recoverable – (167,504)

Total commitments (exclusive of GST) – 1,675,040

Capital commitments

Commitments for developing the 
State Workforce Data Analysis and 
Collection Application are payable 
as follows:

Within one year 460,336 –

Total commitments (inclusive of GST) 460,336 –

Less GST recoverable (41,849) –

Total commitments (exclusive of GST) 418,487 –

Other commitments

Commitments for minimum 
payments in relation to non- 
cancellable expenses, not 
recognised as liabilities, are  
payable as follows:

Within one year 113,375 –

Later than one year but not later 
than five years

194,735 –

More than five years 6,194 –

Total commitments (inclusive of GST) 314,304 –

Less GST recoverable (28,010) –

Total commitments (exclusive of GST) 286,294 –
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7 |   Risks, contingencies 
and valuation judgements

Introduction
The Inspectorate is exposed to risk from its activities and 
outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make 
judgements and estimates associated with recognition 
and measurement of items in the financial statements.

This section sets out financial instrument specific 
information (including exposures to financial risks) as well 
as those items that are contingent in nature or require  
a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the 
Inspectorate relates mainly to fair value determination.

Structure
7.1  Financial instruments specific disclosures 
7.2  Categorisation of financial instruments 
7.3  Financial risk management objectives  
  and policies 
7.4   Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

7.1 |   Financial instruments specific 
disclosures

Introduction
Financial instruments arise out of contractual 
agreements between entities that give rise to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the 
Inspectorate’s activities, certain financial assets and 
financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a 
contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities  
do not meet the definition of financial instruments in 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. For 
example, statutory receivables do not meet the 
definition of financial instruments as they do not  
arise under contract. Other than the statutory 
receivables the Inspectorate does not hold financial 
assets. The Inspectorate’s statutory receivables are 
disclosed in note 5.1. 

Categories of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on 
the date they are originated. They are initially measured 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised 
cost include all of the Inspectorate’s contractual 
payables and borrowings.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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7.3 |   Financial risk management 
objectives and policies

As a whole, the Inspectorate’s financial risk 
management program seeks to manage the risks 
arising from volatility in financial instruments.

The Inspectorate’s main financial risks include credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk. The Inspectorate manages 
these financial risks in accordance with its financial risk 
management policy.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the 
Inspectorate, which comprise cash and receivables. 
The Inspectorate’s exposure to credit risk arises from the 
potential default of counterparties on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Inspectorate. 
Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored  
on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with the Inspectorate’s financial 
assets is minimal because the main debtor is the 
Victorian Government.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Inspectorate is unable  
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Inspectorate operates under the Victorian Government’s 
fair payments policy of settling financial obligations 
within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, making 
payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

The Inspectorate’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed 
insignificant based on prior period data and a current 
assessment of this risk. Maximum exposure to liquidity  
risk is the carrying amount of financial liabilities. The 
Inspectorate manages its liquidity risk by maintaining  
an adequate level of uncommitted funds that can be 
used at short notice to meet its short-term obligations.

Market risk
The Inspectorate has no material exposure to interest 
rate, foreign currency or other price risks. Interest rates 
on the Inspectorate’s finance lease liabilities are fixed.

7.4 |   Contingent assets 
and contingent liabilities 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed  
and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive 
of GST receivable or payable respectively.

Contingent assets
Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from 
past events, whose existence will be confirmed only  
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control  
of the entity.

These are classified as either quantifiable, where  
the potential economic benefit is known, or non- 
quantifiable.

There were no contingent assets based on the above 
definitions relating to the Inspectorate as at 30 June 
2020 (30 June 2019: Nil).

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are:

•  possible obligations that arise from past events, 
whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the  
control of the entity; or

•  present obligations that arise from past events  
but are not recognised because:

 –  it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligations; or

 –  the amount of the obligations cannot be 
measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either 
quantifiable or non-quantifiable.

There were no contingent liabilities based on the above 
definitions relating to the Inspectorate as at 30 June 
2020 (30 June 2019: Nil).

7.2 |  Categorisation of financial instruments

Note Category 2020 $ 2019 $

Financial liabilities

Payables 5.2 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 304,835 121,168

Borrowings 6.1 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,175,748 –

Total Financial liabilities 1,480,583 121,168
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8 |  Other disclosures
Introduction
This section includes additional material disclosures 
required by accounting standards or otherwise for  
the understanding of this financial report.

Structure
8.1  Subsequent events 
8.2  Changes in accounting policies 
8.3   Australian Accounting Standards  

issued but not yet effective
8.4  Responsible persons
8.5  Remuneration of executives
8.6  Related parties
8.7  Remuneration of auditors
8.8  Restructuring of administrative arrangements

8.1 |  Subsequent events
There were no subsequent events that had the potential 
to significantly affect the ongoing structure and 
financial activities of the Inspectorate.

8.2 |  Changes in accounting policies
8.2.1   Lease
This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 
16 Leases on the Inspectorate’s financial statements.

The Inspectorate has applied AASB 16 with a date  
of initial application of 1 July 2019.

The Inspectorate has elected to apply AASB 16 using 
the modified retrospective approach, as per the 
transitional provisions of AASB 16 for all leases for which 
it is a lessee. The cumulative effect of initial application 
is recognised in retained earnings as at 1 July 2019. 
Accordingly, the comparative information presented  
is not restated and is reported under AASB 117 and 
related interpretations.

Previously, the Inspectorate determined at contract 
inception whether an arrangement is or contains a 
lease under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 Determining 
whether an arrangement contains a Lease. Under AASB 
16, Inspectorate assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease based on the definition of a lease as 
explained in note 6.1.

On transition to AASB 16, the Inspectorate has elected 
to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the 
assessment of which transactions are leases. It applied 
AASB 16 only to contracts that were previously identified 
as leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases 
under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 were not 
reassessed for whether there is a lease. Therefore, the 
definition of a lease under AASB 16 was applied to 
contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 July 2019.

As a lessee, the Inspectorate previously classified leases 
as operating, or finance leases based on its assessment 
of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Inspectorate. Under AASB 16, 
Inspectorate recognises right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for all leases except where exemption is 
availed in respect of short-term and low-value leases.

On adoption of AASB 16, the Inspectorate recognised 
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously 
been classified as operating leases under the principles 
of AASB 117. These liabilities were measured at the 
present value of the remaining lease payments, 
discounted using the Inspectorate’s incremental 
borrowing rate as of 1 July 2019. On transition, right-of-
use assets are measured at the amount equal to the 
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid  
or accrued lease payments relating to that lease 
recognised in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2019.

The Inspectorate has elected to apply the following 
practical expedients when applying AASB 16 to leases 
previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117:

•  Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases 
with similar characteristics;

•  Adjusted the right-of-use assets by the amount of 
AASB 137 onerous contracts provision immediately 
before the date of initial application, as an 
alternative to an impairment review;

•  Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use 
assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 
months of lease term;

•  Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the 
right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; 
and

•  Used hindsight when determining the lease term if 
the contract contains options to extend or terminate 
the lease.

For leases that were classified as finance leases under 
AASB 117, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset 
and lease liability at 1 July 2019 are determined as the 
carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability 
under AASB 117 immediately before that date.

Impacts on financial statements
On transition to AASB 16, the Inspectorate recognised 
$1.551 million of right-of-use assets and $1.551 million 
of lease liabilities.

Transition impact on financial statements
This note explains the impact of the adopting AASB16 
Lease accounting standards for the first time, from  
1 July 2019:

The impact on the comprehensive operating statement 
and balance sheet has been summarised in the 
following tables.

•  Impact on balance sheet due to the adoption of 
AASB 16 is illustrated with the following reconciliation 
between the restated carrying amounts at 30 June 
2019 and the balances reported under the new 
accounting standards at 1 July 2019:
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Balance sheet

Notes Before new 
accounting 

standards  
 
 
$

Impact of new 
accounting 

standards  
 
 
$

After new 
accounting 

standards 
opening July 

2019  
$

Total financial assets – – –

Total non-financial assets 4.1(a) 784,982 1,551,541 2,336,523

Total assets 784,982 1,551,541 2,336,523

Payables and contract liabilities 

Borrowings 6.1 – 1,551,541 1,551,541

Other liabilities

Total Liabilities – 1,551,541 1,551,541

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) – – –

Physical revaluation surplus – – –

Other items in equity – – –

Total equity – – –

8.3 |   Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASs) issued  
but not yet effective

Certain new and revised accounting standards have 
been issued but are not effective for the 2019-20 
reporting period. These accounting standards have  
not been applied to these Financial Statements.  
The Inspectorate is reviewing its existing policies  
and assessing the potential implications of these 
accounting standards which includes:

•  AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Definition of Material.

This Standard principally amends AASB 101 Presentation 
of Financial Statements and AASB 108 Accounting 
policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.  
It applies to reporting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2020 with earlier application permitted. 
Inspectorate has not earlier adopted the Standard.

The amendments refine and clarify the definition of 
material in AASB 101 and its application by improving 
the wording and aligning the definition across AASB 
Standards and other publications. The amendments 
also include some supporting requirements in AASB 101 
in the definition to give it more prominence and clarify 
the explanation accompanying the definition of 
material.

The Inspectorate is in the process of analysing the 
impacts of this Standard. However, it is not anticipated 
to have a material impact.

•  AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current  
or Non-Current.

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements 
for the presentation of liabilities in the statement of 
financial position as current or non-current. It initially 
applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted 
however the AASB has recently issued ED 301 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current – 
Deferral of Effective Date with the intention to defer  
the application by one year to periods beginning on  
or after 1 January 2023. Inspectorate will not early 
adopt the Standard.

The Inspectorate is in the process of analysing the 
impacts of this Standard. However, it is not anticipated 
to have a material impact.

Several other amending standards and AASB 
interpretations have been issued that apply to future 
reporting periods but are considered to have limited 
impact on Inspectorate’s reporting.

• AASB 17 Insurance Contracts.
•  AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements 

– Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit 
Tier 2 Entities (Appendix C).

•  AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Definition of a Business.

•  AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – References to the Conceptual 
Framework.

•  AASB 2019-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform.

•  AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure of the Effect of New IFRS 
Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia.

•  AASB 2020-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Removal of Special Purpose Financial 
Statements for Certain For-Profit Private Sector 
Entities.



A N N UA L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9 – 2 0110 V I C TO R I A N  I N S P E C TO R AT E

8.4 |  Responsible persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued  
by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial 
Management Act 1994, the following disclosures  
are made regarding responsible persons for the 
reporting period.

Names
The persons who held the positions of Minister and 
Accountable Officer in the Inspectorate during the 
financial year were as follows:

Position Special Minister of State

Name The Hon Gavin Jennings MLC

Term 1 July 2019 to 23 March 2020

Position Attorney General

Name The Hon Jill Hennessy

Term 23 March 2020 to 30 June 2020

Position Accountable Officer

Name Eamonn Moran PSM QC

Term 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Remuneration
Remuneration received or receivable by the 
Accountable Officer, in connection with the 
management of the Inspectorate during the reporting 
period was in the range of $460,000 – $469,999.  
In 2018-19 the range was $470,000 – $479,999.

Amounts relating to the Ministers are reported in the 
financial statements of the Department of Parliamentary 
Services.

8.5 |  Remuneration of executives
The number of executive officers, other than Ministers 
and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration 
during the reporting period are shown in the table 
below. Total annualised employee equivalents provide 
a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over 
the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee expenses in all 
forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the 
entity or on behalf of the entity, in exchange for services 
rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories:
•  short-term employee expenses include amounts 

such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave 
that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, 
as well as non-monetary benefits such as 
allowances and free or subsidised goods or services;

•  post-employment benefits include employer 
contributions for members of both defined benefit 
and defined contribution superannuation plans;

•  other long-term benefits include long service leave, 
other long-service benefit or deferred 
compensation; and

•  termination benefits include termination of 
employment payments, such as severance 
packages.

Remuneration of executive officers

2020 $ 2019 $

Short-term employee benefits 312,160 172,753

Post-employment benefits 21,003 13,777

Other long-term benefits 9,599 5,257

Total remuneration 342,761 191,787

Total number of executives 1 1

Total annualised employee 
equivalents (a)

1.0 0.6

Notes:
(a) Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working 
hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for the 
reporting period.

8.6 |  Related parties
The Inspectorate is a wholly owned and controlled entity 
of the State of Victoria. Related parties of the 
Inspectorate include:
•  all key management personnel and their close 

family members;
•  all cabinet ministers and their close family members; 

and
•  all departments and public sector entities that are 

controlled and consolidated into the whole of State 
consolidated financial statements.

Significant transactions with government-
related entities
The Inspectorate received grants from the Department 
of Premier and Cabinet of $3.6 million (2019: $3.6 
million), and the Department of Justice and Community 
Services of $1.0 million (2019: Nil).

The Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the Victorian 
Inspectorate include the Special Minister for State the 
Hon Gavin Jennings MLC, the Attorney General the Hon 
Jill Hennessy MP and the Accountable Officer Eamonn 
Moran PSM QC.

The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries 
and benefits that the Portfolio Minister receives. The 
Ministers’ remuneration and allowances are set by the 
Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 
and reported in the financial report of the Department 
of Parliamentary Services.
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Compensation of KMPs 2020 $ 2019 $

Short-term employee benefits 453,330 468,807

Other long-term benefits 10,808 9,640

Total 464,138 478,447

Transactions with KMPs and other related 
parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government 
activities, related parties transact with the Victorian 
public sector in a manner consistent with other 
members of the public. Further employment of 
processes within the Victorian public sector occur  
on terms and conditions consistent with the Public 
Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct  
and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector 
Commission. Procurement processes occur on terms 
and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government 
Procurement Board requirements.

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the 
Inspectorate, there were no related party transactions 
that involved KMPs and their close family members.  
No provision has been required, nor any expense 
recognised, for impairment of receivables from  
related parties.

8.7 |  Remuneration of auditors

2020 $ 2019 $

Audit fees paid or payable to the 
Victorian Auditor-General's Office

Audit of the Annual Financial 
Statements

16,700 16,200

Total 16,700 16,200

No other direct services to the Inspectorate were 
provided by the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office.

8.8 |   Restructuring of administrative 
arrangements

Due to Machinery of Government (MoG) changes,  
the portfolio department for the Inspectorate was 
transferred from the Department of Premier of Cabinet 
(DPC), to the Department of Justice and Community 
Safety (DJCS) effective 1 May 2020. From 1 July 2020, 
the Inspectorate will become budget independent and 
funded directly through parliamentary appropriations.
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Appendix 1 – Disclosure Index  
The annual report of the VI is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations and 
pronouncements. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the VI’s compliance  
with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page reference 

Ministerial Directions & Financial Reporting Directions

REPORT OF OPERATIONS

Charter and purpose

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 8

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 12

FRD 8D Departmental objectives, indicators and outputs N/A

FRD 22H Key initiatives and projects 24-74

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 14-23

Management and structure

FRD 22H Organisational structure 12

Financial and other information

FRD 8D Performance against output performance measures N/A

FRD 8D Budget portfolio outcomes N/A

FRD 10A Disclosure index 115-116

FRD 12B Disclosure of major contracts 87

FRD 15E Executive officer disclosures 83

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 78

FRD 22H Occupational health and safety policy 78

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 75

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 75

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance 75

FRD 22H Subsequent events N/A

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 87

FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 87

FRD 22H Statement on Competitive Neutrality Policy N/A

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Public Interest Disclosure 2012 47

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 87

FRD 22H Compliance with the Disability Act 2006 88

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 86

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 86

FRD 22H Disclosure of government advertising expenditure 86

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 86

FRD 22H Statement of availability of other information 88
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Legislation Requirement Page reference 

FRD 24D Reporting of office based environmental impacts 88

FRD 25D Local Jobs First N/A

FRD 29C Workforce Data disclosures 82-83

SD 5.2 Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2 8-75

Compliance attestation and declaration

SD 5.4.1 Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction 89

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 2

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Declaration

SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 112

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements

97

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Standing Directions 112

SD 5.2.1(b) Compliance with Model Financial Report 91-114

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements*

FRD 9B Departmental Disclosure of Administered Assets and Liabilities by Activity 102

FRD 11A Disclosure of Ex gratia Expenses N/A

FRD 13 Disclosure of Parliamentary Appropriations 97

FRD 21C Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel  
(Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities) in the Financial Report

110-111

FRD 103H Non Financial Physical Assets 100-101

FRD 110A Cash Flow Statements 95

FRD 112D Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations 98

FRD 114C Financial instruments – general government entities and public non-financial corporations 103

*  Note: References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs do not contain requirements 
that are of the nature of disclosure

LEGISLATION

Disability Services Act 2006

Freedom of Information Act 1982

Building Act 1993

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012

Major Crime (Investigative Powers) Act 2004

Carers Recognition Act 2012

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

Financial Management Act 1994

Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011
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Glossary

AAS Australian Accounting Standards 

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

AFP Australian Federal Police

Audit Act Audit Act 1994

Audit Amendment Act Audit Amendment Act 2019 

BAU Business As Usual

CCP Chief Commissioner of Police 

CCO Act Crimes (Controlled Operations Act) 2004

CELU Victoria Police Chief Examiner’s Legal Unit

DELWP Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

DPC Department of Premier and Cabinet

DPP Director of Public Prosecutions 

DTF Department of Treasury and Finance 

EAP Employee Assistance Program

Emergency Measures Act COVID-19 Omnibus (Emergency Measures) Act 2020

FOI Act Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic)

Fisheries Act Fisheries Act 1995

FM Act Financial Management Act 1994

FTE Full time equivalent 

GMA Game Management Authority

GST Goods and Services Tax 

IALA Integrity and Accountability Legislation Amendment  
(Public Interest Disclosures, Oversight and Independence) Act 2019

IBAC Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission

IBAC Act Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011

IOC Integrity and Oversight Committee

ICT Information and Communication Technology

Judicial Commission Judicial Commission of Victoria 

JCV Act Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016

KMP Key Management Personnel of the Victorian Inspectorate 

MCIP Act Major Crime (Investigative Powers) Act 2004

OCE Office of Chief Examiner

OH&S Occupational Health and Safety

Ombudsman Act Ombudsman Act 1973

OVIC Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner

PA Act Public Administration Act 2004

PAEC Public Accounts and Estimates Committee of the Parliament

PD Act Protected Disclosure Act 2012
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PDP Act Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014

PID Act Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012

PIDCG Public Interest Disclosure Consultative Group 

PIM Public Interest Monitor

PIM Act Public Interest Monitor Act 2011

RoU Right of Use 

SD Act Surveillance Devices Act 1999

SDP Single Digital Presence 

SOP Standard Operating Procedures 

TCP Act Terrorism (Community Protection) Act 2003

TIA Act Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 1979 (Commonwealth) 

TISP Act Telecommunications (Interception) (State Provisions) Act 1988

VAGO Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

VCAT Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal

VFA Victorian Fisheries Authority 

VI Victorian Inspectorate

VI Act Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011

VO Victorian Ombudsman

VPS Victorian Public Sector

VPSC Victorian Public Sector Commission 

VWA Victorian WorkCover Authority

Wildlife Act Wildlife Act 1975

WIV Wage Inspectorate Victoria

WP Act Witness Protection Act 1991
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